

منظمة الأغذية والزراعة للأمم المتحدة



Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Organisation des Nations Unies pour l'alimentation et l'agriculture Продовольственная и сельскохозяйственная организация Объединенных Наций Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Agricultura y la Alimentación

FAO International Technical Conference

Agricultural biotechnologies in developing countries: Options and opportunities in crops, forestry, livestock, fisheries and agro-industry to face the challenges of food insecurity and climate change (ABDC-10)

Guadalajara, Mexico, 1 – 4 March 2010

Current status and options for crop biotechnologies in developing countries

Acknowledgments

This background document is the result of the joint effort of many contributors. Its preparation was coordinated by Andrea Sonnino, Senior Agricultural Research Officer in FAO's Research and Extension Division, in collaboration with John Ruane and Preet Lidder from the ABDC-10 Secretariat. Lead consultant for the document was Denis Murphy from the University of Glamorgan, United Kingdom. Comments from the following members of the ABDC-10 Steering Committee are gratefully acknowledged: Denise Dewar (CropLife International, Washington, United States); Dominic Glover (Wageningen University, the Netherlands); Kathleen Jones (Food and Drug Administration, College Park, MD, United States); Pat Mooney (ETC Group, Ottawa, Canada); Olivier Sanvido (Agroscope Reckenholz Tänikon Research Station, Zürich, Switzerland); and Roberto Tuberosa (University of Bologna, Italy).

We are also grateful for the contributions to the document from several FAO colleagues, including Karin Nichterlein and John Preissing (Research and Extension Division); Kakoli Ghosh, Elcio Guimarães, Philippe Le Coente, Annie Monard, Tom Osborn and Shivaji Pandey (Plant Production and Protection Division); and Erik Busch-Petersen, Qu Liang, Chikelu Mba and Minh-Long Nguyen (Joint FAO/IAEA Division).

Table of Contents

Acronyms and Abbreviations

A. Introduction

B. Stocktaking: lessons from the past

- 1. Definition of biotechnologies to be discussed in this document
- 2. Biotechnologies applied to crops & their current status in developing countries
 - (i) Creation of new genetic variation
 - (ii) Screening & selection
 - (iii) Production & management systems
- 3. Analysis of experiences with biotechnologies in developing countries over the past 20 years
 - (i) Focus on smallholders
 - (ii) Investments in biotechnological R&D
 - (iii) Biotechnology capacities
 - (iv) IPR & other regulatory issues
 - (v) Link between biotechnology R&D and plant breeding programmes
 - (vi) Farmer involvement in research & breeding
 - (vii) Technology uptake
- 4. Case studies of experiences with crop biotechnologies
 - (i) Wide crossing to improve African rice NERICA
 - (ii) Wide crossing to improve Asian rice
 - (iii) Soil bio-inoculants in Kenya
 - (iv) Mutation-bred crop varieties
 - (v) Bt cotton in India
 - (vi) Micropropagation of oil palm
 - (vii) Biopesticides for control of migratory locusts
 - (viii) Hybrid sorghum in Africa
- 5. Conclusions: lessons learned

C. Looking forward: preparing for the future

- 6. Key unsolved problems where biotechnologies can help
 - (i) Biotic stresses
 - (ii) Abiotic stresses
 - (iii) Yield
 - (iv) Nutritional quality
 - (v) Narrow genetic basis of crop production
 - (vi) Sustainable & environmental-friendly crop production
 - (vii) Conclusions
- 7. Identifying options for developing countries
- 8. Identifying priorities for action for the international community

D. References

Acronyms and Abbreviations

Bt = Bacillus thuringiensis

CGIAR = Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research

CIMMYT = International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center

FAO = Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

FPR = Farmer participatory research

GM = Genetically modified

IAEA = International Atomic Energy Agency

ICARDA = International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas

ICRISAT = International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics

IPM = Integrated pest management

IPR = Intellectual property rights

IRRI = International Rice Research Institute

MAS = Marker-assisted selection

NERICA = New Rice for Africa

NGO = Non-governmental organization

NSP = North-South partnership

PCR = Polymerase chain reaction

PPB = Participatory plant breeding

PPP = Public-private partnership

QTL = Quantitative trait locus

TILLING = Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes

A. Introduction

Despite great advances in agricultural productivity and economic well-being in much of the world over the past 50 years, food insecurity and poverty continue to be serious issues in many regions (FAO, 2008a; 2009a). Moreover, in 2008, the world entered a period of deepening uncertainty and economic downturn that impacted significantly on the future security of food production and distribution systems (Nellemann *et al.*, 2009). The current economic downturn plus the effects of climate change both reinforce the need to extend the effectiveness of crop improvement and management programs. The key role of crop improvement in increasing food production and in minimizing agricultural land use in developing countries is shown by estimates that, in the 1990s alone, yield gains saved about 80 Mha (million hectares) of land (Nelson and Maredia, 2007). However, if current food production per capita is to be maintained in the face of population growth and climatic uncertainty, 120 Mha (or 12 percent) of additional land might be needed by 2050, mainly in sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America (FAO, 2009b).

Clearly, in developing countries there is a need for a continuing focus on the optimization of agricultural output, together with preservation of the natural resources base through improved crops and management systems. The various biotechnologies available will play a part in this process, but there are difficult choices to be made concerning which methods to use for a particular crop or trait in a particular country or region. So, what are the best options for using biotechnological approaches to address global food security? There is no simple one-size-fits-all answer to this question. In many developing countries, staple crops have only recently started to benefit from scientific plant breeding methods practised in industrialized countries for almost a century. In other cases, some developing country crops are already being improved using newer technologies such as marker-assisted selection (MAS) and genetic modification. Thus, there is no straightforward recipe for the use of a particular group of breeding or management methods for a particular crop or within a particular region. Moreover, the rapid pace of scientific progress is making some hitherto relatively complex and expensive technologies both cheaper and easier to access, even for some of the relatively resource-limited breeding and management programmes involving subsistence crops.

Several removable constraints still impede the uptake of modern crop breeding and management by developing countries. These include the privatization of agricultural R&D in developed countries, which restricts access to proprietary technologies, limiting the possibility of capturing research spillovers (IAASTD, 2009). While constraints relating to intellectual property rights (IPR) are relatively new and apply mainly to advanced biotechnologies, financial, institutional, socio-economical and political barriers have been a concern for many decades. They include basic measures, such as seed supply, bank loans, transport links and market regulations, and their combined effects can negate even the most impressive technology gains (King and Byerlee, 1978; Limao and Venables, 2001). For example, inadequate market infrastructure has limited fertilizer adoption by African smallholders, leading to persistently poor crop yields, low profitability, and chronic food insecurity (Nkonya *et al.*, 2005).

The purpose of this document is to examine options from crop biotechnologies to address food insecurity in developing countries, particularly in the context of deepening economic and environmental uncertainty. Its primary focus is on sector-specific issues relating to biotechnology and their impact on crop breeding, management and genetic resources, but it will also consider relevant cross-sectoral aspects such as socio-economic, regulatory, and public-good concerns.

The document is divided into two main parts – "Stocktaking: lessons from the past" and "Looking forward: preparing for the future". Under the "Stocktaking" section, Chapter 1 provides a brief definition of biotechnologies; Chapter 2 documents the current status of application of biotechnologies, both traditional and new, in developing countries; Chapter 3 provides an analysis of the reasons for successes/failures of application of biotechnologies in developing countries; and Chapter 4 presents some relevant case studies. The conclusions of the stocktaking exercise and a summary of lessons learned are presented in Chapter 5. The "Looking forward" section comprises three chapters. Chapter 6 deals with key, unsolved problems in the sector where the use of

biotechnologies could be useful. Section 7 identifies a number of specific options for developing countries to help them make informed decisions regarding adoption of biotechnologies. Section 8 proposes a set of Priorities for Action for the international community (FAO, UN organizations, NGOs, donors and development agencies).

B. Stocktaking: lessons from the past

1. Definition of biotechnologies to be discussed in this document

One of the challenges in discussing biotechnology is the lack of a consistent definition of the term itself. In this document, the following definition from the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) is used: "any technological application that uses biological systems, living organisms, or derivatives there of to make or modify products or processes for specific use".

A distinction is sometimes made between "traditional" and "modern" biotechnologies, and while this may be valid in areas such as fermentation, it is less useful in the field of crop improvement and management. Scientific plant breeding has developed incrementally over the past century by harnessing advances in plant biology, supplemented at times by traditional empirical knowledge (lore), and informed by the principles of Mendelian, and later molecular, genetics. The impact of such biological approaches has been greatly extended by the deployment of a series of increasingly sophisticated biotechnologies, ranging from induced mutagenesis and tissue culture to robotized and fully automated trait selection based on molecular analyses. As described below, some older biotechnologies, such as induced mutagenesis or wide crosses, originally dating from the 1920s, have now been updated to new and more powerful forms. In the 21st century, biotechnologies are so pervasive in crop improvement programmes worldwide that it is no longer useful to delimit categories like "conventional" and "modern" when discussing crop breeding or management (OECD, 2009). Though a sharp category distinction between non-transgenic and transgenic approaches might be somewhat contrived in breeding terms, and may not be recognized by all crop scientists, such a distinction is nevertheless quite real in terms of legislation and the perception of many policymakers and consumers.

2. Biotechnologies applied to crops & their current status in developing countries

Plant biotechnology is a rapidly evolving area encompassing basic and strategic research and its application in agriculture. While new methods and approaches are constantly being developed, an equally important feature is the improvement of existing biotechnologies that makes them cheaper and easier to use. This is especially relevant to developing countries where hitherto expensive and complex techniques, such as MAS or transgenesis, are becoming increasingly accessible. In this document, the technologies are divided into three groups that reflect the three stages of crop development, namely: (i) creation of new genetic variation; (ii) screening and selection of favourable variants; and (iii) production/management systems for crops or their derivatives. The latter category includes plant propagation, nutrition, protection, and genetic resource management/conservation.

For the past 10 000 years, crop productivity has been improved via the processes of breeding involves the selection by humans of certain genetic variants of a few chosen plant species according to their suitability for exploitation, whether as edible or non-edible resources. The two key prerequisites to both breeding and evolution are variation and selection. Novel genetic variations in wild populations arise from a relatively slow process of naturally-occurring mutation, plus the mixing of genomes that occurs with sexual reproduction. In contrast, science-based breeding, as practiced over the past century, is based on the creation of genetic variation via processes such as induced mutagenesis, hybridization, controlled introgression of traits from diverse populations of the same or different species, and transgenesis. This is followed by the highly regulated reproduction or propagation of selected variants designed to minimize variation in favoured progeny and hence create a relatively uniform population that is then managed (i.e. cultivated, harvested and processed) for human exploitation.

While so-called "traditional" methods of variation enhancement, e.g. the use of crop landraces, still have great and often untapped potential, the use of newer biotechnologies to create even wider genetic diversity has given breeders unprecedented opportunities for additional crop improvement. This greatly increased potential to create additional genetic variation has been matched in recent years by a revolution in the screening, identification and selection of potentially useful variants, using methods such as biochemical and genomic screening, plus molecular MAS.

Thanks to continued advances in basic plant research and in genomic and related technologies, there is great scope for further progress in plant breeding, especially in developing countries, during the coming years (Jauhar, 2007; Moose and Mumm, 2008). The major impacts of biotechnologies relate both to breeding new crop varieties and to areas of crop cultivation and management such as the production of propagation materials especially in vegetatively propagated crops (Sonnino *et al.*, 2009); aspects of plant nutrition such as the production and use of biofertilizers (Odame, 2002; Dhlamini *et al.*, 2005); the use of symbiotic nitrogen-fixing bacteria and mycorrhizal fungi (Kohler *et al.*, 2008; Sonnino *et al.*, 2009; Yang, Kloepper and Ryu, 2009); aspects of plant protection, including diagnostics and biopesticides (Carpenter *et al.*, 2002; Dhlamini *et al.*, 2005; Pender, 2007); and, finally, the conservation and management of crop genetic resources, both *in situ* and *ex situ* (Ruane & Sonnino, 2006).

Here follows a survey of crop biotechnologies, many of which were initially developed in industrialized countries but are now being adapted and increasingly used in developing countries, where they are used mainly for commercial crops – though in a few cases they are also being applied to some subsistence crops.

(i) Creation of new genetic variation

The ability of plant breeders to create new genetic variation was enormously increased in the midtwentieth century by the invention of tissue culture and use of growth regulators (Thomas, Murphy and Murray, 2003). The creation of new genetic variation includes wide crossing with the assistance of methods such as embryo rescue, asymmetric cell fusion, nuclear implanting and somatic embryogenesis. Attempts at wide crossing between distantly related species are frequently frustrated by the incompatibility of their genomes.

Chromosome doubling: This is one of the most important technologies for the creation of fertile interspecific hybrids. Wide-hybrid plants are often sterile so their seeds cannot be propagated. This is due to differences between chromosome sets inherited from genetically divergent parental species, which prevent stable chromosome pairing during meiosis. However, if the chromosome number is artificially doubled, the hybrid may be able to produce functional pollen and eggs and therefore be fertile. Colchicine has been used for chromosome doubling in plants since the 1940s and has been applied to more than 50 plant species, including the most important annual crops. It has also been used to create seedless fruits and to produce wide crosses and somatic hybrids. More recently, other chromosome doubling agents, all of which act as inhibitors of mitotic cell division, have been used successfully in plant breeding programmes. In some plant species, tissue culture techniques have been used to induce chromosome doubling (Sonnino, Iwanaga and Henestroza, 1988; Cardi, Carputo and Frusciante, 1992). As well as making much wider genetic crosses possible, chromosome doubling has also enabled the use of powerful methods such as somatic hybridization and haploid breeding, which have been especially useful in developing countries. To date, thanks to chromosome doubling technology, dozens of important crops have been improved and hundreds of new varieties produced around the world.

Tissue culture-based technologies

Tissue culture has been widely used for over 50 years and is now employed to improve many of the most important developing country crops, including major staples such as rice and potato, as well as endangered native species (AboEl-Nil, 1996). Here follows a brief survey of tissue culture based technologies.

Somatic hybridization: Somatic hybridization is another way of enhancing variation in crop species by importing genes, or even whole chromosomes, from other species that are not closely enough related for normal sexual crossing (Arcioni and Pupilli, 2004). Although similar in its aims to conventional hybridization, somatic hybridization involves a more radical technological approach. The development of sophisticated microinjection and cell fusion techniques in the 1960s and 1970s allowed researchers to fuse whole cells or parts of cells to create composite cells from unrelated species. The resultant hybrid cells can either be colchicine treated to induce chromosome doubling, or they spontaneously double the chromosome number during the *in vitro*

regeneration process, hence stabilizing the new genome. Finally, the hybrid cells are induced to divide and differentiate into new hybrid plants. Somatic hybridization was introduced into crop breeding programmes in the early 1980s and has been attempted with several developing country crops (Murphy, 2007a).

The main technical hurdle at present is the instability of the new genome combinations from two dissimilar species. To a great extent, somatic hybridization has been replaced over the past decade by transgenesis, which has greater precision, fewer problems with genome instability and a higher overall success rate. However, transgenesis is only of use when there is a known useful gene (or genes) to be transferred. Many useful traits are controlled by as yet unknown sets of genes and can only be transferred into a crop by adding an entire donor genome, or at least a substantial portion thereof. In recent years, breeders have started to return in greater numbers to explore the potential of somatic hybridization, especially in some fruit crops. The reasons for this are threefold. First, transgenesis is not always a quick and easy option for variation enhancement in crops. Second, tissue culture and molecular marker techniques have improved considerably over the past decade, which has increased the rate of success in the regeneration of genetically stable progeny from such hybridizations. Third, unlike transgenesis, somatic hybridization is not regarded by regulatory authorities as genetic modification. Therefore, varieties produced by this technology are not subject to the same regulatory approval and testing requirements as transgenic varieties, which has created new commercial opportunities for breeders. Although somatic hybridization has not yet been used to a great extent for public-good purposes in developing country crops, this often-overlooked technology has considerable potential and should be kept in mind for the future.

Haploids and doubled haploids: Haploid plants can be produced using anther culture which involves the *in vitro* culture of immature anthers (i.e. the pollen-producing structures of the plant). As the pollen grains are haploid, the resulting pollen-derived plants are also haploid (Sonnino et al., 2009). Doubled haploid plants were first produced in the 1960s using colchicine and today several treatments can be used, including thermal shock or mannitol incubation (Kasha et al., 2001). Doubled haploids may also be produced from ovule culture. Breeders value doubled haploid plants because they are 100 percent homozygous and any recessive genes are therefore readily apparent. The time required after a conventional hybridization to select pure lines carrying the required recombination of characters is consequently drastically reduced (Smith et al., 2008). The application of this technique to plant breeding is hindered by the investments, both in facilities and in human resources, necessary to produce and to test large populations of doubled haploids. The need to test large numbers of lines can add significantly to the skilled labour requirement and hence lead to increased costs. In the developing world, a major centre of such breeding work is China, where numerous haploid crops have been released and many more are being developed (Singh, 1995). By 2003, China was cultivating over 2 Mha of doubled haploid varieties, the most important of which were rice, wheat, tobacco and peppers (Maluszynski et al., 2003). Improved varieties of durum and bread wheat have also been obtained by applying anther culture techniques in Tunisia and Morocco, respectively (Dhlamini et al., 2005).

Sterile plant varieties: Manipulations by plant breeders frequently result in sterile varieties that cannot readily be propagated. Sometimes this is a useful trait and is deliberately engineered by breeders, e.g. in watermelon and citrus crops where consumers demand seedless fruits. Seed sterility is analogous to F_1 or F_2 hybrids or other non-propagable plant types in its utility to commercial seed companies because the farmer cannot use saved seed and therefore needs to repurchase it each year for replanting. One of the most rapid and cost-effective approaches for inducing sterility in a plant is to create polyploids, especially triploids. In most cases, triploid plants will grow and develop normally except for their inability to set seed and therefore cannot be reproduced or propagated, except by the company that owns the parent lines through the use of embryo culture. Alternatively, triploid plants can be regenerated from endosperm tissue, which is naturally triploid. This method has been used to create triploid varieties of numerous fruit crops including most of the citrus fruits, acacias, kiwifruit (*Actinidia chinensis*), loquat (*Eriobotrya japonica*), passionflower (*Passiflora incarnata*) and pawpaw (*Asimina triloba*) (Lee, 1988).

Mutagenesis

This involves the use of mutagenic agents, such as chemicals or radiation, to modify DNA and hence create novel phenotypes (Donini and Sonnino, 1998). It includes somatic mutagenesis whereby tissue or cell cultures may undergo useful epigenetic modifications, provided that the resultant traits are stable in future generations. Induced mutagenesis has been practised with great success in crop breeding programmes in developing countries since the 1930s (Ahloowalia, Maluszynski and Nichterlein, 2004), but its scope and utility have recently been greatly enhanced and extended by the new molecular-based technology of Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes (TILLING, see below). An apparent limitation of mutagenesis versus wide crossing or transgenesis methods is that breeders can manipulate only genes already present in the genome. No new genes can be added by this method. Furthermore, nearly all mutations result in a loss of gene function, meaning that mutagenesis is concerned more with reducing the effects of unwanted genes than increasing the expression of desirable genes. At first sight, this might seem like a serious limitation to the creation of useful new agronomic traits. However, recent genomic studies reveal the surprising fact that during the 10 000-year history of agriculture, loss-of-function alleles were associated with nine out of 19 key episodes in crop improvement and/or varietal divergence (Doebley, Gaut and Smith, 2006; Burger, Chapman and Burke, 2008). Therefore, the past or future potency of mutagenesis for crop improvement cannot be underestimated.

Somaclonal mutagenesis is caused by changes in DNA induced during *in vitro* culture (Durrant, 1962). Somaclonal variation is normally regarded as an undesirable by-product of the stresses imposed on a plant by subjecting it to tissue culture. These stresses include abiotic factors, such as cold, water deficiency, or high salt concentrations; excess or dearth of nutrients; the effects of chemical growth regulators; and infections by pathogens. The stresses of tissue culture can result in single-gene mutations; the deletion or transposition of larger lengths of DNA, including chromosome segments; methylation or de-methylation of genes; and even the duplication or loss of entire chromosomes. Provided they are carefully controlled, somaclonal changes in cultured plant cells can potentially provide a powerful new tool to generate variation for crop breeders (Sala and Labra, 2003). Somaclonal mutagenesis has been used to manipulate traits such as disease resistance, insect resistance, nutritional value, drought and salt tolerance in crops ranging from sugar cane to banana. A somaclonal sugar cane variant for improved yield is reported to be commercially distributed in India (FAO-BioDeC, www.fao.org/biotech/inventory admin/dep/default.asp).

Mutagenesis is one of the few biotechnologies currently that is used much more in developing countries than elsewhere. Both radiation and chemical mutagenesis have been used for crop improvement since the 1930s. During the 1950s, FAO began working with the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) to make irradiation technology more widely available to developing countries, in a collaboration that is now known as the Atoms for Food global partnership (FAO and IAEA, 2008). More than 2 200 mutation-derived varieties have been obtained world-wide in the last sixty years, generating benefits worth billions of dollars, mainly in developing countries (Ahloowalia, Maluszynski and Nichterlein, 2004).

TILLING can be viewed as an updated high-tech version of mutation breeding (McCallum *et al.*, 2000a; 2000b). First, mutagenic agents, such as alkylating agents or radiation, are used as normal to create a population of thousands of mutagenized plants. Next, the second (or M2) generation of these mutants is screened using a semiautomated high-throughput DNA-based method to detect mutations in genes of interest. Screening involves the use of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) to amplify gene fragments of interest, plus rapid identification of any mutation-induced lesions by looking for mismatches in duplexes with non-mutagenized DNA sequences. The third step is to evaluate the phenotypes of a limited number of selected mutant plants. TILLING is also amenable to automation including high-throughput robotic screening systems, making it especially suitable for large and complex polyploid genomes found in several major crops. As well as screening mutagenized populations, TILLING can be used to screen variation in natural populations, in what has been termed EcoTILLING (Henikoff, Till and Comai, 2004).

As with other technologies, TILLING will eventually get cheaper and more accessible, so it can be applied more readily by developing countries. However, the wider applications of this and other new biotechnologies depend critically on how and where they have been developed. For example, chemical/radiation mutagenesis was pioneered in the public sector, and was subsequently disseminated around the world. In contrast, other biotechnologies, such as maize F₁ hybrids and transgenesis, were commercialized by the private sector and, outside the arena of globally traded commodity crops, they have spread more slowly and less widely. In the case of TILLING, it will be important to maintain a balance between protecting the legitimate commercial interests and research investments of the exploiting companies, while making the technology available for non-profit, public-good applications in developing countries.

Genetic modification

This is the use of exogenous DNA or RNA sequences to create transgenic organisms that express novel and useful traits in agriculture. It may involve the insertion of copies of endogenously derived DNA or RNA sequences into the same species, e.g. as part of gene amplification or RNA interference (RNAi)-based manipulation of gene expression. Unlike other methods of variation creation, there is no limit to the source of the added DNA or RNA, which can be derived from animals, viruses, bacteria, or even from totally man-made sequences. In transgenesis, DNA for stable, inherited transformation is normally added to cells by biolistics or biological vectors (Slater, Scott and Fowler, 2008). In biolistics, DNA is attached to small particles that are propelled into plant tissues. This technique is useful because it can be applied to any plant species, but is relatively inefficient and does not always result in the incorporation of the transgenes into the plant genome (Kikkert, Vidal and Reisch, 2005). Alternatively, DNA can be added in a more controlled fashion by means of vectors, such as *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, which are able to insert DNA directly into the genome of a plant cell (Chilton, 1988). Exogenous genes can also be delivered for transient expression using viral vectors, which is faster but less versatile than stable transformation (Marillonnet *et al.*, 2005).

Despite their limitations, each of these methods of DNA transfer can sometimes be more efficient in delivering genes into crops than the non-transgenic biotechnologies, such as induced mutation or wide crosses, discussed earlier. Tissue culture methods have also been vital in enabling transgenesis. Indeed, even today, more than 25 years after the first transgenic plants were produced, the efficiency of gene transfer in many species (and especially some of the less well studied developing country crops) is still often limited more by the capacity of a plant species/genotype to be cultured and regenerated *in vitro* than by the ability to transfer exogenous genes *per se*.

In some respects, transgenesis is simply a more precise form of wide crossing. The major difference is that the transferred DNA can be derived from a multiplicity of sources. One disadvantage of transgenesis is that for complex multigenic traits, such as drought or salinity tolerance, the genes involved (of which there may be many) have yet to be conclusively identified. This means that breeders currently have relatively few candidate genes available for transfer, though the list of potential genes will continue to grow with further advances in genomics. A further limitation for transgenesis in crop breeding is the current IPR system, whereby several key underpinning technologies are owned by a few commercial companies. As discussed below, this can inhibit the wider development of transgenic crops and is a particular disincentive to their deployment in developing countries (Murphy, 2007a). Additional limitations to the wider adoption of transgenesis include complex and still-unresolved regulatory regimes for the release of transgenic crops plus uncertain public responses in developing countries and/or in potential customer countries (Stein & Rodríguez-Cerezo, 2009; Ramessar *et al.*, 2009).

In response to the problem of restricted ownership of IPR relating to first-generation transgenic crops, there are numerous local initiatives for developing countries to develop their own proprietary biotechnologies, many of which emanate from public-private partnerships (PPPs). For example, in 2009, EMBRAPA, the Brazilian agricultural research organization, applied for final regulatory approval of transgenic herbicide-tolerant soybean varieties, as an alternative to the

Roundup Ready® technology owned by Monsanto. In this PPP with the BASF corporation, EMBRAPA developed locally adapted soybean varieties planned for release to farmers in 2011. In addition to its longstanding and successful non-transgenic breeding programmes, the Malaysian Palm Oil Board has a number of partnership programmes, including PPPs, where some of the objectives include the development of transgenic oil palm varieties expressing traits such as improved oil quality and yield, and pest resistance (Murphy, 2007b; Sambanthamurthi *et al.*, 2009). In India, locally-bred transgenic eggplant (*Solanum melongena*) varieties carrying the Bt trait – i.e. containing genes derived from the soil bacterium *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) coding for proteins that are toxic to insect pests – are nearing the final stages of development (Choudhary and Gaur, 2009). The original Bt hybrid stock was donated by its developer, Maharashtra Hybrid Seeds Company, to public research institutes in India, Bangladesh, and the Philippines for use in smallholder targeted breeding programmes in a PPP/NSP (public-private partnership/North-South partnership) with Cornell University.

Transgenic crops were first grown on a fully commercial scale in the mid 1990s. The "first-generation" transgenic crops, which were grown on an estimated 125 Mha in 2008, are almost exclusively private-sector goods developed in industrialized countries (James, 2008) and tailored to satisfy the needs of their farmers. For over a decade, large-scale commercial transgenesis has been effectively restricted to four commodity crops (maize, soybean, canola/rapeseed and cotton) that collectively accounted for over 99.5 percent of transgenic crop production in 2008. These four crops expressed two transgenic trait classes i.e. herbicide tolerance (63 percent of genetically modified (GM) crops planted in 2008) or insect resistance (15 percent), while 22 percent had both traits (James, 2008). Although the very narrow range of existing transgenic crops and traits was developed by the private sector primarily for commercial use in industrialized countries, some of them have also been adopted by developing country farmers, including many smallholders (Glover, 2007, 2008). For example, the vast majority of soybean output in South America is transgenic and is grown on commercial farms while Bt cotton is grown by an estimated 12 million small and resource-poor farmers in India and China (James, 2008).

One factor that should be taken into consideration with transgenic varieties is that while their transgenic status is normally due to the presence of one or a few exogenous genes, the background genotype is still the product of non-transgenic biotechnologies. For example, the background genotype of Bt cotton grown in India was created by conventional hybridization and backcrossing; and Roundup Ready® soybeans grown in South America have improved yield and quality traits thanks to decades of mutagenesis and wide-crossing programmes. In some cases, such as soybean in Argentina or hybrid maize in South Africa, farmers will be using these varieties not just because of their transgenic traits, but equally (or possibly more) because the varieties also contain other useful agronomic features such as disease resistance or heterosis, incorporated using non-transgenic breeding methods (Burke, 2004). In other cases, such as Bt cotton in India, the transgenic trait is probably the primary reason for farmer interest in the varieties (Pender, 2007).

Both soybean and cotton are cash crops and, despite their higher prices, transgenic varieties have been widely cultivated in some developing countries. In India, the price of Bt hybrid cottonseed was initially almost triple that of non-transgenic counterparts (Qaim, 2003), but it was nevertheless popular with farmers. However, the high prices led to increased demand for transgenic seed that had been illicitly crossed with local Indian varieties and was available to farmers on the black market. Illicit Bt cotton hybrids were already being sold on the black market across significant areas of the Indian cotton belt for several seasons before the officially approved hybrids were commercialized in 2002 (Scoones, 2005). By 2005, there were reports of black market seeds capturing over 70 percent of Bt cotton sales, thanks in part to their being 15–40 percent cheaper than official varieties (Herring, 2006, 2007). Several years on, there were an estimated 200 unofficial Bt cotton varieties, but these were losing popularity due to steep falls in seed prices for official Bt seed (Herring, 2009). Similarly, in China, fully IPR-protected Bt cottonseed imported from the USA initially commanded a price premium of 333 percent in 2001. By 2006, however, non-enforcement of IPR and illicit seed marketing had eroded the price

premium to virtually nil (Tripp, Louwaars and Eaton, 2007). Finally, in Argentina, Qaim & de Janvry (2003) report that Bt cotton initially cost from upwards of four to six times more than non-transgenic varieties, resulting in an adoption rate of only 5.4 percent. Within a few years, black market seed was available at one third the official price and these IPR had become virtually unenforceable in Argentina (Qaim and Traxler, 2005).

Therefore, while these examples underscore the popularity of some first-generation transgenic crops in developing countries, they also highlight a serious problem associated with nearmonopoly ownership, anti-competitive IPR regulations and the enforced payment of licence fees (Qaim and Traxler, 2005; Murphy, 2007a). High price differentials and/or licence fees can drive farmers to black-market seed (Qaim and de Janvry, 2003; Perrin and Fulginiti, 2008), or to refuse fee payments as happened with herbicide tolerant soybean in South America (Murphy, 2007a). A possible solution is for developing countries to develop indigenous proprietary biotechnologies, which can be made available to farmers at lower cost (Cohen, 2005). Another possibility is for developing countries to invest in their infrastructure to develop extension and seed distribution systems that can provide objective, independent information to farmers regarding the "on-farm" economic benefits and drawbacks from these and other agricultural technologies originating in developed countries and, if farmers are interested, explain how they can gain legal access to such innovations.

Following over a decade of first-generation transgenesis, which has been restricted to virtually four globally traded commodity crops, the emerging second-generation of transgenic crops includes several examples aimed specifically at subsistence farmers in developing countries. In sub-Saharan Africa, despite relatively low capacity for the indigenous development of transgenesis, several such crops are currently being trialled in joint ventures such as PPPs and/or NSPs (Hartwich, Janssen and Tola, 2003; Smale, Edmeades and De Groote, 2006; Anandajayasekeram et al., 2007). For example, banana is primarily a subsistence crop in rural areas in Uganda, providing some seven million people with food and income. The highest yielding varieties are susceptible to diseases, but since they are sterile, there is limited potential for crossbreeding. In a recent NSP, the National Agricultural Research Organization of Uganda imported transgenic disease-resistant sweet banana plants from the University of Leuven, Belgium (Kikulwe, Wesseler and Falck-Zepeda, 2008). The plants are being field trialled at the Kawanda Agricultural Research Institute for resistance to bacterial wilt and black sigatoka fungal disease. While initial results are promising, the ultimate success of this and similar ventures depends critically on the response of local growers and consumers (Smale, Edmeades and De Groote, 2006). Other transgenic varieties are at even earlier stages of research and face many years of further development and complex regulatory hurdles before they can be even considered for release. For example, in South Africa the replication-associated protein gene of the severe pathogen maize streak virus (MSV) was used to transform maize plants. Transgenic plants displayed a significant delay in symptom development, a decrease in symptom severity and higher survival rates than non-transgenic plants after MSV challenge (Shepherd et al., 2007). Also, a United States based group funded partially by the Rockefeller Foundation and the Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical is developing transgenic cassava containing a bacterial ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase gene for enhanced starch production (Ihemere et al., 2006). Other examples currently in the pipeline include: maize for insect resistance and improved protein content; potatoes for viral disease and pest resistance; and rice for disease and pest resistance.

Interspecific hybridization

Wide crossing, or interspecific hybridization, involves hybridizing a crop variety with a distantly related plant from outside its normal sexually compatible gene pool. The usual purpose of wide crossing is not to produce true hybrids, i.e. progeny containing significant parts of both parental genomes, but rather to obtain a plant that is virtually identical to the original crop, except for a few genes contributed by the distant relative. In some cases, it may even be possible to use wide crossing to obtain a plant that is almost identical to an elite variety of a crop except for the presence of a single new trait or gene transferred from a different species. The strategy of obtaining useful genes from other species via wide crosses was greatly enhanced by advances in

plant tissue culture. A particular challenge was to circumvent the biological mechanisms that normally prevent interspecific and intergenus crosses. The spontaneous rejection of hybrid embryos is normally an important mechanism to ensure the reproductive isolation of populations and to avoid non-viable or debilitated hybrid progeny. Therefore, a high proportion of widehybrid seeds either do not develop to maturity, or do not contain a viable embryo. To avoid spontaneous abortion, the breeder removes embryos from the ovule at the earliest possible stage and places them into culture *in vitro* (Chi, 2003). Mortality rates can be high, but enough embryos normally survive the rigours of removal, transfer, tissue culture, and regeneration to produce adult hybrid plants for testing and further crossing.

First-generation, wide-hybrid plants are rarely suitable for cultivation because they have only received half of their genes from the crop parent. From the other (non-crop) parent they will have received not only the few desirable genes sought by the breeder, but also thousands of undesirable genes that must be removed by further manipulation. This is achieved by re-crossing the hybrid with the original crop plant, plus another round of embryo rescue, to grow up the new hybrids. This "backcrossing" process is repeated for about six generations (sometimes more) until the breeder ends up with a plant that is 99.9 percent identical to the original crop parent, except that it now contains the desirable gene from the donor parent plant. Particularly useful for gene and quantitative trait locus (QTL) discovery and breeding are the so-called introgression libraries, namely collections of backcrossed families, each carrying an introgressed segment (about 10-20 cM) from the donor parent and covering, as a collection, the entire genome (Zamir, 2001). Widecrossing programmes can take more than a decade to complete, although MAS and anther culture can also be used to speed up the process. They involve thousands of plants, a great deal of scientific expertise and skilled labour, and success is never guaranteed. Nevertheless, wide crosses have been largely successful in enabling breeders to access genetic variation beyond the normal reproductive barriers of their crops. Some case studies of successes with interspecific crops, including disease-resistant Asian rice and New Rice for Africa (NERICA) varieties are discussed in Section 4

Worryingly for the future of wide crossing, many potentially beneficial donor species or local populations of wild plants are being destroyed every year by habitat degradation, industrialization and agricultural expansion. This illustrates the need for an inventory and/or the improved conservation of wild plants that could possibly contribute useful genes, such as those influencing disease resistance, to major crops. Threats to potentially useful wild relatives of the major Asian crops are particularly serious. Gurdev Khush, former principal breeder at the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), developer of wide crosses of rice, and 1996 World Food Prize laureate, has described wild relatives as "truly priceless seeds" (Barclay, 2004). Using wide crosses, IRRI has produced new rice varieties that are resistant to the grassy stunt virus, bacterial blight, and blast and tungro diseases. Wide crossing with the wild species *Oryza officinalis* has produced four new rice varieties, each carrying resistance to the brown planthopper, which is a particularly serious pest (as well as being a viral vector) in Vietnam (Murphy, 2007a). The new rice varieties allow reduced pesticide use and also contain resistance to the grassy stunt virus.

The use of the hybrid-plant technologies listed above has been one of the cornerstones of modern crop breeding and is set to benefit further from advances in plant biotechnology. For example, new chromosome engineering techniques are being translated into a greatly improved capacity to effect wide hybridization and hence enable the recruitment of important agronomic traits from wild species into developing country crops (Gupta and Tsuchiya, 1991; Jauhar, 2003; Ceoloni *et al.*, 2005; Singh, 2007). Like TILLING, chromosome engineering can be viewed as a modern high-tech form of an earlier biotechnology. It will be important for developing countries to be in a position to participate in and capitalize on such research advances in the future. This is a good argument for much greater investments in human and physical resources. Indeed, even in a major agricultural research centre such as China, there have been recent concerns that insufficient resources are being channelled into R&D to underpin future advances in crop breeding (Chinese Academy of Sciences, 2008).

(ii) Screening & selection

In addition to creating new genetic variation, breeders need effective and efficient methods to identify, select and propagate useful variants and there has been striking recent progress in this area. Examples include the many improvements in efficiency and accuracy in screening and selecting the huge numbers of genetic variants, often numbered in the tens of thousands, created by technologies such as hybridization or mutagenesis. From tandem gas-chromatography/mass spectroscopy to automated sequencing and robotized PCR, a host of new analytical and screening technologies can enable breeders to progress from the laborious processing of a few dozen samples per day to routine, rapid, automated, round-the-clock, in-depth analyses of the detailed molecular characteristics of many thousands of plants. Genomics, and genome sequencing/annotation in particular, is a core technology group that is already underpinning crop improvement in an increasing range of species, including rice, sorghum and oil palm (Kovach and McCouch, 2008; Sakamoto and Matsuoka, 2008; Bolot *et al.*, 2009; Skamnioti and Gurr, 2009).

Marker-assisted selection (MAS)

MAS is a comparatively new screening method with the potential to revolutionize aspects of crop breeding via the use of DNA-derived molecular markers (for a detailed review of MAS in rice, see Collard et al., 2008, and Jena and Mackill, 2008; for cereals in general, see Goff and Salmeron, 2004; and for more comprehensive overviews see Guimarães et al., 2007, Varshney and Tuberosa, 2007a and 2007b, or Xu and Crouch, 2008). MAS can be employed in support in any form of crop breeding programme, including crossing of traditional land races or within participatory plant breeding (PPB) programmes with smallholders. Molecular markers are also being used as highly effective research tools to uncover the genetic basis of complex agronomic traits such as drought or salt tolerance and pest/disease resistance (Bernardo, 2008; Cai, Bai and Zhang, 2008; Collins, Tardieu and Tuberosa, 2008). In addition to their increasingly prominent role in the genetic improvement of crops, molecular markers are useful for a host of other agriculturally related applications such as the characterizing of crop genetic resources, plant gene bank management, and diagnosis of diseases (Ruane and Sonnino, 2006). Using molecular markers, breeders can screen many more plants at a very early stage and thereby save several years of laborious work in the development of a new crop variety. In the case of wheat breeding, for example, it has been estimated that MAS may result in an overall cost saving of 40 percent relative to conventional phenotypic selection, in addition to improved genetic gains (Kuchel et al., 2005).

Hitherto, the use of MAS in crop breeding was largely restricted to a few economically important temperate crops, but the list is now expanding. Public sector initiatives and PPPs have developed cheaper and easier MAS breeding systems (Koebner and Summers, 2003). MAS technologies have also benefited from more efficient screening methods including PCR, DNA/DNA hybridization, and DNA sequencing (Varshney and Tuberosa, 2007a). Today, most MAS technologies use PCR-based methods, such as sequence-tagged microsatellites and single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). Molecular marker technology is now being applied to an increasing range of crops and even to domesticating entirely new crops. As well as annual crops such as cereals and legumes (Garzón, Ligarreto and Blair, 2008), MAS has been useful in perennial crops, including subsistence and cash crops in developing countries. Examples include oil palm, coconut, coffee, tea, cocoa, and many tropical fruit trees such as bananas and mangoes. By using DNA markers in conjunction with other new breeding technologies such as clonal propagation, it should be possible to make rapid strides in the creation and cultivation of greatly improved varieties of many of these important tropical crops.

In the medium term, MAS could well evolve into what has been termed 'genomics-assisted breeding' (Varshney, Graner and Sorrells, 2005; Varshney and Tuberosa, 2007b). Here bioinformatics-supported genomic and metabolomic resources are key parts of breeding programmes. For example, the immediate wild ancestor of rice, *Oryza rufipongon*, is a genetically diverse species containing alleles that confer agronomically useful unexpected (transgressive) variation when crossed with elite cultivars of *O. sativa*. However, there is currently no way of predicting where to look for such wild alleles. The integration of whole-genome mapping and marker analyses, coupled with QTL cloning and EcoTILLING, would greatly facilitate a targeted

use of wild relatives in breeding (Kovach and McCouch, 2008). Of course, this assumes that such resources and infrastructure are available for the crop in question, which is complex enough in the case of rice despite its small and much studied genome, but may be even more challenging for more genetically complex and less well studied subsistence crops such as cassava or millet.

Despite improvements over the past decade, a major challenge in developing MAS is still the cost and technical sophistication of the initial investment. For each crop, mapping populations must be created, genomic markers assembled, and genetic maps compiled. A cost/benefit analysis from the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT) on using MAS in resource-limited public breeding programmes has concluded that each case for developing MAS technology needs to be assessed separately and depends critically on: the nature of the crop, including its genomic organization; the availability of requisite technical infrastructure and know-how; and the availability of capital for set-up costs (William *et al.*, 2007). Such calculations are especially important when developing countries are deciding whether to invest scarce resources in such technologies. Although MAS is becoming progressively cheaper, it is still often relatively expensive compared to alternative approaches for many developing country crops. Prospects for MAS in African breeding programmes have been reviewed by Stafford (2009).

MAS is beginning to produce significant results in the relatively few crop breeding programmes in which it has been deployed, and future prospects here are very good. One example is the development using MAS of "HHB 67 Improved", a pearl millet hybrid with resistance to downy mildew disease, which was approved for release in India in 2005. In 2008, F1 hybrid seed was produced to sow at least 300 000 ha with HHB 67 Improved, while the 2009 area could exceed 500 000 ha, if sowing conditions are favourable (Hash, 2009). Other examples where MAS has been used in the development of new products for farmers include new rice varieties with resistance to bacterial blight in India (Gupta, 2009) and with submergence tolerance in the Philippines (Rigor, 2009). Although most crop research centres of the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) and many national crop organizations are increasingly using MAS in crop improvement programmes, it is still at a relatively early stage in its rollout for key subsistence crops in many developing countries (Sonnino *et al.*, 2007).

(iii) Production & management systems

Many developing country crops, including cassava, potato, banana, sweetpotato and oil palm, are mainly vegetatively propagated, and tissue culture based micropropagation systems have become especially important for their improvement. Additional production/management-related biotechnologies include the use of biofertilizers and bioinsecticides, plus the use of tools such as molecular markers or cryopreservation for the management and conservation of plant genetic resources. While there are several existing examples of the use of each of these biotechnologies in various developing countries, their true potential for the improvement of food production and the reduction in chemical inputs has barely been tapped.

Micropropagation

In crops where sexual reproduction is problematic or impractical, vegetative propagation has been used for a long time. More recently, biotechnologies have been developed for mass clonal propagation of elite lines or disease-free planting material culturing *in vitro* explants such as shoot tips, tuber sections or other cuttings. The regenerated plantlets are subcultured, often on a massive scale, until thousands or millions have been produced for transfer to the field. In this way, cuttings from a single elite tree or disease-free plant can rapidly be used for large-scale cultivation. These methods are especially useful for subsistence root and tuber crops such as cassava, potato, and sweetpotato as well as fruit trees crops such as banana and oil palm, because they facilitate the production of healthy planting materials at reasonable costs (Sonnino *et al.*, 2009). In the past few decades, the technique of mass propagation has become increasingly useful in breeding programmes, especially for tree crops, most of which are too long-lived to be amenable to the approaches developed for annual crops. Mass clonal propagation can be a fast and cheap method for multiplying the best genetic stock in such perennial species.

Today, *in vitro* propagation, including micropropagation and somatic embryogenesis, is widely used in a range of developing country subsistence crops including banana, cassava, yam, potato, sweetpotato (*Ipomoea batatas*), frafra potato (*Solenostemon rotundifolius*) and cocoyam; commercial plantation crops, such as cocoa, coffee, oil palm, sugarcane and tea; niche crops such as artichoke, cardamom, garlic, ginger, and vanilla; and fruit trees such as almond, cactus, citrus, coconut, date-palm, ensete, granadilla, grape, lemon tree, mango, olive, pistachio, pineapple, and plantain (Sharma, 2001; Blakesley and Marks, 2003; Pender, 2007; Smale and Tushemereirwe, 2007; Sonnino *et al.*, 2009). Some of the many countries with significant crop micropropagation programmes include Argentina, Gabon, Kenya, Nigeria, Uganda, India, Indonesia, the Philippines and Vietnam.

Micropropagation is especially useful for vegetatively propagated root crops and it is here that the greatest successes have been demonstrated, as the following examples from China, Kenya, Vietnam and India show. Disease-free sweetpotatoes based on tissue culture have been adopted on 0.5 Mha in Shandong Province in China, with yield gains of 30–40 percent (Fuglie et al., 1999). By 1998, more than 80 percent of local farmers had adopted the technology, generating productivity increases of USD 145 million and increasing agricultural income for the seven million sweetpotato growers by 3.6 and 1.6 percent, in relatively poor and better-off districts respectively. In Kenya, by 2004, micropropagated disease-free bananas had been adopted by over 500 000 farmers (Wambugu, 2004). It had been predicted that these new varieties would offer higher financial returns in Kenya than traditional bananas (Qaim, 1999), and this was later empirically verified (Mbogoh, Wambugu and Wakhusama, 2003). In the late 1990s, the Uganda National Banana Research Programme sought to address the decline of cooking banana production in Bamunanika subcounty by introducing micropropagated, high-yielding cultivars. The new cultivars generated socio-economic benefits for the adopters. However, notwithstanding the use of a participatory farmer-to-farmer extension approach, the relatively high capital and recurrent costs of these new cultivars have prevented less endowed households from benefiting (Sonnino et al., 2009). The use of micropropagated planting materials in Hwedza District (Zimbabwe) enhanced crop yield and economic returns of sweetpotato compared with traditionally propagated planting materials (Mutandwa, 2008). In this case the innovation was adopted by 97 percent of the farmers, including both the worst-off and better-off farmers, and contributed to household food security and produced cash surplus (Sonnino et al., 2009). In Vietnam, farmers have participated in the micropropagation of new high yielding late-blight resistant potatoes, resulting in a doubling of yields from 10 to 20 T/ha. By producing their own plantlets, farmers have increased yield and incomes, and have set up rural microenterprises specializing in the commercial production of disease-free seed (Uyen et al., 1996). Finally, in India, a scheme enabled potato breeders to integrate micropropagation and virus detection into the initial stages of seed production, leading to an estimated two- to three-fold increase in seed health, and generating more than USD four million in revenues (Naik and Karihaloo, 2007).

Disease diagnostics & bioprotection

Biotechnology offers important tools to diagnose plant diseases of both viral and bacterial origin. These tools are of particular value when identification of the causal agent is difficult (*e.g.* many viral diseases exhibit similar symptoms) and when knowledge of the nature of the pathogen is necessary to conceive and apply proper management measures. Immuno-diagnostic techniques, including enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and monoclonal antibodies, are commercially applied in many developing countries, as well as DNA-based methods (Dhlamini *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, diagnostic techniques are routinely used for quarantine systems and the production of seeds and other propagation materials in developing countries.

Bioprotection involves biologically based crop protection systems against biotic threats such as pests and diseases. One example is biological control, which has been defined as: "The use of living organisms to suppress the population density or impact of a specific pest organism, making it less abundant or less damaging than it would otherwise be" (Eilenberg, Hajek and Lomer, 2001). Microbial agents are a form of bioprotection, and constitute one of the commonest forms used in developing countries. Often these agents have the additional benefit of substituting

chemical pesticides that might be unaffordable and/or environmentally undesirable for use in cash-poor, labour-intensive farming systems. There is a small but growing use of microbial pesticides such as the crystalline (cry) proteins produced by the Bt bacterium and biocontrol agents such as pheromones, growth regulators and hormones. There is also an increasing acceptance of alternative pest control agents via the various forms of integrated pest management (IPM) (Dhlamini *et al.*, 2005). For example, in Malaysia, Bt sprays are being used to control insect pests of oil palm such as the bagworm group (including *Mahasena corbetti* Tams, *Metisa plana* Wlk and *Cremastopsyche pendula* Joannis) and the rhinoceros beetle (*Oryctes rhinoceros*), and large-scale Bt production facilities have been set up. In India, Bt sprays have also been used successfully at village level in Andhra Pradesh (Puente-Rodríguez, 2007).

Fungi are increasingly used as highly target-specific pest management agents that can often replace chemical pesticides. One example is the desert locust, a sporadic pest that can have severe impact on food production over wide areas of Northern Africa. Between 2003 and 2005, conventional control via chemical sprays required 42 million litres of mainly organophosphate pesticides over about 13 Mha. While there were no reported instances of serious animal or human health problems, the cost of safety measures was high and there was significant environmental damage (FAO, 2007). For these reasons, FAO and other partners have been developing alternative bio-based control strategies. These have involved a combination of *Metarhizium* fungi, which are existing pathogens of locusts and grasshoppers, plus the biocontrol agent phenyacetonitrile, which is a hormone that affects swarming behaviour in locusts. One particular isolate of Metarhizium anisopliae has been formulated as the proprietary agent Green Muscle® and is produced commercially by a South African company. Recent assessments of these biopesticides underlined the kinds of challenges that also confront the wider deployment of many other biotechnologies (FAO, 2007; van der Valk, 2007). These include further R&D to improve product formulation and efficacy in the field; improved production and quality assurance methods; accelerated registration for environmental release; improved awareness, capacity building and training for all stakeholders; and formal incorporation into crop protection strategies. *Metarhizium* strains have been used also as effective control agents against rhinoceros beetle and the Metarhizium Technology Centre in Malaysia has managed to produce nearly 0.5 tonnes of pure Metarhizium spores for future crop treatments (Moslim et al., 2006).

Plant nutrition

This category includes the production and use of biofertilizers and the use of nitrogen-fixing bacteria and/or mycorrhizal fungi to improve plant performance. Recent studies have shown that there are numerous plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria that not only enhance nutrient uptake by crops but also induce systemic tolerance to other abiotic stresses such as drought and salinity (Yang, Kloepper and Ryu, 2009). As with biopesticides, the use of bionutrition strategies carries the double benefit of reducing input costs for farmers and preventing nitrate and phosphate accumulation within soils and run-off into sensitive watercourses.

There are numerous examples of the use of these strategies in developing countries both to augment the nutritional status of crops and as alternatives to chemical supplements. For example, it was shown in Thailand that rhizobial inoculants can effectively replace chemical fertilizers for the production of soybean, groundnut and mung bean crops (Boonkerd, 2002). The use of *Rhizobia* in Thai soybean, groundnut and mung bean production between 1980 and 1993 produced estimated accumulated benefits of USD 100, USD 17 and USD 4 million, respectively, for crop producers. However, the performance of inoculants can vary with micronutrient conditions in the field and according to the persistence of bacterial populations in different soils. Some studies have revealed the widely differing effects of inoculants in different locations, even within small areas, and significant variations in their performance over time (Hall and Clark, 1995). Therefore, in addition to agronomic factors, the knowledge and experience of local farmers is important in ensuring the effective application of biofertilizers. In Kenya, the UNESCO Microbiological Resources Centre (MIRCEN) has developed a *Rhizobium* inoculant known as Biofix for sorghum crops that has been in use since 1981 (Odame, 2002). Elsewhere in Africa,

biofertilizers are being developed for cowpea, groundnut, bambara groundnut and rice (Dhlamini *et al.*, 2005).

In Mexico, a *Rhizobium*-based biofertilizer developed by the National University of Mexico for the common bean (Peralta *et al.*, 2004) has been commercialized since 2003 under the commercial name of Rhizofer. The biofertilizer is sold either on its own or together with spores of the mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices*, to help the plant acquire soil nutrients and to solubilize phosphates. This commercial package also includes printed material and technical assistance. The biofertilizer has been used mainly in the central and northern regions of Mexico. To date, 20 000 hectares, from a total of 2 million sown in the country, have been biofertilized with reportedly very satisfactory results. The use of this biofertilizer offers important savings in the cultivation of the common bean, and costs significantly less than chemical fertilization. Moreover, it improves the soil biodiversity and promotes soil biological activity (Peralta, 2009).

The nutritional status of the soil can also be enhanced by using fungal inoculants to accelerate the breakdown of organic fertilizer. In the Philippines, inoculation of rice straw with the fungus *Trichoderma* has reduced composting time to as little as 21–45 days, depending on the type of plant residue used (Sonnino *et al.*, 2009). Following the success of this "Rapid Composting Technology" (RCT), the Philippines government set up production units for the fungal agent and actively promoted the production and use of organic fertilizer by farmers' cooperatives, private enterprises and non-governmental organizations (NGOs). An impact study concluded that rice and sugarcane farmers adopting RCT used significantly less chemical fertilizer, and had higher yields and higher net incomes (Rola and Chupungco, 1996). For example, rice farmers using both organic fertilizer made via RCT and chemical fertilizer produced 15 percent more than farmers using chemical fertilizer only. Net income gains per hectare were about USD 171. The main advantage of the substitution of chemical with organic fertilizer was the positive effect on soil nutrient content, as well as on soil tilth and texture, making organic fertilizer superior to the chemical fertilizers (Cuevas, 1997).

Genetic resource conservation & management

The need to conserve crop genetic resources is now widely accepted and generally justified for one or more of several reasons such as their importance as raw material for plant breeding to face future changes in market needs and in production and environmental/climatic conditions or their importance as a source of material for scientific research and future germplasm development. They are also part of our cultural and historical heritage, passed down from previous generations. In addition, the characterization of genetic resources goes hand-in-hand with conservation because it is fundamental both to our understanding of what is being conserved and to choosing which genetic resources should be conserved. Characterization can also play an important role regarding issues of ownership as well as access to and the benefit-sharing of agricultural genetic resources. The key role of biotechnologies in the acquisition, management, conservation, protection, characterization and exchange of plant genetic resources is becoming ever more apparent (Karp, 2002; Peacock and Chaudhury, 2002; Ruane and Sonnino, 2006). Many biotechnologies already discussed in this document are being employed for germplasm management in the widespread network of public sector seed banks and resource centres across the world (Engels et al., 2002; Dhlamini et al., 2005; Hunter and Taylor, 2007; Murphy, 2007a). For example, relatively established technologies such as cryopreservation, artificial seed production, somatic embryogenesis, and other forms of in vitro cell or tissue culture are extensively used for the conservation of genetic resources for food and agriculture in developing countries, especially for vegetatively propagated plants, which can easily get contaminated with pathogenic micro-organisms. Whereas phenotypes (e.g. yield, growth rate) or morphological traits (coat colour, seed shape) are influenced by both genetic and environmental factors, the use of molecular markers and genomics reveals differences at the DNA level that are not influenced by the environment. These molecular tools are having an increasing impact on the study and management of genetic resources. The characterization of agricultural genetic resources is essential to exploring their possible utilization and ensuring ownership and the equitable sharing of their benefits.

3. Analysis of experiences with biotechnologies in developing countries over the past 20 years

As with other maturing technologies and as seen in Section 2, there have been mixed experiences with crop biotechnologies. Although transgenesis is being increasingly deployed, the vast majority of new biotech-derived crop varieties remain non-transgenic. Transgenesis is lagging significantly behind owing to severe limitations on the kinds of traits available, complex IPR and regulatory issues, and often negative public perceptions (Stein and Rodríguez-Cerezo, 2009; Ramessar et al., 2009). On the other hand, major successes encompassing the whole range of desirable agronomic traits have been achieved via non-transgenic technologies. In the future, breeders will have the additional benefit of genomic and metabolomic technologies, which will contribute to all forms of crop improvement. While there have been significant successes in farmer adoption of a few first-generation transgenic varieties, there have also been unexpected market setbacks as farmers seek to avoid high seed costs and other restrictions. In some cases. even though the technology was sound and the products were potentially beneficial to farmers, there was little or no adoption due to often predictable infrastructure or market deficiencies. A promising approach to addressing such problems is farmer participatory research (FPR), but this must be coupled with measures to address a wide range of cross-sectoral issues from extension services to civil society programmes. The overall picture is therefore rather mixed. The uptake of biotechnologies is gradually improving but remains patchy.

Some of the main factors affecting the use of biotechnologies in developing countries in the past are highlighted below.

(i) Focus on smallholders

Even where there is strong development of biotechnologies within the public sector, they are not always directed towards improving smallholder crops (Kiers et al., 2008). There have been concerns among some policymakers in industrialized countries and among others in both the private and public sectors that assisting developing country smallholders, e.g. with crop biotechnologies, might not always address overall poverty reduction (Tschirley and Benfica, 2001; Collier, 2008). However, this thesis has been increasingly challenged and the case for supporting smallholder development as a major mechanism for reduction of poverty and food insecurity remains robust (Peacock et al., 2004; Lipton, 2005, 2006; Hazell et al., 2007; Future Agricultures Debate, 2009). Indeed, recent data from Vietnam, Africa and elsewhere show that small-scale agriculture can act as an important engine of national economic growth and help generate relative affluence from the bottom up in a society (Gollin, Parente and Rogerson, 2002; Murphy, 2007a; Jama and Pizarro, 2008). In India and South America, transgenic crops such as Bt cotton and herbicide tolerant soybean have also had a positive impact on millions of small farmers (FAO, 2004; Trigo and Cap, 2006; Gruère, Mehta-Bhatt and Sengupta, 2008). Smallholders are responsible for an important share of developing country food production and can play a key role in poverty reduction, especially in rural communities. But smallholders cannot be always assisted by biotechnology-driven crop improvements in isolation, so wider crosssectoral challenges must also be addressed at the same time. For example, it is well known that hunger and food insecurity have much deeper and more complex roots than mere crop yields (Pereira, 2008).

Most new biotechnologies have originated outside developing countries, so improved North-South links to facilitate capacity building and technology flow are especially crucial. Unfortunately, efforts to build enduring links between public-sector crop research institutions in industrialized and developing countries have been erratic and only partially effective.

(ii) Investments in biotechnological R&D

Investment patterns in biotechnology R&D are highly uneven in developing countries. Care should therefore be exercised when discussing all such countries together (as in this document). For example, China recently invested USD 500 million in biotechnologies and is now an acknowledged global leader in agriculturally applied plant genomics (USDA, 2008). Indeed,

much of the spectacular economic growth of modern China has been underpinned by huge gains in agricultural productivity that have enabled the country to remain self-sufficient in many major crops, despite steady increases both in population and in per capita food consumption (IAASTD, 2008). Brazil and India each spend less than one tenth of the Chinese agbiotech budget, but vastly out-spend the whole of sub-Saharan Africa (Sharma, Charak and Ramanaiah, 2003). China, India and Brazil are now recognized as significant global centres of emerging excellence in biotechnology that will soon be on a par with the United States and the European Union (Dutton, 2009). A note of concern here comes from a recent downward revision in estimates of global agriculture R&D spending, especially in developing countries (Beintema and Stads, 2008).

The lack of adequate and sustained investments remains a major limiting factor in most developing countries (IAASTD, 2009). This situation may be exacerbated by the consequences of the current economic downturn.

(iii) Biotechnology capacities

Insufficient and unstable investments in R&D are only a part of the problem. A further constraint in developing countries is the limitation of capacity to generate, adapt or utilize potentially beneficial biotechnologies due to limitations in agricultural research systems.

Such limitations include:

- absent or inadequate policies for agricultural R&D at government and institutional level (Spielman, Hartwich and von Grebmer, 2007);
- poor scientific, political and public awareness of the opportunities and risks of different crop biotechnologies (Gressel *et al.*, 2004; Cohen, 2005; Pender, 2007);
- inconsistent policy and regulatory regimes regarding issues such as IPR enforcement, the protection of plant and animal health, biosafety, food safety and bioethics (Diao *et al.*, 2008; Stein and Rodríguez-Cerezo, 2009);
- deficiencies in economic and physical infrastructures (including trade markets) that impede farmer ability to capitalize on new biotechnologies (Murphy, 2007a; Diao *et al.*, 2008);
- the weaknesses of research institutions that do not allow efficient implementation of research projects;
- insufficiently educated/trained human resources and the lack of appropriate incentive schemes for capacity-building, the retention and motivation of staff through competitive career development opportunities.

(iv) IPR & other regulatory issues

The status of agricultural IPR in different countries and trade blocks is inconsistent and uncertain (Murphy, 2007a; Gold, 2008; Smith, 2008, Yamanaka, 2008). Linked to these IPR problems is the fact that many technology leaders and products (e.g. new crop varieties) are part of private sector bodies with no explicit public-good missions. A major challenge is to find ways to facilitate the uptake of agricultural R&D discoveries into developing countries and non-commercial crop staples without compromising the innovative processes that often produce such discoveries. In some cases, this requires balancing the ability to innovate, driven largely by the assurances that IPR provides, with ensuring that access to these innovative technologies is provided to those who need it most.

Many crop biotechnologies originate from discoveries in the public sector but require significant private-sector involvement for effective reduction to practice (Hartwich, Janssen and Tola, 2003). Moreover, several aspects of crop biotechnologies, including some key plant transformation and regeneration steps, are subject to private sector IPR, which can significantly limit the freedom to operate of public bodies wishing to develop new crop varieties. This has led to the establishment of a range of PPPs with the broad objective of making the products of existing biotechnologies available to smallholders in developing countries, normally in areas where the private sector has

little commercial interest. The private and public sectors should establish a more inclusive intellectual property landscape that recognizes the special needs of subsistence and commercial farmers alike in developing countries.

The rollout of genetically modified crops has at times been inhibited by high transaction costs, and complex, inconsistent regulatory requirements (Stein and Rodríguez-Cerezo, 2009), sometimes leading to IPR avoidance and piracy of traits. This could be regarded as a qualified market failure. A comprehensive analysis of IPR and regulation is beyond the scope of this document, and they are covered in much greater detail in document ABDC-10/8.1 on policy options for agricultural biotechnologies in developing countries.

(v) Link between biotechnology R&D and plant breeding programmes

It is important to underline that biotechnology can assist and expand, but not substitute, traditional plant breeding programmes. The presence of skilled personnel and adequate facilities for the identification of appropriate parents and segregating materials, as well as the selection of improved lines for their stabilization and agronomic assessment, is essential. Even countries that decide to rely on the research results obtained abroad, for instance in neighbouring countries with similar ecological conditions, need capacities for the evaluation, adaptation and adoption of improved lines developed elsewhere. Investments in biotechnology infrastructures and human capacities cannot therefore be made at the expense of conventional breeding or agronomic research and strong breeding programmes must remain at the core of crop improvement.

(vi) Farmer involvement in research & breeding

The relevance and uptake of biotechnology advances in crop improvement by smallholders can be improved using participatory research approaches. Participatory approaches to research can lead to more relevant, site-adapted and socially acceptable solutions to real-world problems and technological constraints in agriculture and natural resource management. Research participatory approaches are used in problem identification, planning, implementation and research transfer and/or evaluation. Experiences using FPR for the improvement of crop production have been made in the area of plant breeding and are known as participatory plant breeding (PPB) (Murphy, 2007a), and in integrated pest management, often using farmer field schools.

Recent evaluations of the effectiveness of FPR and PPB have been encouraging (Scoones and Thomson, 2009; Ashby and Lilja, 2004). Small farmers often produce in marginal areas with limited access to knowledge, improved technologies and inputs. Conventional breeding has focused heavily on "broad adaptability" and major traits, resulting in high-yielding varieties with pest and disease resistance that produce well when input levels are high, but poorly in the marginal conditions under which cash-poor farmers often operate (Murphy, 2007a). Traits such as resilience after adverse conditions (e.g. water scarcity), ease of harvest and storage, taste and cooking qualities, speed of crop maturation, and the suitability of crop residues as livestock feed, can be of high relevance to small farmers. Involving them in the breeding process from the beginning will help to develop new crop varieties and agricultural practices that are better adapted to the areas where they produce and more relevant to their farming conditions and needs. Examples of participatory approaches in plant breeding are described by Ceccarelli *et al.* (1997 and 2000), Toomey (1999), Almekinders and Elings (2001), Vernooy (2003), and Morris and Bellon (2004).

While participatory research can generate a range of direct and indirect benefits for participants, careful attention needs to be paid to achieving equitable impacts. Participatory approaches must consider power sharing and participant selection, or risk missing important contributions from women and other marginalized groups (Johnson *et al.*, 2004). Gender issues can play an important role in many aspects of agriculture (Boserup 1970), and have been shown to be relevant also for plant breeding/management/processing and the uptake of new technologies (Wambugu *et al.*, 2000; Nguthi, 2007; Smale and Tushemereirwe, 2007; CGIAR, 2008). For example, many traits relevant for the harvesting, threshing, milling and cooking of grains can be more or less invisible, even to the men in the local community, and may be overlooked by scientist-breeders. However,

these processing-related traits may be of paramount concern to the women who actually carry out such tasks as they prepare food from the crops on a daily basis. The importance of women in the outcome of breeding projects has been shown in several case studies in Côte d'Ivoire, where the selection of inappropriate traits by poorly-informed scientific breeders led to the rejection of new varieties by women farmers (Lilja and Dalton, 1997; Dalton, 2004; Dalton and Guei, 2003).

Modern biotechnologies successfully applied in conventional plant breeding programmes, have recently also been introduced using participatory approaches. MAS has been used as part of a PPB approach for developing rice with improved stress tolerance (Steele *et al.*, 2002 and 2004; Witcombe, Joshi and Goyal, 2003), for developing higher-yielding maize (Virk *et al.*, 2003) and in small-scale potato crop systems in the Bolivian Andes (Puente-Rodríguez, 2008). Participatory approaches have been used for varietal selection of NERICA rice (see Section 4), and for the adaptation and diffusion of NERICA technologies for rice-based production systems in Africa (Somado, Guei and Keya, 2008). Similar schemes are being piloted for other crops and, together with more effective extension services, should be considered integral to the process of crop improvement (World Bank, 2007). FPR approaches have also been applied to the production of micropropagated planting materials in many countries, including Colombia and Bolivia, and to the production of biofertilizers and biopesticides in Colombia, Ecuador and Peru, among other countries, leading to the establishment of micropropagation laboratories managed by farmers.

(vii) Technology uptake

Crop varieties and management systems developed by even the most sophisticated new technologies will have little impact on improving food security in developing countries unless they are effectively taken up by farmers on a sustained, long-term basis (Tripp, 2001). Indeed, while modern breeding and crop management technologies can easily take a decade or more to make improved materials available to farmers, it is a telling but often overlooked fact that the widespread on-farm adoption of such technologies can take much longer (Dargie, 2007). Technology uptake, or lack thereof, is an abiding concern for the improvement of food security at small farmer level. For example, it is estimated that simply by applying existing recommended practices of crop management, Ghanaian farmers could double or treble average yields of most staple crops (Al-Hassan and Diao, 2007).

Seed systems

One of the major hurdles to the wide-scale use of improved varieties obtained though biotechnological approaches in developing countries is the weakness of the local seed systems. In many developing countries, the vast majority of seeds used in agriculture are supplied by the informal seed systems which include farm-saved seeds, seed exchanges between farmers and seeds purchased from local markets. The informal seed system can, in some instances, play an important role in the conservation of local landraces and other precious genetic resources, and satisfies the demand of low-cost inputs, but the seed supplies often do not meet acceptable quality standards. Seeds of improved varieties obtained by biotechnological means combined with conventional breeding approaches, such as MAS-derived varieties, are usually multiplied and distributed through formal seed production and distribution schemes, which offer high-standard propagation materials, but which often lack the capacity to meet the seed demand for these new varieties and to reach vast numbers of small-scale farmers. For example, the current demand for seeds of NERICA varieties in Western Africa exceeds their supply. Also, the seeds offered by the formal production and distribution system are frequently more expensive and cannot be accessed by farmers with low purchasing power. In addition to infrastructure, government support within developing countries may consider providing financial incentives to farmers to plant higheryielding varieties that will ultimately bring increased revenue back to the farmer.

Extension services

In a recent report on seed delivery systems in Africa, it was stated that: "Most extension services are characterized by a lack of information, technical capacity and logistics for timely delivery of advice to farmers. They have inadequate capacity in terms of personnel and are unable to

formulate and implement good and sound technology transfer approaches" (Guei, Somado and Larinde, 2008). Even in comparatively well developed and resourced cropping systems, such as oil palm in Malaysia, the effectiveness of extension services to smallholders has come in for criticism (Jalani et al., 2002). Extension services are fundamental to the success of agricultural development, including advice to farmers and local seed production and distribution. Because they are an end-of-pipeline function, extension services are frequently overlooked by researchers, policymakers and in government budget allocations. Importantly, the linkage between agriculture researchers, extensionists and producers is quite weak, resulting in the poor uptake of innovations, research that fails to reflect smallholder needs, and the delivery of the wrong type of extension education programmes (Rivera, Qamar and Crowder, 2001). And yet, without a good extension service, the introduction of even the best new crop varieties may be delayed or prevented (World Bank, 2007). Some of the problems with extension services include poor human resources, inadequate operational and transportation support, and inappropriate orientation and methodological approaches. The extension agent also has a particularly difficult and often isolated role that may be hampered by poor or inappropriate training, insufficient technical support, lack of motivational incentives, unrealized expectations of farmers and external pressures from third parties such as private seed merchants or NGO representatives.

A report from 39 African countries indicated that nine of them had no extension services at all, while ten more relied on overseas development agencies (Guei, Somado and Larinde, 2008). Even where extension services exist in a country, they are not always able to respond to new crop introductions. For example, when Bt cotton was introduced to India, there was a complete lack of government provision of such services and farmers relied solely upon private seed companies for knowledge dissemination and advice (Solution Exchange, 2007; Gruère, Mehta-Bhatt and Sengupta, 2008). This is clearly unsatisfactory and, in the case of Bt cotton in India, it contributed to public scepticism about the technology. Clearly, there is a significant structural problem if so many countries do not oversee the provision of national or local extension services to farmers. The case for a qualitative improvement in the status and local management of extension services as an integral aspect of crop development should be emphasized more strongly to governments and policymakers. The potential for better designed technologies and better technology uptake via well managed and better linked research-extension-producer networks to lead directly to increased food production is demonstrated by the case of potatoes in China. Following a change in government policy in the 1980s, potato cultivation was encouraged in the country. Advanced breeding materials were obtained from the International Potato Center (CIP) in Peru and developed by the Crop Research Institute in Yunnan Province into locally adapted varieties, such as Cooperation 88, which greatly outperformed existing varieties. A combination of vigorous extension services and expanding consumer markets led to an increase in the potato-growing area from 2.45 to 4.7 Mha, and in yields from 9.7 to 16 T/ha between 1982 and 2002 (Reader, 2009). This made China the largest potato producer in the world and by 2007, output was 72 Mt or one quarter of the entire global output (FAO, 2009c). Improved seed and extension services being able to respond to market demand have been cited as factors in the positive economic impact of sweet potatoes at village level in China (Fuglie et al., 1999).

4. Case studies of experiences with crop biotechnologies

This section includes several brief case studies of experiences with biotechnologies in developing country crops. In reality, most of them cannot be labelled as full successes or failures, because each case may present positive and negative consequences at the same time. Nevertheless, some experiences have brought improved food security to large numbers of people in developing countries, such as the African-Asian rice hybrids (NERICA), rice interspecific hybrids in Asia, and mutation breeding. The study of socio-economic impacts of biotechnological innovations in developing countries is still very patchy or limited and only few reports are solid and scientifically sound (Sonnino *et al.*, 2009). In most cases it is therefore impossible to draw clear conclusions. In many instances even the more negative experiences can be most accurately described as temporary halts in progress rather than permanent setbacks.

(i) Wide crossing to improve African rice – NERICA

There is little doubt that one of the outstanding recent success stories of African agriculture is the development of a new interspecific form of rice, NERICA. The original NERICA varieties were developed in the 1990s by a team of breeders at the Africa Rice Centre (formerly WARDA), Bouaké, Côte d'Ivoire (Jones *et al.*, 1997a and 1997b; Jones, 1998a and 1998b). NERICA varieties have led to yield increases of up to 50 percent in upland rice crops. These replaced low-yielding, lodging and shattering-prone *O. glaberrima*. While rice tends to be a cash crop for small-to-medium-scale farmers in East and Southern Africa, it is very much a subsistence crop in West Africa where the majority of African rice is produced.

The NERICA lines were created by crossing *O. glaberrima* and *O. sativa*. As these two species do not naturally interbreed, it was necessary to use a range of advanced tissue culture technologies to enable the hybrid plants to survive. In particular, embryo rescue and anther culture methods ensured that crosses survived to produce plantlets to grow on to full maturity. As with many other hybrids of two relatively inbred lines, NERICA varieties display very good degrees of heterosis. For example, they grow faster, yield more, and/or resist stresses better than either parent. Some features of NERICA varieties include: an increase in grain head size from 75–100 grains to 400 grains per head; yield gains from 1 T/ha to 2.5 T/ha and up to 6–7 T/ha with fertilizer application; two percent more protein than their African or Asian parents; plus better pest and weed resistance and more tolerance of drought and infertile soils than Asian rice. During the 1990s, about 3 000 lines were developed, many of which have been released and are already being grown by farmers in West African countries. The high-yielding new rice varieties are drought- and pest-resistant. Their unique adaptation to the growing conditions in West Africa has helped increase yield and has the potential to benefit 20 million farmers (Sarla and Mallikarjuna Swamy, 2005; Kijima, Sserunkuuma and Otsuka, 2006).

The Africa Rice Center has reported the release of NERICA varieties in 30 African countries, and these are now planted in about 0.2 Mha, mainly in Côte d'Ivoire, Guinea, Nigeria and Uganda. Uptake is likely to expand as more varieties are released. In sub-Saharan Africa, over 100 upland varieties are being field tested by the Africa Rice Center in 30 countries and 60 lowland/irrigated varieties are being field tested in 20 countries (Sonnino et al., 2009). Many NERICA varieties are particularly suitable for use in the rainfed upland agrisystems where smallholders lack the means to irrigate or to apply chemical fertilizers or pesticides (Somado, Guei and Keva, 2008). In addition to benefiting rural economies, NERICA has the potential to assist cash-strapped national economies by reducing the cost of hard-currency food imports. It has been estimated that the introduction of NERICA in Guinea alone led to import savings of USD 13 million in 2003 (Harsch, 2004). An evaluation study report by Obilana and Okumu (2005) discusses the livelihood impacts of NERICA in Benin, Guinea and Mali and concludes: "NERICA rice impacts the whole spectrum of human life problems in the areas of health, nutrition, education, female empowerment, environmental protection, and improved collaboration and partnerships for enhanced development. The impacts in all the three countries are hence the same although they vary in magnitude". By the 2008 season, NERICA varieties were playing a key role in the record rice harvests being enjoyed across Africa (FAO, 2009d).

(ii) Wide crossing to improve Asian rice

In Asian rice, wide crosses have been especially effective in addressing serious viral diseases, such as the grassy stunt virus, to which cultivated rice has little genetic resistance. The virus is transmitted to the plant by a leaf-dwelling brown planthopper, *Nilaparvata lugens*. By the 1960s and 1970s, grassy stunt virus had become endemic in rice crops throughout Asia and threatened food supplies. During a collecting expedition, scientists from IRRI had found a tiny population of a wild rice relative from India, *Oryza nirvara*, resistant to the virus. Normally, it would be impossible to cross these two rather different *Oryza* species, but IRRI breeders used tissue culture to produce a crude wide hybrid of this wild Indian plant and Asian rice. Eventually, in 1974, after many years of repeatedly backcrossing this hybrid with local rice varieties, three new virus-resistant varieties of Asian rice were released to subsistence farmers (Barclay, 2004). Despite repeated searching, the original Indian population of virus-resistant *O. nirvara* was never found again and may well have been lost for good. Luckily, on this occasion at least, some of the useful

Oryza nirvara genes have been saved by the IRRI scientists, although these genes are now located in the genomes of the three new varieties of Asian rice, *O. sativa*.

(iii) Soil bio-inoculants in Kenya

The importance of extension services and overall infrastructure in biotechnology uptake is highlighted by the case of the rhizobial inoculant Biofix in Kenya. Although Biofix has been marketed since 1981 and its effectiveness was clearly demonstrated in field trials within the country, national adoption rates remain relatively low. Explanations include poor distribution systems, lack of product information, insufficiency of extension services, poor access to credit, unsuitable package size, and other constraints (Odame, 1999). The public image of Biofix may also have been tarnished by reports of mixed performance, possibly due to similar factors to those discussed earlier for Rhizobia in Thailand (Section 2). One of these site-specific factors is the need for simultaneous phosphorus provision for certain soil types. Having been identified, this particular problem is now being addressed by the manufacturers with an improved product supplemented with rock phosphate to counter phosphorus deficiency. In contrast, the uptake rate of Biofix was much higher among smallholders in the Nyeri district of Kenya. Here, there are organized groups of farmers who have ready access to, and clear information about, the product (Odame, 2002). One factor in the success of Biofix in Nyeri may be peer-group encouragement because successful implementation of the technology by neighbours within a local social network is highly visible. Similar peer-group-based strategies, such as farmer clubs or societies based on common access to the crop/technology in question are increasingly being used by extension services.

(iv) Mutation-bred crop varieties

Public agencies, including the Joint FAO/IAEA Division and universities have been effective proponents of mutagenesis technology and there are essentially no IPR barriers to its deployment for public-good crop breeding. Hence, many mutagenized crop varieties have been produced by and for developing countries. As of early 2009, more than 2 770 varieties of mutation-bred crop varieties, including all the major staple species (Ahloowalia, Maluszynski and Nichterlein, 2004), had been released into cultivation in at least 59 developing countries, mostly in Asia. The largest mutation breeding programmes are in China and India, but dozens of other countries are also using the technology (Maluszynski, Szarejko and Maluszynska, 2003; for review see Kodym and Afza, 2003). Widely used mutagenized crops include: Soghat bread wheat in Pakistan, Zhefu rice in Thailand, Shwewartun rice in Myanmar, and Bajra pearl millet in India. In Vietnam, three new varieties of rice with improved food quality and salt tolerance have been developed since 1996. Since their release in the Mekong Delta region, they have increased smallholder incomes by USD 350/farmer/year and include some of the top export varieties (FAO and IAEA, 2008).

(v) Bt cotton in India

Cotton is an important commodity crop in India, growing in most agroclimatic zones and providing a livelihood for more than 60 million people working in agriculture, processing, and textiles. According to averaged production statistics between 1997 and 2006, India was the third largest global producer of cotton, but yields were only ranked 70th among the producing countries. This strikingly low-yield performance was caused by factors such as persistent pest problems and lack of irrigation facilities, and by issues inherent in small-scale, non-mechanized and resource-poor farming systems. In 2002, in an effort to increase cotton yields, the Indian government authorized the introduction of transgenic cotton varieties with the Bt insect-resistant trait, potentially enabling the crop to withstand pests such as the bollworm, as well as reducing pesticide requirements (USDA, 2005). Between 2002 and 2008, India rapidly increased its cotton production to over 9 Mha, becoming a major exporter, and in 2007/08 it passed the United States in output to become the second-largest global producer of cotton after China. According to the Indian Cotton Advisory Board, Bt cotton was the major factor behind the increased production of cotton from 15.8 million bales in 2001/02 to 24.4 million bales in 2005/06 (ISAAA, 2006). There has also been a significant increase in cotton yields from 300 kg/ha in 1997 to 400 kg/ha in 2003/04, and more than 500 kg/ha in 2006/07 (Gruère, Mehta-Bhatt and Sengupta, 2008).

The uptake of Bt cotton in India has continued to rise as more varieties, both official and illicit, appear on the market. In July 2007, Indian government agencies approved 73 new commercial varieties of hybrid Bt cotton. At that time, a total of 135 hybrid Bt cotton varieties were available on the market, plus numerous unofficial varieties (SABP, 2007). It is noteworthy that, despite its undoubted commercial success in most states. Bt cotton in India has been surrounded by controversy since its introduction in 2002 (Gruère, Mehta-Bhatt and Sengupta, 2008). Various groups have contested its effectiveness, reporting that farmers have lost income due to lower yields and higher-than-expected pesticide use, while some groups reported (albeit not in scientific journals and despite contradictory evidence) alleged toxic effects of Bt cotton on livestock health. Others have objected to the high prices for Bt cottonseed charged by seed companies, and this has led to widespread unofficial seed trading. It is also the case that the introduction of Bt cotton in India was mediated by company advisors rather than government extension agents, which leaves room to question the partiality of advice received. This has led to assertions of so-called "agricultural de-skilling" as farmers followed their neighbours as part of a "fad" to buy Bt cottonseed (Stone, 2007). However, as discussed above in case study (iii) from Kenya, the followmy-neighbour strategy is regularly used by extension services in attempts to disseminate new seed or agronomic methods among farmers.

According to other reports, Bt cotton has also been associated with allegations of increased rates of farmer suicide. Although these reports seem to have been disproved, with Gruère, Mehta-Bhatt and Sengupta (2008) concluding that "our analysis clearly shows that Bt cotton is neither a necessary nor a sufficient condition for the occurrence of farmer suicides", the association between farmer suicide and Bt cotton is still widely believed in many quarters. Indeed, the whole topic of the performance and social context of Bt cotton in India is characterized by polarized viewpoints and a dearth of unequivocally reliable evidence. There appears to have been a tendency for supporters of Bt cotton to overstate its benefits and for its many critics to exaggerate its shortcomings, whereas numerous articles instead report a more complex and mixed situation (Bambawale *et al.*, 2004; Rao, 2004; Qaim and Zilberman, 2003; Morse, Bennett and Ismael, 2005; Shah 2005, 2008; Smale, Zambrano and Cartel, 2006; Smale *et al.*, 2006, 2009; Herring, 2007, 2008; Glover, 2009; Stone, 2007).

For example, there is little doubt that the performance of Bt cotton has varied significantly in different regions of this vast country. Average national cotton yield improvements and farmer revenue gains from the use of Bt varieties were in the region of 30–40 percent, and such values were found in the states of Maharashtra and Tamil Nadu. However, there was a decline of 3 percent in both yield and revenue gains in Andhra Pradesh, while farmers in Karnataka reported increases of 70 percent (Raney, 2006). In some cases, these wide variations were due to climatic effects. For example, the initially negative performance of the varieties in Andhra Pradesh was mainly due to severe drought conditions to which the Bt hybrids were not optimally adapted (Qaim *et al.*, 2006). An important indicator that does not necessarily correlate with yield/revenue gains is overall profit margins, where the national average increase was 69 percent, but Tamil Nadu reported 229 percent while Andhra Pradesh suffered a decline of 40 percent. To quote Herring (2007): *Bt cottons have been in the field too short a time for definitive assessment of either biological or economic success across so varied an agro-ecology as India; results vary with seasonal variations of pests, weather and local agronomics*

On balance, the limited available evidence supports Bt cotton as a qualified success in most, but not all, parts of India. In several states, it has been very successful and has greatly increased overall national cotton yield and farmer/processor incomes. Moreover, as of 2008 more than 270 Bt cotton varieties were available in India including lines specifically adapted to all the major cotton-growing regions of the country (James, 2008). On the negative side, it has polarized some sections of Indian society and contributed to a somewhat tarnished image of aspects of GM technology. Also, its high technology fees have led to IPR transgressions that might adversely affect the future development of other commercial crops. The wider negative image of Bt cotton in some circles in India might be associated with the provenance of the technology, i.e. it comes from an overseas private-sector source in contrast to many previous, less controversial, crop

improvement biotechnologies that have often come from indigenous public-sector sources (Murphy, 2007a). This contrasts with the less controversial locally developed Bt cotton in China. The situation is less clear in South Africa, where modest yield and profit gains were reported from a two-year survey of smallholders (Thirtle *et al.*, 2003), but a later study showed a more complex picture (Shankar and Thirtle, 2005). More recent studies of Bt and herbicide-tolerant maize performance in the KwaZulu Natal region of South Africa over the 2006/07 growing season also revealed a complex picture (Gouse *et al.*, 2009). Some farmers of the GM varieties had substantially higher yields but both GM technologies had very little impact on efficiency, and it was concluded that the tillage system was a key determinant of efficiency levels. As stated by the authors: "The results mostly serve to show how dangerous it is to make any inferences from small sample surveys in one production season."

(vi) Micropropagation of oil palm

A risk with mass clonal propagation by micropropagation is the creation of abnormalities during the tissue culture process itself. In the 1980s, a commercial scheme to mass propagate millions of oil palm plantlets from superior breeding lines in Malaysia foundered when the maturing trees were found to have a serious abnormality in their floral development (Corley, 1999). This so-called "mantling" phenotype led to a failure of fruit formation and the trees were effectively useless (Corley and Tinker, 2003). In the case of oil palm, the problem was compounded by the fact that fruits do not normally appear on the plant for about five years. This meant that the abnormalities were not discovered until the trees were already established in mature plantations that had been expensively maintained for several years. At the time, this was a significant setback for Malaysian oil palm development and the desired increases in production were only maintained by an expansion of plantation area. Varietal development and yield gains were also impeded by the slower rates of alternative propagation methods.

More recently, prospects for mass clonal propagation of oil palm have improved significantly. Several private and public sector research programmes have investigated the causes of the mantling phenotype, which appears to be due to genotype-dependent epigenetic changes induced by altered patterns of DNA methylation that occur during tissue culture (Tanurdzic et al., 2008). Thanks to this improved understanding of tissue culture/epigenetic interactions, clonal propagation of oil palm has now resumed in some plantations (Wong, Tan and Soh, 1997). Flowering abnormalities still occur, but can often be detected and removed at an early stage, leading to much higher success rates in the production of fertile trees. While this technology was primarily developed for commercial plantations, over one third of oil palm yield is generated by smallholders (Vermeulen and Goad, 2006). Globally, there are more than two million independent smallholders cultivating 5 Mha who also stand to benefit directly from such improved clonal lines. The Malaysian example illustrates some of the problems that can arise from tissue culture when manipulations used for plant regeneration cause developmental abnormalities. Despite these setbacks, tissue culture and mass propagation remain immensely valuable for agriculture in developing countries. It should also be stressed that apart from micropropagation, oil palm breeding is showing impressive gains via other biotechnologies. For instance, novel germplasm from Africa and South America is being integrated into Asian breeding lines with the assistance of gene discoveries showing monogenic inheritance for shell thickness, while advanced genomic and MAS methods are now being deployed to address the full range of agronomic traits (Sambanthamurthi et al., 2009).

(vii) Biopesticides for control of migratory locusts

Several different biopesticides are available for controlling locusts. Among them, the most tested both in laboratory and in semi-field conditions and used for large-scale field trials (mainly in Africa) as well as in operational conditions (in Australia and China), is a mycopesticide formulated with the spores of the fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae* var. *acridium*. As biopesticides have a slower rate of action compared to conventional chemicals, they are usually sprayed if crops are not under immediate threat or when the environment is particularly sensitive.

FAO has for many years been supporting environmentally friendly alternatives to chemical pesticides for controlling locusts and has contributed to several field trials. In 2007, the first FAO locust campaign ever carried out using a biopesticide was successfully undertaken in Timor-Leste (FAO, 2009e). A migratory locust outbreak, which had developed since the beginning of the year, was threatening maize and rice crops in a huge, inaccessible (only a few roads and no airstrip) and highly sensitive (many water bodies and rivers) area. Upon the recommendation of FAO, the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (MAFP) of Timor-Leste agreed to use the biopesticide formulated with the spores of the Metarhizium Australasian strain (trade name Green Guard®) in aerial and ground-spraying operations. Under the framework of an emergency project funded by the Central Emergency Response Fund and implemented by FAO, the Metarhizium biopesticide was provided by FAO for aerial spraying operations in May 2007 against in-flight swarms of the migratory locust in the western part of Timor-Leste. They were supplemented in June by localized ground-spraying operations against smaller infestations. The operations were successful and resulted in the quick control of the outbreak, no further spread out of the locust populations (the locust adults were killed before egg-laying) and no damage to the rice crops. There was no side-effect on human health and the very sensitive environment of the Maliana area. It is also important to note that MAFP, together with FAO, carried out a public awareness campaign prior to the aerial spraying operations, providing information about the locust situation and the use of a helicopter and a biopesticide to control the locust populations. More recently, in 2009, similar biopesticides were deployed as part of an international red locust emergency campaign in Eastern and Southern Africa. This was the first time that biopesticides were used against locusts on a large scale in Africa and a massive outbreak in Tanzania was successfully contained. This intervention is estimated to have averted potentially serious damage to the food crops of over 15 million people in the region (FAO, 2009f).

(viii) Hybrid sorghum in Africa

Sorghum is one of the most important crops in Africa where two of the main challenges it faces are periodic drought and competition from the often devastating plant parasite Striga or witchweed. Research at the International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) in Sudan resulted in production of the first hybrid varieties of sorghum for Africa that were both drought-tolerant and high-yielding. An early variety, Hageen Dura-1, produced 50–100 percent greater yield than traditional varieties and laid the foundations of a commercial seed industry in Sudan. Newer drought-tolerant hybrid varieties in Niger have yielded 4–5 times the national average. In an unusual example of South-to-North technology transfer, African breeder Gabisa Ejeta used germplasm he had produced in Niger and Sudan to develop elite inbred lines of sorghum at Purdue University to generate commercial sorghum hybrids for the United States and international markets.

However, perhaps the most important sorghum hybrids were the Striga-tolerant forms developed in the 1990s and widely disseminated in Africa after 2002–2003. It is estimated that Striga affects 40 percent of arable savannah land and the livelihoods of over 100 million people in Africa (Gressel *et al.*, 2004). Ejeta and colleagues used a broad-based research approach involving molecular genetics, biochemistry and agronomy to identify genes for Striga resistance, which were then introgressed into both locally adapted and more modern sorghum varieties (Ejeta, 2007). The new sorghum lines were thus broadly adapted to different African ecologies and farming systems, and are now grown from Sudan to Zimbabwe. Finally, an integrated Striga management system has been developed that has further increased sorghum productivity through a combination of weed resistance, soil-fertility enhancement, and water conservation (Ejeta and Gressel, 2007). Meanwhile future research is focusing on identifying other yield-related genes such as early-season cold tolerance (Knoll, Gunaratna and Ejeta, 2008; Knoll and Ejeta, 2008). In 2009, the World Food Prize was awarded to Gabisa Ejeta in recognition of his achievements in improving the prospects of African sorghum farmers (World Food Prize, 2009).

5. Conclusions: lessons learned

The preceding Sections of this document have provided an overview of the current and past experiences of applying biotechnologies in the crop sector in developing countries. Based on these, a number of lessons can be learned that are summarized below and grouped under eight main headings (A–H).

A. Documentation of development, adoption & impact

Assessing the value of biotechnologies for rural development is quite difficult, as the information related to their application and socio-economic impact in developing countries is very scant, and sometimes inconsistent. Impact studies are often limited to the analysis of the production equation, and fail to pay due attention to the socio-economic effects of the introduction of the new technologies.

B. Investments in biotechnology R&D

- a. Crop biotechnologies in general have developed incrementally over the past century, although progress has accelerated greatly over the last two decades.
- b. Many crop biotechnologies have been used for the benefit of agriculture in developing countries and all have significant potential for future improvement.
- c. The most enduring successes to date have come from long-term public-sector crop improvement programmes addressing farmer-relevant problems.
- d. Farmers in developing countries, especially small farmers, cultivate crops and face problems that are particular to their cultural and environmental conditions, and often have limited purchasing power to access proprietary technologies. The spillover from private-sector research in industrialized countries has therefore had limited impact on the livelihoods of subsistence farmers in developing countries.
- e. An analysis of the past shows that a wide range of existing and emerging problems related to food security can be tackled using crop biotechnologies in combination with other technologies.

C. Linkages biotechnology/other agricultural R&D

- a. The major breeding and crop management successes to date have come from non-transgenic biotechnologies encompassing the full range of agronomic traits and practices relevant to developing countries' farmers.
- b. Transgenesis has had limited but real success in modifying a few simple input traits in a small number of commercial commodity crops, which have also been adopted by some developing countries' farmers.
- c. Biotechnology programmes were effective when they complemented conventional plant breeding and agronomy R&D programmes and were intimately linked to strong extension programmes.

D. Policy development & priority setting

- a. Even where there was strong development of biotechnologies within the public sector in developing countries, they were not always directed towards or made available to smallholders.
- b. An inclusive process of decision-making about appropriate crop biotechnologies in the context of scarce resources allocation was rarely adopted in developing countries, undermining the successful development of crop biotechnologies.

E. Capacity development

Key factors in the successful development of crop biotechnologies in developing countries are: appropriate policy development; strengthened research and extension institutions; enhanced capacities for researchers and breeders.

F. Regulation of biotechnology utilization

- a. The rollout of biotechnologies was successful when complemented by the full range of cross-sectoral measures to ensure their efficient uptake by smallholders and effective downstream use in well-regulated and fair markets, both local and global.
- b. The lack of coherent national and international regulatory systems has created uncertainty, and possibly reduced investments in biotechnology. This, in turn, has discouraged its adoption and use in developing countries.

G. Uptake of biotechnologies

- a. Experience has demonstrated that the uptake of improved varieties or technologies by smallholder farmers does not depend on their performance only, but also on equitable access, adequate infrastructures, appropriate extension capacities and the involvement of all relevant stakeholders.
- b. There are indications that farmer participatory research, including participatory plant breeding, is a useful approach for connecting high-tech scientists with the most disadvantaged subsistence farmers in developing countries.

H. Shared access to technologies

- a. Many resources, technologies and skills relevant for biotechnology development are either currently held inside the private sector or are scarcely available to scientists in developing countries.
- b. A few developing countries have established solid plant biotechnology programmes sustained by substantial investments and have achieved remarkable progress in biotechnology development and adoption.

C. Looking forward: preparing for the future

6. Key unsolved problems where biotechnologies can help

One of the major concerns for the future is the potential impact of climate change on agriculture. Changing temperatures and precipitation patterns will clearly affect the range of crops that can be grown in different regions and their manner of cultivation. In some cases, existing crops might continue to be grown but new varieties would be needed to cope with the changed conditions. Examples might include heat-, cold-, salt-, or drought-tolerant varieties of existing crop staples. In other cases, we may need to grow alternative crops or domesticate entirely new species in order to adapt to changed environmental conditions. The occurrence and severity of biotic stresses such as weeds, pests, and diseases will be altered. Once again, breeders will need to develop new stress-tolerant varieties, possibly at relatively short notice. Related problems might arise from human impacts, and in some cases these will have similar solutions to those caused by climate change. For example, the lack of water in a region could be due to either drought or diversion by other people, and increased soil salinity could be caused either by climate-related inundation by seawater or by inappropriate irrigation practices.

In this section, two principal topics are addressed: first, to identify a range of potentially problematic issues that will be important in the future and, second, to examine the role that different kinds of biotechnologies might play in dealing with them. Perhaps equally important is the availability of such biotechnologies and the local capacity for their development and/or exploitation in a particular country or region.

(i) Biotic stresses

Existing diseases, pests & weeds

Historically, breeders have been successful in selecting resistance traits in many of the major crops but such achievements can be offset by the sporadic nature of some important disease and pest threats and the eventual breakdown of resistance, especially during heavy infestations. Many effective chemical treatments and agronomic practices are available to help farmers control fungi and nematodes, but there are no equivalent virus-control agents. The production of virus-free plantlets is effective for avoiding secondary infections (infections transmitted to the next generation crop by the planting materials), but is totally inefficient against primary infections. Therefore, combating viral diseases normally relies on endogenous resistance within the plant itself. In the absence of resistance, viral infections can be particularly devastating to a crop. This has stimulated efforts to engineer viral resistance into transgenic crops. The commercial cultivation of transgenic squash and papaya varieties with virus-resistance genes has already been approved in some tropical regions of developed countries, and may soon be extended to some developing countries. In the medium term, the use of transgenesis and MAS to produce virus resistance in crops is a highly promising area, and is one case where this approach may well be the best option for combating this class of crop diseases.

As discussed previously, there are several effective biological strategies to replace or complement the chemical control of bacterial, fungal and nematode pathogens. Examples include IPM and biocontrol, and these approaches will benefit from new advances in biotechnology. In many developing countries, and indeed elsewhere, there are increasing financial, safety, and environmental advantages to such strategies, especially given the widespread need for increased sustainability in agricultural practices. Another future option that could carry a similar range of benefits is the development of endogenous resistance to pests and pathogens through genetic modification (Gressel *et al.*, 2004) or conventional breeding, possibly assisted by molecular genetics. Technically speaking, and although several promising approaches have been demonstrated, this has been much more problematic to address than viral or insect resistance, where single-gene resistance traits are more common. The broader question of engineering plants with increased disease resistance, regarding both what genes to use and how to ensure that they are expressed in the right place at the right time, has been examined by Gurr and Rushton (2005a, 2005b). The severe agronomic impact of pathogens and the limitations of chemical control have

stimulated a wide variety of approaches to engineering resistance in crops. For example, in China, the *Xa21* bacterial blight resistance gene has been transferred to five rice varieties (Zhai *et al.*, 2000). In India, molecular MAS was successfully used in a backcross breeding program to introgress three genes (*Xa21*, *xa13*, and *xa5*) for bacterial blight resistance into a local susceptible rice variety (Sundaram *et al.*, 2009). Anti-fungal agents such as phytoalexins or chitinases have also been expressed in plants (Shah, Rommens and Beachy, 1995). However, in developing fungal resistance within crops, it is difficult to produce broad-spectrum durable resistance without transferring huge numbers of genes. In fact, fungi often spontaneously evolve in the field, overcoming the resistance. It is possible that, in the longer term, additional transgenic crops resistant to bacterial, fungal and nematode pathogens traits will be developed but, at present, non-transgenic approaches may often be the more pragmatic option.

As far as resistance to pest insects is concerned, current approaches focus on genes conferring antibiosis or properties that adversely affect insect physiology. This type of resistance may become futile in the long run because insects can develop mechanisms to overcome the resistance. Another possible drawback of antibiosis-based pest resistance is that it can affect target and non-target organisms, damaging the crop-associated diversity. A promising research area is the development of pest resistance based on antixenosis, or plant properties that deter or prevent pest colonization by interfering with their behaviour (van Emden, 2002). Although generally under multigenic control, and thus more difficult to manipulate genetically, antixenosis mechanisms are more specific and more environmentally benign. Antixenosis genes have been recently identified and mapped in several plant species, for instance in wheat (Castro *et al.*, 2005), but the pathway to practical applications seems quite long.

Newly emerging threats

New crop pests and diseases are constantly emerging and, with global transportation and trade, can spread rapidly across the world. Some biotechnologies can be used both in surveillance and in breeding programmes to detect and then combat such threats. For example, one of the most serious crop diseases to emerge in recent years is a highly virulent strain of the wheat black stem rust, Puccinia graminis (Ayliffe, Singh and Lagudah, 2008; FAO, 2008b). Termed Ug99, the rust first emerged in Uganda in 1998-99, spread around Eastern Africa in the early 2000s, and has now been detected in the Arabian Peninsula and Iran, with a high likelihood of further spread to major wheat growing areas of the Indian subcontinent (Hodson, Singh and Dixon, 2008). This disease has already overcome most of the rust resistance genes bred into wheat over the past 50 years since the early days of the Green Revolution. The US Department of Agriculture's Agricultural Research Service (USDA-ARS) has recently reported the presence of an even more virulent variant of Ug99 in Kenya (Comis, 2007). Over one billion people live in potentially affected areas and almost 120 MT of annual wheat production is threatened. The serious threats to food security posed by Ug99 and other emerging crop pathogens will only be satisfactorily addressed by an international effort using all available methodologies. In the case of Ug99, the threat is now being tackled by the Borlaug Global Rust Initiative, a multinational programme whose members include CIMMYT, the International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA), the Gates Foundation, FAO and USDA-ARS (Kaplan, 2009).

Two key areas where biotechnologies can quickly contribute to combating newly emerging threats are surveillance/detection and breeding for resistance. It has been alleged that the initial detection of the Ug99 outbreak was delayed due to a (perhaps understandable) reduction in the disease monitoring work by CIMMYT after a period of 40 years without rust outbreaks (Stokstad, 2007). In the future, improved molecular kits, such as microarray-based systems, might enable surveillance to be carried out more cost effectively and extensively, possibly by larger teams of non-experts supervised by smaller numbers of experts. By their nature, new threats are unknown, but the more we understand about the relationships between crops and pests/disease organisms in general, the better placed we will be to mount rapid and effective responses. Rapid identification of new pathogens, and especially their genome sequences, will facilitate the development of control strategies based on previous experience with related disease organisms. Such measures have already been of immense benefit in the case of new human or animal pathogens, such as the

coronavirus that causes severe acute respiratory syndrome or the virulent influenza A-type viruses. For example, within days of the April 2009 outbreak of influenza A (H1N1) in Mexico, the entire genome sequence of the virus was publicly available online (NIH, 2009).

(ii) Abiotic stresses

Abiotic stresses are a particular concern in regions such as the Middle East and parts of Africa where climate change or increasing soil salinization are threatening crop yields in more than 170 Mha of farmland (Ashraf, Ozturk and Athar, 2009). Drought and salinization are already the most common causes of sporadic famine in arid and semi-arid regions, and are one of the most significant threats to agricultural productivity. Extended episodes of aridity, normally caused by changes in rainfall patterns, were associated with the collapse of numerous civilizations around the world during the past 8 000 years (Murphy, 2007c). The increasing scarcity of water resources or fertile soils is likely to cause human conflicts at local and international levels that will exacerbate food shortages in the affected regions still further. Although abiotic stress is often regarded as a primarily external (i.e. environmental) factor in crop performance, there is also a great deal of untapped genetic variation in responses to such stresses in all the major crop groups (Boyer, 1982; Ribaut and Betrán, 1999; Forster et al., 2000; Ribaut et al., 2000; Bänziger et al., 2006; Harris, 2005). In particular, genetic diversity within crop groups, whether in the form of wild relatives or conserved landraces or other genetic resources, can be a powerful source of useful variation for abiotic stress tolerance (Almekinders and Struik, 2000; Singh, Ocampo and Robertson, 1998; Langridge, Paltridge and Fincher, 2006). Biotechnology can play a major role here, by enabling the exploration of large germplasm collections without expensive testing against adverse environmental conditions. For example, an international effort to identify genetic loci associated with drought tolerance has recently started under the auspices of the Generation Challenge Programme (www.generationcp.org).

Another potential component of abiotic stress tolerance in crops that has been much neglected by researchers and breeders is the rhizosphere, the soil region around the plant roots. While the structural and inorganic components of the rhizosphere have been well studied, very little work has been done on biological communities such as rhizosphere flora (Ruane *et al.*, 2008), which can both promote plant growth and reduce the impact of stresses such as drought (Figueiredo *et al.*, 2008), salinity (Zhang *et al.*, 2008), and poor soil nutrition (Shaharoona *et al.*, 2008). While this approach is still in its infancy and has yet to be applied in developing countries directly, it carries the promise of addressing stress tolerance in the context of lower-input nutrient management systems that would be highly relevant to such regions (Adesemoye, Torbert and Kloepper, 2008; Yang, Kloepper and Ryu, 2009).

It has been claimed that there is significant potential for transgenesis in modifying stress-related traits (Wang, Vinocur and Altman, 2003). However, as researchers in the field have pointed out, our limited knowledge of stress-associated metabolism in plants still constitutes a major handicap to effect such manipulations in practice (Vinocur and Altman, 2005). Another problem that farmers and breeders have long been aware of is the synergistic effect of different stresses on crop performance. It is often the combination of such stresses that is so deleterious to the crop in the field, rather than the effect of a single category of stress. However, molecular biologists have tended to focus (for understandable reasons) on single stresses applied in highly controlled environments. Unfortunately for this piecemeal approach, recent studies have shown that the simultaneous application of several stresses gives rise to unique responses that cannot be predicted by extrapolating from effects of stresses given individually (Mittler, 2005). The simultaneous presence of multiple stresses is the norm in open environments, so the success of molecular approaches to addressing them in crops will probably require a broader and more holistic approach than the somewhat reductive strategies employed hitherto.

Salinity

Salt and nutrient stresses together affect over 100 Mha of farmland, resulting in low outputs, poor human nutrition and reduced educational and employment opportunities (Ashraf, Ozturk and Athar, 2009). Salt tolerance was one of the earliest traits selected by breeders in intensive farming

systems. Indeed, in ancient Mesopotamia about 4 200 years ago, Sumerian farm managers switched from emmer wheat to intensive cultivation of more salt-tolerant forms of barley in an effort to combat increasing salinization and aridity (Murphy, 2007c). Efforts to select salt-tolerant crop varieties, while partially successful, have been hampered by the complexity of the trait and the number of minor genes involved. One problem facing breeders is that crop improvement is often negated by a lack of effective germplasm evaluation during the full growth cycle of the plant (Munns, 2002, 2005; Munns and Tester, 2008). It can also be difficult to ascertain which mechanism of salt adaptation is being expressed in a particular species or developmental stage. Ashraf *et al.* (2008) have listed the following reasons for limited success in tackling salt tolerance: 1) breeding is time-consuming and labour intensive, 2) deleterious genes are often transferred alongside desirable traits, and 3) reproductive barriers obstruct the transfer of favourable alleles from wide crosses. In the future, breeding technologies, such as MAS and assisted wide crosses, will enable breeders to address these challenges with more success than previously. A concerted R&D focus on breeding for salinity traits should be a priority during the next decade.

Salt tolerance has been a particular focus of claims for significant results from transgenic approaches. One of the key prerequisites for success in a transgenic strategy to develop salt tolerance is that it should be regulated as a simple genetic trait, i.e. one involving a very small number of genes. Although such apparently simple genetic regulation has been reported in some laboratory studies (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2001), it seems more likely that salt tolerance in most crops in the field is a rather complex multigene trait that has evolved differently in several plant groups (Flowers, 2004; Rozema and Flowers, 2008). Meanwhile there have been some promising successes for developing salt tolerance in model plants in the laboratory. For example, transgenic tobacco engineered to accumulate elevated levels of mannitol was able to withstand high salinity (Tarczynski, Jensen and Bonhert, 1992). Laboratory and small-scale field studies have shown that the accumulation of compounds, such as betaine or trehalose, in transgenic plants may also enhance salt tolerance (Nuccio *et al.*, 1999). Finally, rapeseed plants expressing an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar transport protein tolerated as much as 250 mM sodium chloride (about half the concentration of sea water and enough to kill most crops) without significant impact on seed yield or composition (Zhang *et al.*, 2001).

Despite these encouraging reports, it is not clear whether such relatively simple modifications will lead to a sustained effect on crop yields in more complex real-world cropping systems, where osmotic stress is often linked with a combination of other factors such as periodic aridity, mineral/salt buildup and/or erosion. This means that the jury is still very much out on the amenability of salt tolerance in the field to modification by transgenesis (Yamaguchi and Blumwald, 2005). It is known that salt tolerance must be an especially complex trait, physiologically speaking, because there are so many tolerance mechanisms in salt-adapted plants in the wild. This should lead to some caution about claims in published studies that the transfer of one or a few genes can increase the tolerance of a wide range of field crops to saline conditions. As stated in Flowers (2004): It is surprising that, in spite of the complexity of salt tolerance, there are commonly claims in the literature that the transfer of a single or a few genes can increase the tolerance of plants to saline conditions. (...) After ten years of research using transgenic plants to alter salt tolerance, the value of this approach has yet to be established in the field.

The way forward here is to investigate as many realistic strategies as possible. But, given our present state of knowledge, it is probably more appropriate to focus limited breeding resources on non-transgenic approaches while supporting research into the physiology and molecular genetics of salt tolerance for potential future application. An example of such a broad-based research programme closely allied to developing country crop improvement is the "Genomics towards gene discovery" project (CIMMYT, 2009). This project is aimed at understanding complex traits, such as salt or drought stress via a genomics approach using developing country crops where increasingly extensive genetic maps are already available. These crops include Andean roots and tubers, barley, cassava, chickpea, coconut, cowpea, finger millet, forages, groundnut, lentil, maize, Musa, pearl millet, Phaseolus bean, pigeon pea, potato, rice, sorghum, soybean, sweetpotato, wheat, and yam. A particularly important aspect of the project is to investigate the

interactive effects of stress responses, whether synergistic or antagonistic, with the aim of developing multiple stress tolerance in crops.

A project in India to conserve mangrove genetic resources is studying and characterizing the genes involved in salinity tolerance from these plants and their associated species, which are capable of surviving in highly saline environments. The genes thus isolated were transferred to crop plants such as rice to generate crops with enhanced stress tolerance. Initial analyses in the laboratory have been promising (Raghayan and Parida, 2006).

Drought tolerance

Drought tolerance, like salt tolerance, appears to be controlled by a complex set of traits that may have evolved on numerous occasions as separate mechanisms in different plants and according to the dynamics (i.e. timing and intensity) of water shortages. In the near future, it is likely that aridity will increase in several parts of the world with FAO estimating that by 2025, 1.8 billion people will be living in regions of water scarcity (FAO, 2009g). This will be caused by factors such as localized lower rainfall due to climate change, and the diversion of upstream water supplies from rivers, e.g. for dams or irrigation, thus depriving farmers in downstream regions. In the case of rice alone, over 70 Mha are already affected by drought stress (Ashraf, Ozturk and Athar, 2009). Given the predicted increase in long-term aridity, it is surprising that until relatively recently there have been relatively few well resourced attempts to produce drought-tolerant crops, even by publicly funded organizations. Such research is complicated by the sporadic nature and hugely varying intensity of drought or aridity episodes in the affected cropping systems. This also highlights the importance of the concept of genotype x environment x management, which is a crucial but highly complex multifactorial relationship that affects all efforts to select for drought tolerance and other abiotic stress traits. An integrated approach, taking into consideration several aspects, is therefore advisable (Ruane et al., 2008).

Meanwhile, basic research using reverse genetics and other genomic approaches is beginning to give a few clues about some aspects of drought tolerance mechanisms. For example, it was recently reported that the *erecta* gene, involved in transpiration efficiency, might regulate some of the genetic variation for drought tolerance in the model plant, *Arabidopsis* (Masle, Gilmore and Farquhar, 2005). Although the data are still very preliminary in this case and do not directly relate to major crop systems, the general approach merits further attention. However, as with salt tolerance, it may turn out that in a practical field situation many other genes are involved in addition to *erecta* or its equivalents in other plant families.

As with salinity, advanced non-transgenic breeding methods are available to improve the agronomic performance of existing drought-tolerant crops in arid regions. Of such crops, one of the most important is pearl millet, which is grown on more than 40 Mha in Africa. The similarity in gene order, or synteny, between the pearl millet genome and that of the other major cereals (Moore et al., 1995; Bolot et al., 2009) means that, once their loci are identified, droughttolerance traits could potentially be introduced into local varieties via MAS. Another option is to use wide crossing and tissue culture methods to cross millet with one of the other high-yielding cereal crop species to create a new drought-tolerant, high-yielding hybrid species. Breeders have already used such a strategy to create the drought-adapted rye/wheat hybrid, triticale, which is a completely new man-made plant species. Further breeding of triticale is now under way to extend its agronomic performance and drought tolerance, especially in arid regions (Mergoum et al., 2005). A combination of breeding approaches by ICRISAT and national organizations has generated significant varietal improvements for pearl millet and sorghum. For example, in southern Africa these new varieties occupy 34 percent of the millet area and 23 percent of the sorghum area (CGIAR, 2005). In some cases, farmer participation has been a key element in varietal improvement. One example is the early maturing millets that can enable dryland communities to get through the "hungry season" just prior to the main harvest when the previous year's grain has already been exhausted. Here, Namibian farmers selected a variety that matured 4-6 weeks earlier than traditional millets. Within a few years, the new variety covered half the

millet area of Namibia. From an initial R&D investment of USD 3 million, a sustainable annual return of USD 1.5 million in yield benefits has been achieved (CGIAR, 2005).

At present, the major transgenic work on drought tolerance is being done in the private sector. In some cases, genes are being transferred from other species, but companies are reportedly using multipronged approaches involving both conventional breeding and biotechnology. The resulting varieties are likely to carry very specific trait combinations, such as enhanced root growth for maize grown under high-input conditions (Castiglioni *et al.*, 2008; Edgerton, 2009). These approaches may well highlight possible future breeding strategies or target traits in developing country staples, but may not be directly applicable to some of the less intensively managed crops. Also, such approaches are not always realistic in the less well funded context of public-sector, public-good orientated crop improvement, especially in developing countries. One exception here might be the PPP between Monsanto, the African Agricultural Technology Foundation and CIMMYT, which includes funding from the Gates Foundation and is aimed at developing drought-tolerant maize varieties in Africa (Water Efficient Maize for Africa). Other approaches to drought-tolerant maize development at CIMMYT are focusing on using genomics and MAS for identification and introgression of drought-related traits in existing germplasm.

(iii) Yield

Maximizing crop yield is probably the most desired aim of any farmer. By increasing yield per hectare, more people can be fed from the same area of land. Higher yields also mean that less land is required for crop production, relieving pressure to develop pristine and often environmentally sensitive habitats such as rain forests or species-rich wetlands. It is a telling fact that the great majority of increased crop production over human history has occurred due to the expansion of arable cultivation rather than increased yield per hectare. For example, prior to the introduction of scientific breeding techniques in the early twentieth century, grain yields across the world rarely exceeded 2 T/ha, even in the most favourable environments (Ruttan, 1999). The application of Mendelian genetics was an important step forward in realizing yield gains, but some of the most spectacular progress came from new hybrid technologies, especially as applied to maize. Following the almost universal adoption of hybrid varieties, US maize yields increased from 1.8 T/ha in the 1920s to 7.8 T/ha in the 1990s (Murphy, 2007c). It has been estimated that at least 60 percent of the increase in maize yields was attributable to advances in breeding, with the remaining 40 percent resulting from improved crop management, including more effective inputs and mechanization (Duvick, 1997).

These relatively recent biologically-attributable yield gains in commercial grain crops should give us optimism in greater investment aimed at applying a combination of modern breeding and management technologies to the broad range of developing country crops where yields still remain well below their physiological limits. As noted by one observer: *In most developing countries, yields are still so far below existing biological ceilings that substantial gains can be realized from a strategy emphasizing traditional crop breeding combined with higher levels of technical inputs, better soil and crop management, and first-generation biotechnology crop protection technology.* (Ruttan, 1999).

Yield traits are increasingly becoming priority targets in developing countries as breeders improve their understanding of the genetics of indigenous crops, and hence their capacity to manipulate these often complex characters. Yield gains of major temperate crops have levelled off in recent years, and genetic modification has so far made a limited contribution to the increase in intrinsic yields and to the yield capacity of plants in standard conditions (Gurian-Sherman, 2009). In contrast, the capacity for dramatic yield improvements of many developing countries' crops, especially "orphan" crops, remains largely unrealized (Qaim and Zilberman, 2003). Semi-dwarf cereals were the basis of the Green Revolution of the 1960s and 1970s. However, the identification of these key traits involved the selection of serendipitous variants, with little understanding of the developmental processes underlying the traits. Thanks to our emerging knowledge of plant development and genomics, it is now becoming increasingly feasible to consider the rational redesign of crops (Sinclair, Purcell and Sneller, 2004). For example,

gibberellins are important regulators of plant height and hence mutations or gene deletions that either reduce the activity of known gibberellin biosynthetic enzymes or compromise signal transduction pathways involving gibberellins can be confidently predicted to result in the kind of dwarf phenotype seen in modern cereals (Hedden and Kamiya, 1999; Sasaki *et al.*, 2002). The new understanding of the genetic basis of domestication syndrome traits in many crops, coupled with detailed genomic sequence data, and genome synteny in major plant groups, will allow breeders to move key traits between crops or to domesticate new species (Motamayor and Lanaud, 2002; Murphy, 2007c; Weeden, 2007; Burger, Chapman and Burke, 2008; Sang, 2009).

There is a great deal of basic research in industrialized countries of possible relevance to future yield improvements, although robust mechanisms for the application of such research, especially in developing countries, are often lacking. Two basic approaches to yield improvements of particular promise are the manipulation of seed development and the manipulation of plant architecture. Crop yields can be increased by developing larger seeds or by manipulating seeds to accumulate more of the desired edible products (e.g. starch or oil) and less of the unwanted products. Alternatively, plant architecture can be manipulated to maximize yield-bearing structures, such as seeds and fruits, and reduce non-productive structures, such as excessive branching, thick seed coats, or tall, slender stems. In principle, plant architecture could be redesigned to give higher yielding wheat-like maize plants or dwarf banana, oil palm, or coconut palm trees (Lev-Yadun, Abbo and Doebley, 2002). In order to exploit likely developments in these and other areas of basic plant science for practical crop improvement, it will be crucial for research capacities to be built up further in developing countries and for greater use to be made of molecular markers, especially among public-sector crop researchers in industrialized countries.

(iv) Nutritional quality

Quality traits such as increased nutritional content have been selected by farmers for over ten millennia (Murphy, 2007c). In principle, varieties can be selected/engineered to produce edible parts that contain specified amounts of macronutrients (starch, protein, and oil) and/or micronutrients (vitamins and minerals). The type of starch, protein, or oil in seeds and fruits can also be modified to some extent by both transgenic and non-transgenic methods (Korth, 2008; Newell-McGloughlin, 2008; Slater, Scott and Fowler, 2008). But, in future, more precise manipulations may be possible to produce so-called "designer crops" (Murphy, 2002). For example, there are several cases where the amount or potential nutritional value of seed or tuber protein has been improved by transgenesis, although no new crop varieties have yet been commercially released (Chakraborty, Chakraborty and Datta, 2000; Lee et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2003; Popelka, Terryn and Higgins, 2004). The manipulation of fatty acid composition of oil crops can add to their nutritional and commercial value, and transgenic approaches are extending the range of fatty acids in future crops to include long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturates that cannot normally be synthesized by higher plants (Murphy, 2006). Many, but not all, of these manipulations will involve transgenesis and most of them lie in the medium-to-long-term future rather than being immediate practical options for developing country crop improvement.

Biofortification

Almost all global crop staples are nutritionally deficient in some respect (Murphy, 2007c). This means that, when populations are forced to rely on a narrow range of food crops, they can suffer from varying degrees of malnutrition, with young children invariably faring the worst. While an ideal solution to this problem is to reduce poverty, hence enabling farmers to purchase a wider range of foods, another approach is to improve the nutritional value of existing subsistence crops. The examples below illustrate some of the methods that are beginning to be used by breeders to increase levels of key nutrients, such as vitamins and minerals, in a strategy known as biofortification (Nestel *et al.*, 2006; Gilani and Nasim, 2007; Hirschi, 2008; Mayer, Pfeiffer and Beyer, 2008; Stomph, Jiang and Struik, 2009). Several vitamin-enhanced fruit varieties for Asia and Africa, including a high-carotene tomato for adaptation to semi-arid areas of West Africa are being developed (AVRDC, 2009).

The HarvestPlus consortium focuses on the three dietary micronutrients, namely iron, zinc, and vitamin A, recognized by the World Health Organization as particularly limiting in many subsistence populations in developing countries. HarvestPlus has breeding programmes utilizing all available biotechnologies, including MAS and genomics, for six of the most important staple foods crops, i.e. rice, wheat, maize, cassava, sweet potato, and common beans (Cakmak, Graham and Welch, 2004). In addition to enhancing micronutrient levels in selected crops, its objectives are to assess the bioavailability of micronutrients in foods as actually consumed by the population to facilitate farmer uptake of the varieties and measure their long-term nutritional impacts (HarvestPlus, 2007). The Vitamin A partnership for Africa (VITAA) is focused on vitamin A in the sweetpotato (CIP-VITAA, 2008). Sweetpotato is the fifth most important global crop on a fresh weight basis and is especially important in Africa. Traditional white varieties have little vitamin A and over 3 million children in the region suffer from vitamin A-related blindness. Vitamin A deficiency is also a leading cause of early childhood death and a major risk factor for pregnant women. New orange-fleshed varieties with high vitamin A levels, obtained through conventional plant breeding schemes, could potentially replace white sweetpotato varieties that had previously been favoured by farmers throughout Africa (Low, Walker and Hijmans, 2001; Tumwegamire et al., 2004). One future challenge is to provide enough planting material (normally as bundles of vine cuttings) to meet the high levels of farmer demand. Micropropagation can assist in this respect. Other targets are to improve post-harvest handling and food-preparation methods at community level to ensure retention of β-carotene (provitamin-A) levels, and to assess the impact of orange-fleshed sweetpotatoes on the health status of HIV/AIDS-affected communities.

The best known transgenic approach to biofortification is "golden rice", developed in the 1990s by a Swiss/German public-sector group (Ye *et al.*, 2000). This rice variety has yellow rather than white grains due to the accumulation of β -carotene, which is normally absent from polished rice grains. More recently, an improved version of golden rice has been developed with a reported 23-fold increase in provitamin-A levels (Paine *et al.*, 2005). The development of laboratory versions of golden rice was just the start of a lengthy process of backcrossing into local varieties and field tests that has already lasted a decade. In 2005–07, the original golden rice trait was crossed into the popular IR64 variety at IRRI, and outdoor field trials of 20 potential breeding lines started in 2008. Field trials of the improved golden rice variety show five times more provitamin-A than the original lines. It is estimated that the earliest date the original golden rice will become available to farmers is 2011, while the improved lines might be ready for release by 2015 (GMO Compass, 2008; IRRI, 2008). A further challenge will be to ensure that newly expressed provitamin-A can withstand processing, storage, and cooking, while remaining bioavailable after consumption.

(v) Narrow genetic basis of crop production

Since the beginning of agriculture, more than 7 000 species of plants have been cultivated or collected. Many remain important to local communities where exploiting their potential is crucial to achieving food security, but nowadays it is estimated that only 30 crops provide 95 percent of human food energy needs and just four of them - rice, wheat, maize and potatoes - provide more than 60 percent. The domestication of new crops by advanced breeding methods is an exciting prospect for broadening the genetic base of crop production and extending the potential of agriculture to provide us with food and other materials in the climatically uncertain times that lie ahead. Recent advances in genomics and the manipulation of complex traits have clear applications in the domestication of new crops (Varshney, Graner and Sorrells, 2005; Varshney and Tuberosa, 2007b). Our emerging understanding of the genetic basis of domestication traits will aid their manipulation via advanced methods such as MAS (Murphy, 2007c). This will accelerate breeding programmes aimed at improving agronomic performance and enable the faster and more reliable multiplication of seeds or plantlets for dissemination to growers. For example, Bioversity International has recommended that partially domesticated or undomesticated tropical fruits be used as alternative sources of vitamins. In a recent survey of southeast Asian fruits, ten candidate species with high vitamin A levels were found, including durians (*Durio* spp.), milk apple (Syzygium malaccense), rose apple (S. jambos), and button mangosteen (Garcinia prainiana) (Khoo et al., 2008). Some of these fruits could be grown as cash crops. Their further improvement, and

that of other newly domesticated plants with great potential in developing countries, would be greatly facilitated by biotechnologies such as MAS (Murphy, 2007a). From records of indigenous cultures, we know of at least 1 650 tropical forest species that are potential horticultural crops. Many of these plants are already adapted to areas unsuitable for existing crops and could therefore extend local food-producing capacity without interfering with existing crops.

(vi) Sustainable & environmental-friendly crop production

Intensive agriculture using primarily human and animal inputs has been practiced in various regions of the world for well over four millennia. Examples include irrigated barley/wheat production in ancient Mesopotamia, paddy rice in east Asia, and the milpa system in the Americas (Murphy, 2007c). Over the past century, however, the availability of cheap energy and raw materials has facilitated a massive expansion of intensive farming across the globe that does not depend on biological input. In particular, the introduction of inorganic fertilizers and new crop varieties bred for efficient fertilizer response has been the cornerstone of the Green Revolution, which largely alleviated the crisis in food security in developing countries during the 1960s and 1970s (Murphy, 2007a). During the past century, intensive arable farming has spread globally as more and more land has been brought into cultivation. It is now generally agreed that humankind is approaching limits both in the amount of land available for future agricultural expansion and in the sustainability of intensive, high-input, fossil-fuel dependent farming systems. But there remains a fundamental tension between understandable concerns for the long-term sustainability of crop production with the lowest feasible environmental footprint and the undoubted requirement for higher yields to feed expanding and increasingly urbanized populations, especially with the added uncertainties of climate change and a possible consequent reduction in usable arable land. This complex and interrelated set of challenges can be addressed, at least in part, by biotechnologies, in combination with other approaches.

In the recent past, environmental and sustainability concerns about cropping systems have frequently been the drivers for technology-based solutions. Examples already discussed include IPM or biocontrol to replace pesticide inputs, and biofertilizers or legume inter-cropping to replace inorganic nitrogen inputs. Such methods are widely used in developing countries, but there remains great scope for their refinement and extension to a wider range of crop types. The replacement of inorganic inputs by biological agents can have multiple benefits such as reduced energy use, enhanced environmental credentials (e.g. the reduction or elimination of input residues), lower costs and improved safety for farmers who would no longer need to purchase or handle so many chemical inputs. The use of advanced breeding technologies to create significant yield gains, especially if these can be achieved without greatly increasing inputs, has clear environmental implications because it reduces pressure to bring more land into cultivation. Clearly, many of these developments remain aspirational at present but the fact remains that biotechnologies can play a greater role in enhancing the sustainability and mitigating the environmental impact of farming. One emerging area that will become increasingly important in the future is that of agro-ecological system dynamics, as applied to breeding strategies and technological interventions. This area relates especially to the implications of climate change and the manner in which we view adaptation, uncertainty, vulnerability and resilience. A useful, critical discussion of this area, with a commentary on biotechnology-based strategies, is provided by Thompson and Scoones (2009).

Decisions to introduce more sustainable and/or environmentally friendly crop production methods have sometimes thrown up both threats and opportunities that can be addressed via biotechnology. For example, the voluntary implementation in Malaysia of a no-burn policy when replacing ageing oil palm trees led to an increase in infestation rates by the virulent fungal pathogen, *Ganoderma boninense*, which causes basal stem rot (Bridge *et al.*, 2000). Public sector researchers in Malaysia and Indonesia responded by developing new molecular technologies for the early detection of this problematic disease and innovative microbial agents for its effective treatment (Flood, Bridge and Holderness, 2000; Soepena, Purba and Pawirosukarto, 2000; Panchal and Bridge, 2005; Bréton *et al.*, 2006; Paterson, 2007; Sundram *et al.*, 2008).

(vii) Conclusions

- There is a wide range of existing and emerging problems related to food security that can be tackled by crop biotechnologies in combination with other technologies.
- Key areas include pest/disease control, salt/drought-tolerance, crop yield/quality, and the sustainability and environmental impact of crop production.
- The knowledge gained from basic plant research will underpin future crop improvements, but effective and robust mechanisms for the rapid and effective translation of research discoveries into public-good agriculture remain to be developed.
- Maximum benefit will be derived if robust plant breeding and crop management
 programmes have ready access to all the modern crop biotechnologies, both transgenic
 and non-transgenic, to address food security issues. This will require additional
 investments in capacity building for R&D in developing countries.
- Technology implementation alone is not sufficient to address such complex questions as food security. Biotechnologies will make new options available, but their uptake and effective exploitation will rely on an intricate web of cross-sectoral factors.

7. Identifying options for developing countries

Based on the overview and previous analyses contained in this document, a number of specific options can be identified for developing countries to help them make informed decisions regarding the adoption of biotechnologies in the future, such as when and if they should employ one or more crop biotechnologies and, if they decide to use them, how to ensure the successful application of the chosen biotechnologies to enhance food security in the future.

The identified options are grouped under the same main categories as the lessons learned from the past (Section 5). For illustration and comparison purposes, both of these are also summarized in Table 1, together with a set of Priorities for Action for the international community (Section 8).

A. Documentation of development, adoption & impact

Developing countries should undertake national-level documentation and analysis of the adoption and socio-economic impacts of biotechnological innovation for crops to advise policy-makers on the cost/benefit implications of biotechnology application. This includes the collection of data, studies, etc.

B. Investments in Biotechnology R&D

- a. Developing countries, possibly working in regional groups, should build up indigenous research, development, and advisory capacities for the generation, assessment and adoption of appropriate biotechnologies.
- b. Adequate, consistent, stable investments should be ensured from indigenous resources to public-sector biotechnology R&D.

C. Linkages Biotechnology/Other agricultural R&D

- a. Investments in biotechnology R&D cannot be made at the expense of current spending in other research fields.
- b. Biotechnological research should be more effectively linked to strong and well resourced R&D programmes on crop breeding.

D. Policy development & setting priorities

a. Countries should develop expertise to ensure they can make sovereign decisions about adopting biotechnologies and carry out their own independent, broad-based risk/benefit analyses.

- b. Countries should prioritize research activities to address the greatest food security needs, with special reference to the needs of smallholders.
- c. Countries should ensure the appropriate involvement of the relevant stakeholders in decision-making processes.
- d. Decisions on crop biotechnology tools to address the problems of smallholders should reflect the appropriateness and socio-economic impacts of the tools.
- e. Independent public sector organizations should engage and communicate more effectively with society at large about the role of all crop improvement/management biotechnologies for food security.

E. Capacity development

Countries should develop the biotechnology capacities of National Agricultural Research Systems in their three dimensions (policy development, institutional set-up and human capacities).

F. Regulation of biotechnology use

- a. All countries should be encouraged to establish consistent and transparent, evidence-based decision-making processes to regulate crop biotechnology R&D and its application.
- b. The biotechnology-related regulations should be developed in harmony with other national regulations, especially those relating to plant and animal health and food safety. For this purpose, the adoption of the Biosecurity¹ approach is strongly encouraged.
- c. While it is essential that decisions on adopting biotechnologies are ultimately based on verifiable scientific evidence, public participation should, where appropriate, form part of the decision-making process.
- d. Developing countries can often act more effectively in regional groups when engaging with international trade and conventions.

G. Uptake of biotechnologies

- a. Biotechnology development strategies should be strongly linked with strategies for its widespread dissemination.
- b. Stronger extension services, with expertise in modern agronomy and linked with participatory crop improvement programmes, should be an integral part of national/regional agricultural support structures.
- c. Seed production and distribution systems should be enhanced.

H. Shared access to technologies

- a. Effective and equitable mechanisms for PPP should be established where appropriate.
- b. Developing countries should consider, where appropriate, sharing technologies, skills and knowledge with each other by means of South-South collaboration platforms or mechanisms.

¹ A cross-sectoral national approach to the management of biological risks associated with food and agriculture, including plant and animal health, food safety and biosafety of GMOs.

8. Identifying priorities for action for the international community

The international community, including FAO and other UN organizations as well as NGOs, donors and development agencies, can play a key role in supporting developing countries by providing a framework for international cooperation and funding support for the generation, adaptation and adoption of appropriate biotechnologies. Here, we propose a set of Priorities for Action that will assist the international community in playing this role. As mentioned in Section 7, these Priorities for Actions are also summarized in Table 1 together with the lessons learned from the past and the options for developing countries.

A. Documentation of development, adoption & impact

International agencies should systematically collect and systematize documentation on development and adoption of crop biotechnologies and analyze their socio-economic impacts in developing countries. This includes compiling statistics, establishing and maintaining biotechnology application databases, studies, etc.

B. Investments in Biotechnology R&D

Donors and international funding agencies are encouraged to dedicate an appropriate share of their assistance projects to promoting and strengthening public biotechnology R&D in developing countries.

C. Linkages Biotechnology/Other agricultural R&D

- a. Technical assistance in biotechnology R&D cannot be done to the detriment of present spending in other research fields.
- b. Technical assistance in biotechnology R&D should always support effective and intimate links to strong plant-breeding, agronomic research and extension programmes.

D. Policy development & priority setting

- a. The international community should assist developing countries in strengthening capacities for biotechnology policy development and long-term planning.
- b. The international community should assist developing countries to enhance the capacities of National Agricultural Research Systems to involve relevant stakeholders in decision-making processes.
- c. International organizations should more effectively apprize society as a whole of the role that crop improvement/management biotechnologies have in food security.
- d. International research and development organizations should develop innovative approaches for the appropriate inclusion of the public in decision-making processes in developing countries.

E. Capacity development

The international community should help developing countries enhance the biotechnology capacities of National Agricultural Research Systems in their three dimensions (policy development, institutional set-up and human capacities).

F. Regulation of biotechnology utilization

- a. The international community should continue its efforts to assist developing countries to establish robust national regulatory frameworks in areas such as biosafety, food safety, plant health protection, the protection of intellectual property and the protection of traditional knowledge.
- b. The international community should promote the adoption of the Biosecurity approach to assist in the framing of holistic and integrated biotechnology regulation.

- c. The international community should assist developing countries in enhancing their institutional capacities for regulatory development and enforcement.
- d. Regulatory procedures should be regionally and/or internationally harmonized to facilitate international trade and scientific collaboration. When requested, FAO and other international agencies should continue to offer a meeting place for governments to discuss common governance measures.

G. Uptake of biotechnologies

- a. Biotechnology knowledge and expertise should be included in extension, educational and advisory services to facilitate uptake by farmers and the spread of reliable public knowledge about crop biotechnologies.
- b. Development agencies should assist developing countries in enhancing seed production systems to facilitate farmers' utilization of the fruits of crop biotechnologies.

H. Shared access to technologies

- a. The international community should facilitate effective mechanisms for South-South collaboration including:
 - (i) the training of scientists and technicians;
 - (ii) joint research projects (pooling complementary resources to work on projects of common interest)
 - (iii) the sharing of technologies, techniques, protocols and materials;
 - (iv) the sharing of information relevant for biotechnology development and adoption.
 - (v) Assistance in the establishment of mechanisms for the dissemination to developing countries of biotechnologies developed in industrialized countries (North-South collaboration, PPPs).

Table 1. Summary of the lessons learned from the past (from Section 5), options for developing countries (Section 7) & Priorities for action for the international community (Section 8).

CO	mmunity (Section 8).				
Co	nclusions & lessons learnt	_	tions for developing intries		iorities for action for the ernational community
Do	cumentation of development,	adop	otion & impact		
1.	Information related to the application and socio-economic impact of biotechnologies in developing countries is very scant and often inconsistent.	i.	Developing countries should undertake national-level documentation and analysis of the adoption and socioeconomic impacts of crop biotechnology.	a.	International agencies should systematically collect and systematize documentation on development and adoption of crop biotechnologies and analyze their socio-economic impacts in developing countries.
Inv	estments in Biotechnology R	&D			
2.	Crop biotechnologies in general have developed incrementally over the past century, with accelerated progress in the last two decades	ii.	i. Developing countries, possibly working in regional groups, should build up indigenous research, development, and advisory capacities for the generation, assessment and adoption of appropriate biotechnologies. ii. Adequate, consistent, stable investments in public-sector R&D should be ensured from indigenous resources to biotechnology R&D.	<i>b.</i>	Donors and international funding agencies are encouraged to dedicate an appropriate share of their assistance projects to promote and strengthen public biotechnology R&D in developing countries.
3.	Many crop biotechnologies have been used for the benefit of agriculture in developing countries and have significant potential for the future.				
4.	The most enduring successes to date have come from long-term public sector crop improvement programmes				
5.	Spill-over of research results obtained in industrialized countries by the private sector have had limited impact on the livelihoods of subsistence farmers in developing countries because they cultivate particular crops, face specific problems and have limited access to proprietary technologies.				
6.	Analysis of the past shows that a wide range of existing and emerging problems related to food security can be tackled using crop biotechnologies in combination with other technologies.				

Co	nclusions & lessons learnt	Options for developing countries	Priorities for action for the international community			
Linkages Biotechnology/Other agricultural R&D						
 7. 8. 9. 	The major breeding and crop management successes to date have come from non-transgenic biotechnologies. Transgenesis has had limited but real success in modifying, a few traits in a. small number of commercial commodity crops, adopted also by some developing countries' farmers. Biotechnology	 iv. Investments in biotechnology R&D cannot be made at the expense of current spending in other research fields. v. Biotechnological research should be more effectively linked to strong and well resourced R&D programmes on crop breeding. 	 c. Technical assistance in biotechnology R&D cannot be done to the detriment of present spending in other research fields. d. Technical assistance in biotechnology R&D should always support effective and intimate links to strong breeding and extension programmes. 			
	programmes have been effective when they complemented conventional plant breeding and agronomy R&D programmes and were intimately linked to strong extension programmes.					
	strong development of biotechnologies within the public sector in developing countries, they have not always been directed and made available to improve smallholder livelihoods.	vi. Countries should develop expertise to ensure that they can make sovereign decisions about adopting biotechnologies vii. Countries should prioritize	e. The international community should assist developing countries in strengthening capacities for biotechnology policy development. f. The international community			
		research activities to address the greatest food security needs. viii. Countries should ensure appropriate involvement of relevant stakeholders in decision-making processes. ix. Decisions on crop	should assist developing countries to enhance the capacities of National Agricultural Research Systems to involve relevant stakeholders in decision-making processes.			
11.	Developing countries rarely adopted an inclusive	biotechnologies should consider their appropriateness and socio- economic impacts. x. The public sector should communicate more	g. International organizations should more effectively apprize			
process of decision-makin about resource allocation for the development of appropriate crop biotechnologies	effectively with society at large about the role of all crop improvement/management biotechnologies.	society as a whole of the role that crop improvement/management biotechnologies have in food security				
			h. International R&D organizations should develop			

Conclusions & lessons learnt	Options for developing countries	Priorities for action for the international community
		innovative approaches for the appropriate inclusion of the public in decision-making processes in developing countries.
Capacity development		
12. Key factors in the successful development of crop biotechnologies in developing countries are appropriate biotechnology capacities in their three dimensions (policy development, institutional set-up and human capacities).	xi. Countries should develop the biotechnology capacities of National Agricultural Research Systems in their three dimensions (policy development, institutional set-up and human capacities).	i. The international community should help developing countries enhance the biotechnology capacities of National Agricultural Research Systems in their three dimensions (policy development, institutional setup and human capacities.
Regulation of biotechnology util	ization	I
13. The rollout of biotechnologies was successful when complemented by cross-sectoral measures to ensure their efficient uptake by smallholders and effective downstream use in well-regulated and fair markets.	xii. All countries should be encouraged to establish consistent and transparent, evidence-based decisionmaking processes to regulate crop biotechnology. xiii. Biotechnology-related regulations should be integrated into plant and animal health and food safety, adopting the Biosecurity approach. xiv. Decisions about adopting biotechnologies should be based on scientific evidence taking public participation into account as appropriate.	 j. The international community should continue to assist developing countries in establishing robust national regulatory frameworks in areas such as biosafety, food safety, plant health protection and IPR. k. The international community should promote the adoption of the Biosecurity approach. l. The international community should assist developing countries in the development of adequate institutional regulatory capacities.
14. The lack of coherent national and international regulatory systems has created uncertainty, and possibly reduced investments in biotechnology. This, in turn, has discouraged its adoption and use in developing countries.	xv. Developing countries can often act more effectively in regional groups when engaging with international trade and conventions.	m. Regulatory procedures should be internationally harmonized to facilitate international trade and scientific collaboration. When requested, FAO and other international agencies should continue to offer a meeting place for governments to discuss common governance measures.

Conclusions & lessons learnt	Options for developing countries	Priorities for action for the international community					
Uptake of biotechnologies							
 15. The uptake of improved varieties or technologies by smallholder farmers depends on equitable access, adequate infrastructures, appropriate extension capacities, and the involvement of all relevant stakeholders. 16. There are indications that FPR, including PPB, is useful for connecting high-tech scientists with the most disadvantaged subsistence farmers in developing countries. 	xvi. Biotechnology development should be strongly linked with strategies for its widespread dissemination. xvii. Stronger extension services should be an integral part of national/regional agricultural support structures. xviii. Seed production and distribution systems should be enhanced.	 n. Development agencies should assist developing countries in making biotechnology knowledge available within extension, educational, and advisory services to facilitate farmer uptake of biotechnologies. o. Development agencies should assist developing countries in enhancing seed production systems, to facilitate farmer utilization of the fruits of crop biotechnologies. 					
Shared access to technologies							
 17. Many resources, technologies and skills relevant for biotechnology development are currently detained in the private sector, or are barely available to scientists in developing countries. 18. A few developing countries have established solid plant biotechnology programmes sustained by substantial investments and achieved remarkable progress in biotechnology development and adoption. 	xix. Effective and equitable mechanisms for PPP should be established where appropriate. xx. Developing countries should consider, where appropriate, sharing technologies, skills and knowledge with each other (South-South collaboration).	 p. The international community should facilitate South-South collaboration including: the training of scientists and technicians; joint research projects; the sharing of technologies and materials; the sharing of information. q. The international community should assist in the establishment of dissemination to developing countries of biotechnologies developed in industrialized countries (North-South collaboration, PPP). 					

D. References

- **AboEl-Nil, M.M.** 1996. Tissue culture of native plants in the developing countries. *Acta Hort.* 447, 507–514.
- **Adesemoye, A.O., Torbert, H.A. & Kloepper, J.W.** 2008. Enhanced plant nutrition use efficiency with PGPR and AMF in an integrated nutrient management system. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 54, 876–886.
- **Ahloowalia, B.S., Maluszynski, M., & Nichterlein, K.** 2004. Global impact of mutation-derived varieties. *Euphytica* 135, 187–204.
- **Al-Hassan, R. & Diao, X.** 2007. Reducing regional disparities, in growth and poverty reduction, in Ghana: Policy options and public investment implications. *In* L. Zhang & S. Fan, eds. *Poverty reduction strategy, in the new millennium: Emerging issues, experiences, and lessons*, pp. 221–249. China, China Financial Economic Press.
- **Almekinders C.J.M. & Elings, A.** 2001. Collaboration of farmers and breeders: participatory crop improvement in perspective. *Euphytica* 122, 425-438.
- **Almekinders, C.J.M. & Struik, P.C**. 2000. Diversity in different components and at different scales. *In* C. Almekinders & W. de Boef, eds. *Encouraging Diversity: The Conservation and Development of Plant Genetic Resources*. London, Intermediate Technology Publications.
- Anandajayasekeram, P., Babu, S., Keswani, M., Liebenberg, F. & Rukani, C.L. 2007. Impact of science on African agriculture and food security. Wallingford, UK. CABI Publishing.
- **Arcioni, S. & Pupilli, F.** 2004. Somatic hybridization. *In* B. Thomas, D.J. Murphy & B. Murray, eds. *Encyclopedia Appl. Plant Sci.*, pp. 1423–1431, Oxford, UK, Elsevier Academic Press.
- **Ashby, J.A. & Lilja, N.** 2004. Participatory research: Does, it work? Evidence from participatory plant breeding, 4th International Crop Science Congress, Brisbane, Australia, September 2004. Available online: <a href="https://www.regional.org.gov/www.gov/www.
- **Ashraf, M., Athar, H.R., Harris P.J.C. & Kwon, TR**. 2008. Some prospective strategies for improving crop salt tolerance. *Advances in Agronomy* 97, 45–110.
- **Ashraf, M., Ozturk, M. & Athar, H.R.**, eds. 2009. Salinity and water stress, improving crop efficiency. *Tasks for Vegetation Science* Volume 44, Netherlands, Springer.
- **AVRDC**. 2009. Scoring high: High beta-carotene tomatoes for West Africa, Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Tainan, Taiwan. Available online: www.avrdc.org/morenews/2009/news-03-06-2009.pdf.
- **Ayliffe, M. Singh, R. & Lagudah, E.** 2008. Durable resistance to wheat stem rust needed. *Current Opinion, in Plant Biology* 11, 187–192.
- Bambawale, O.M., Singh, A., Sharma, O.P., Bhosle, B.B., Lavekar, R.C., Dhandhapani, A.,
 Kanwar, V., Tanwar, R.K., Rathod, K.S., Patange, N.R. & Pawar, V.M. 2004.
 Performance of Bt cotton (MECH-162) under integrated pest management, in farmers' participatory field trial in Nanded district, Central India. *Current Science* 86, 1628–33.
- **Bänziger, M., Setimela, P.S., Hodson, D. & Vivek, B.** 2006. Breeding for improved abiotic stress tolerance in maize adapted to southern Africa. *Agricultural water management* 80, 212–224.
- **Barclay, A.** 2004. Feral play. *Rice Today*, January 2004, 15–19. Available online: www.irri.org/publications/today/pdfs/3-1/feral.pdf.

- **Beintema, N.M. & Stads, G.J.** 2008. Measuring agricultural research investments, a revised global picture. *ASTI Background Note* October 2008. Available online: www.asti.cgiar.org/pdf/global_revision.pdf.
- **Bernardo, R.** 2008. Molecular markers and selection for complex traits in plants: learning from the past 20 years. *Crop Sci.*, 48, 1649–1664.
- **Blakesley, D. & Marks, T.** 2003. Clonal forestry. *In* B. Thomas, D.J. Murphy & B.G. Murray, eds. *Encyclopedia Appl. Plant Sci.*, Oxford, Elsevier/Academic Press.
- Bolot, S., Abrouk, M., Masood-Quraishi, U., Stein, N., Messing, J., Feuillet, C. & Salse, J. 2009. The 'inner circle' of the cereal genomes. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 12, 119–125.
- **Boonkerd, N.** 2002. Development, of inoculant production and utilisation in Thailand. *In* D. Herridge, ed. *Inoculants and Nitrogen Fixation of Legumes in Vietnam*. Proceedings of a workshop held in Hanoi, Vietnam, February 17–18, 2001, pp. 95-104.
- **Boserup, E.** 1970. *Women's role in economic development*. Aberdeen, Aberdeen University Press.
- Boyer, J.S. 1982. Plant productivity and environment. Science 218, 443–448.
- **Bragdon, S.** 2004. International law of relevance to plant genetic resources: a practical review for scientists and other professionals working with plant genetic resources. *Issues in Genetic Resources* 10. Rome, IPGRI.
- **Bréton, F., Hasan, Y., Hariadi, Lubis, Z. & De Franqueville, H.** 2006. Characterization of parameters for the development of an early screening test for basal stem rot tolerance in oil palm progenies. *Journal of Oil Palm Research Special Issue*, April 2006, 24–36.
- **Bridge, P.D., O.'Grady, E.B., Pilotti, C.A. & Sanderson, F.R.** 2000. Development of molecular diagnostics for the detection of *Ganoderma* isolates pathogenic to oil palm. *In J. Flood, P.D. Bridge & M. Holderness, eds. <i>Ganoderma Diseases of Perennial Crops*, pp. 225–235. Wallingford, UK, CABI Publishing.
- **Burger, J.C., Chapman, M.A. & Burke, J.M**. 2008. Molecular insights into the evolution of crop plants. *Am., J. Bot.* 95, 113–122.
- **Burke, H.** 2004. Monsanto exits Argentina soy biz despite soy boom. *Reuters News Service*, 18 January 2004.
- Cai, S.B., Bai, G.H., & Zhang, D.D. 2008. Quantitative trait loci for aluminum resistance in Chinese wheat landrace FSW. *Theor Appl Genetics* 117, 49–56.
- **Cakmak, I., Graham, R.D., Welch, R.M.** 2004. Agricultural and molecular genetic approaches, to improving nutrition and preventing micronutrient malnutrition globally. *In* I. Cakmak & R.M. Welch, eds. *Impacts of agriculture, on human health and nutrition* Chapter 13.7, Encyclopedia of life support systems, Oxford.
- **Cardi, T., Carputo, D. & Frusciante, L.** 1992. In vitro shoot regeneration and chromosome doubling in 2 X and 3 X potato clones. *American Journal of Potato Research* 69, 1–12.
- Carpenter, J., Felsot, A., Goode, T., Hammig, M., Onstad, D. & Sankula, S. 2002.

 Comparative environmental impacts of biotechnology-derived and traditional soybean, corn, and cotton crops. Ames, Iowa, Council for Agricultural Science and Technology.
- Castiglioni, P., Warner, D., Bensen, R.J., Anstrom, D.C., Harrison, J., Stoecker, M., Abad, M., Kumar, G., Salvador, S., D. Ordine, R., Navarro, S., Back, S., Fernandes, M., Targolli, J., Dasgupta, S., Bonin, C., Luethy, M.H. & Heard, J.E. 2008. Bacterial RNA chaperones confer abiotic stress tolerance in plants and improved grain yield in maize under water-limited conditions. *Plant Physiol.* 147, 446–455.

- Castro, A.M., Vasicek, A., Manifiesto, M., Giménez, D.O., Tacaliti, M.S., Dobrovolskaya, O., Röder, M.S., Snape, J.W., Börner, A. 2005. Mapping antixenosis genes on chromosome 6A of wheat to greenbug and to a new biotype of Russian wheat aphid. *Plant Breeding* 124, 229–233.
- Ceoloni, C., Forte, P., Gennaro, A., Micali, S., Carroza, R. & Bitti, A. 2005. Recent developments in durum wheat chromosome engineering. *Cytogenet. Plant Breeding* 109, 328–334.
- **Ceccarelli, S., Bailey, E., Grando, S. & Tutwiler, R.** 1997. Decentralized-participatory plant breeding: a link between formal plant breeding and small farmers. In *New Frontiers in Participatory Research and Gender Analysis*. Proceedings of an International Seminar on "Participatory Research and Gender Analysis for Technology Development", Cali, Colombia, pp 65–74. Available online:

 www.icarda.cgiar.org/Farmer Participation/PDF/Papers/3CALI96.pdf.
- **Ceccarelli, S., Grando, S., Tutwiler, R., Baha, J., Martini, A.M., Salahieh, H., Goodchild, A. & Michael, M.** 2000. A methodological study on participatory barley breeding I. Selection phase. *Euphytica* 111, 91–104.
- **CGIAR**. 2005. Drought-tolerant crops for drylands. Rome, CGIAR Science Council Secretariat. Available online: www.cgiar.org/pdf/drought tolerant crops for drylands.pdf.
- **CGIAR**. 2008. *Ethical challenges for the CGIAR: Report of three studies*. Rome, CGIAR Science Council Secretariat. Available online: ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/011/i0501e/i0501e00.pdf.
- **Chakraborty, S., Chakraborty, N. & Datta, A.** 2000. Increased nutritive value of transgenic potato by expressing a nonallergenic seed albumin gene from *Amaranthus hypochondriacus*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 97, 3724–29.
- **Chi, H.S**. 2003. The efficiencies of various embryo rescue methods in interspecific crosses of *Lilium. Bot. Bull. Acad. Sinica* 43, 139–146.
- **Chilton, M.D**. 1988. Plant genetic engineering: Progress and promise. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 36, 3–5.
- Chinese Academy of Sciences. 2008. Scientists call for enhancing studies on chromosome engineering in plants. Available online: http://english.cas.cn/Ne/CASE/200811/t20081118 18911.shtml
- **Choudhary, B. & Gaur, K.** 2009. The development and regulation of Bt brinjal in India (eggplant/aubergine). *ISAAA Brief*, No. 38. Ithaca, NY, ISAAA.
- CIMMYT. 2009. Project 2: Genomics towards gene discovery. Subprogramme 2. Available online: cgmap.cgiar.org/documents/MTPProjects/2009-2011/GCP_2009-2011_02.PDF.
- **CIP-VITAA**. 2008. *Five years of VITAA (Vitamin A for Africa) 2001-2006*, Eds. Kapinga, R., Tumwegamire, S. and Ndunguru, J., International Potato Center, Kampala. Available online: www.cipotato.org/vitaa/pubs2008/VITAA.pdf.
- Cohen, J. 2005. Poorer nations turn to publicly developed GM crops. *Nature Biotech* 23, 27–33.
- Collard B.C.Y., Vera Cruz, C.M., McNally, K.L., Virk, P.S. & Mackill, D.J. 2008. Rice molecular breeding laboratories in the genomics era: Current status and future considerations. *Int.J. Plant Genomics* 524847. Available online: www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2408710
- **Collier, P.** 2008. The politics of hunger: How illusion and greed fan the food crisis. *Foreign Affairs* 87, November/December. Available online: www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/64607/paul-collier/the-politics-of-hunger

- **Collins, N.C., Tardieu, F., Tuberosa, R.**, 2008. QTL approaches for improving crop performance under abiotic stress conditions: where, do, we stand? *Plant Physiol.* 147, 469–486.
- **Comis, D.** 2007. World wheat supply threatened. *Agricultural Research* Nov/Dec 2007. Available online: http://www.ars.usda.gov/is/AR/archive/nov07/wheat1107.htm.
- **Corley, H.** 1999. New technologies for plantation crop improvement. Silsoe, Bedford, Cranfield University. Available online: http://www.taa.org.uk/WestCountry/biotech1.htm.
- Corley R.H.V. & Tinker, P.B. 2003. The oil palm. 4th edition, Oxford, Blackwell.
- **Cuevas, V.** 1997. Rapid composting technology in the Philippines: its role in producing good-quality organic fertilizers. University of the Philippines at Los Baños. Available online: http://www.agnet.org/library/eb/444/
- **Dalton, T.** 2004. A. household hedonic model of rice traits: economic values from farmers in West Africa. *Agricultural Economics* 31, 149–159.
- **Dalton, T. & Guei, R.** 2003. Productivity gains from rice genetic enhancements in West Africa: countries and ecologies. *World Development* 31, 359–374.
- **Dargie, J.** 2007. Marker-assisted selection: policy considerations and options for developing countries. *In* E.P. Guimarães, J. Ruane, B. Scherf, A. Sonnino & J. Dargie, eds. *Marker-Assisted Selection (MAS) in Crops, Livestock, Forestry and Fish: Current Status and the Way Forward*. Rome, FAO. Available at www.fao.org/docrep/010/a1120e/a1120e00.htm
- **Dhlamini, Z., Spillane, C., Moss, J.P., Ruane, J., Urquia, N. & Sonnino, A.** 2005. Status of research and application of crop biotechnologies in developing countries Preliminary assessment. *FAO, Rome.* Available online: www.fao.org/docrep/008/y5800e/y5800e00.htm.
- **Diao, X., Fan, S., Headey, D., Johnson, M., Pratt, A.N. & Yu, B.** 2008. Accelerating Africa's food production in response to rising food prices: Impacts and requisite actions. *IFPRI Discussion Paper 825*. Available online: www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/ifpridp00825.pdf.
- **Doebley, J., Gaut, B.S. & Smith, B.D**. 2006. The molecular genetics of crop domestication. *Cell* 127, 1309–1321.
- **Donini, P. & Sonnino, A.** 1998. Induced mutations, in plant breeding: current status and future outlooks. *In* S. M. Jain, D.S. Brar & B.S. Ahloowalia, eds. *Somaclonal variation and induced mutation, in crop improvement*, pp. 255–291. Dordrecht, the Netherlands, Klewer Academic Publisher.
- **Durrant, A.** 1962. The environmental induction of heritable changes in *Linum. Heredity* 17, 27–61.
- **Dutton, G.** 2009. Emerging biotechnology clusters. *Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology News* 29. 1.
- **Duvick, D.N**. 1997. Genetic rates of gain in hybrid maize yields during the past 40 years. *Maydica* 22, 187–196.
- **Edgerton, M.E**. 2009. Increasing crop productivity to meet global needs for feed, food, and fuel. *Plant Physiol*. 149, 7–13.
- **Eilenberg, J., Hajek, A., & Lomer, C.** 2001. Suggestions for unifying the terminology in biological control. *Biocontrol* 46, 387–400.
- **Ejeta, G.** 2007. Breeding for *Striga* resistance in sorghum: Exploitation of an intricate host-parasite biology. *Crop Sci* 47, S-216–S-227.
- **Ejeta, G. & Gressel, J.**, eds. 2007. *Integrating new technologies for Striga control*. Singapore, World Scientific Publishing.

- Engels, J.M.M., Ramanatha Rao, V., Brown A.H.D. & Jackson, M.T., eds. 2002. *Managing plant genetic diversity*. Rome, IPGRI.
- **FAO**. 2004. The state of food and agriculture agricultural biotechnology: Meeting the needs of the poor? Available online: www.fao.org/docrep/006/Y5160E/Y5160E00.HTM.
- **FAO**. 2007. The future of biopesticides in desert locust management. Report of international workshop, 12–15 February, Saly, Senegal. Available at www.fao.org/ag/locusts/en/publicat/meeting/topic/misc/documents-1117.html
- **FAO**. 2008a. The state of food insecurity in the world 2008: High food prices and food security threats and opportunities. Rome, FAO. Available at: www.fao.org/docrep/011/i0291e/i0291e00.htm
- **FAO.** 2008b. Urgent call for global fight against wheat killer. FAO press release (12 November 2008). Available at: www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/8479/icode/en/
- **FAO**. 2009a. Crop prospects and food situation, *GIEWS Global Information and Early Warning System on Food and Agriculture* No 1, February 2009. Available at: www.fao.org/giews/.
- **FAO**. 2009b. How to feed the world in 2050. Paper presented at the High Level Expert Forum, Rome 12–13 October 2009. Available at: www.fao.org/wsfs/forum2050/wsfs-background-documents/hlef-issues-briefs/en/.
- **FAO**. 2009c. International year of the potato 2008 New light on a hidden treasure. Rome, FAO.
- **FAO**. 2009d. Rice market monitor, February 2009. Rome, FAO. Available, at: ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/012/ak407e/ak407e00.pdf.
- **FAO**. 2009e. Report of the 39th session of the FAO Desert Locust Control Committee. Rome, Italy, 10–13 March 2009. Available at: www.fao.org/ag/locusts/common/ecg/1665/en/DLCC39e.pdf.
- **FAO**. 2009f. Red Locust disaster in Eastern Africa prevented (24 June 2009). Available, at: www.fao.org/news/story/ en/item/21084/icode/.
- FAO. 2009g. Hot issues: water scarcity. Available at: www.fao.org/nr/water/issues/scarcity.html.
- **FAO & IAEA**. 2008. Atoms for Food: a global partnership. Contributions to Global Food Security by the Joint Division of the Food and Agriculture Organization and the International Atomic Energy Agency. Report to the IAEA General Conference September 2008. Available online: www.iaea.or.at/Publications/Booklets/Fao/fao1008.pdf.
- **Figueiredo M.V.P., Burity, H.A., Martínez, C.R. & Chanway, C.P.** 2008. *Alleviation of drought stress in the common bean* (Phaseolus vulgaris, *L.*) *by co-inoculation with* Paenibacillus polymyxa *and* Rhizobium tropici. *Applied Soil Ecology* 40, 182–188.
- **Flood, J., Bridge, P.D., Holderness, M.,** eds. 2000. *Ganoderma Diseases of Perennial Crops*. Wallingford, UK, CABI Publishing.
- **Flowers, T.J.** 2004. Improving crop salt tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 55, 307–319.
- Forster, B.P., Thomas W.T.B., Newton, A.C., Tuberosa, R., This, D., El-Enein, R.A., Bahri, M.H., Ben Salem, M. & Ellis, R.P. 2000. The development and application of molecular markers for abiotic stress tolerance in barley. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51, 19–27.
- **Fuglie, K.O., Zhang, L., Salazar, L.F. & Walker, T.** 1999. *Economic Impact of Virus Free Sweetpotato Seed in Shandong Province, China*. Lima, Peru, International Potato Center. Available online: www.eseap.cipotato.org/MF-ESEAP/Fl-Library/Eco-Imp-SP.pdf.
- **Future Agricultures Debate**. 2009. *Big farms or small farms: how to respond, to the food crisis?* Future Agricultures. Available online: www.future-agricultures.org/ EN/e.-debates/Big Farms/farm debate contributions.html.

- **Garzón, L.N., Ligarreto, G.A., & Blair, M.W. 2008**. Molecular marker-assisted backcrossing of anthracnose resistance into Andean climbing beans. Phaseolus vulgaris, L. *Crop Sci.* 48, 562–570.
- **Gilani, G.S. & Nasim, A.** 2007. Impact of foods nutritionally enhanced through biotechnology in alleviating malnutrition in developing countries. *Journal of AOAC International* 90, 1440–1444
- **Glover, D.** 2007. *Monsanto and smallholder farmers: A case-study on corporate accountability*. IDS Working Paper 277. University of Sussex, UK, Institute of Development Studies.
- **Glover, D.** 2008. *Made by Monsanto: The corporate shaping of GM crops as a technology for the poor.* STEPS Working Paper 11. Brighton: STEPS Centre. Available online: www.steps-centre.org/PDFs/GM Crops web final small.pdf.
- **Glover, D.** 2009. *Undying promise: Agricultural biotechnology's pro-poor narrative, ten years on.* STEPS Working Paper 15. Brighton: STEPS Centre. Available online: www.steps-centre.org/PDFs/Bt Cotton web.pdf.
- **GMO Compass**. 2008. Golden Rice: First field tests in the Philippines. Available online: www.gmo-compass.org/eng/news/358.docu.html.
- Goff, S. & Salmeron, J.M. 2004. Back to the future of cereals. Scientific American 291, 42–49.
- **Gold, E.R**. 2008. *Toward a new era of intellectual property: from confrontation to negotiation*. A Report from the International Expert Group on Biotechnology, Innovation and Intellectual Property, Montreal, Canada. Available online: http://www.theinnovationpartnership.org/en/ieg/report/.
- **Gollin, D., Parente, S. & Rogerson, R.** 2002. The role of agriculture in development. *Amer. Econ. Rev.* 92, 160–164.
- Gouse, M., Piesse, J., Thirtle, C. & Poulton, C. 2009. Assessing the performance of GM maize amongst smallholders in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *AgBioForum* 12, 78–89.
- Gressel, J., Hanafi, A., Head, G., Marasas, W., Obilanae, AB, Ochandaf, J., Souissig, T. & Tzotzos, G. 2004. Major heretofore intractable biotic constraints to African food security that may be amenable to novel biotechnological solutions. *Crop Protection* 23, 661–689.
- **Gruère, G.P., Mehta-Bhatt, P. & Sengupta, D.** 2008. *Bt cotton and farmer suicides in India, reviewing the evidence*. IFPRI Discussion Paper 808, October 2008. Available online: www.ifpri.org/pubs/dp/ifpridp00808.asp
- **Guei, R.G., Somado, E.A. & Larinde, M.** 2008. Improving the seed delivery system in sub-Saharan Africa. *In* E.A. Somado, R.G. Guei & S.O. Keya, eds. *NERICA®: the New Rice for Africa a Compendium*. Cotonou, Benin. WARDA, pp 98–105.
- Guimarães, E.P., Ruane, J., Scherf, B.D., Sonnino, A., Dargie, J.D., eds. 2007. Molecular marker-assisted selection. Current status and future perspectives in crops, livestock, forestry and fish. Rome, FAO. Available online: www.fao.org/docrep/010/a1120e/a1120e00.HTM.
- **Gupta, P.K. & Tsuchiya, T.,** eds. 1991. *Chromosome engineering in Plants*, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- **Gupta, P.K**. 2009. *Bt cotton and MAS for crop improvement in India*. Message 2 of the FAO email conference on Learning from the past: Successes and failures with agricultural biotechnologies in developing countries over the last 20 years. Available online: www.fao.org/biotech/logs/c16/100609.htm.
- **Gurian-Sherman, D.** 2009. Failure to yield: evaluating the performance of genetically engineered crops. Cambridge, MA, Union of Concerned Scientists. Available at www.ucsusa.org/food and agriculture/

- **Gurr, S.J. & Rushton, P.J.** 2005a. Engineering plants with increased disease resistance: what are, we going, to express? *Trends Biotechnol.* 23, 275–282.
- **Gurr, S.J. & Rushton, P.J**. 2005b. Engineering plants with increased disease resistance: how are, we going, to express, it? *Trends Biotechnol*. 23, 283–290.
- **Hall, A. & Clark, N.** 1995. Coping with change, complexity and diversity in agriculture The case of *Rhizobium* inoculants in Thailand. *World Development* 23, 1601–1614.
- **Harris, P.**, ed. 2005. *Abiotic stresses: Plant resistance through breeding and molecular approaches*. Boca Raton, Florida, CRC Press.
- **Harsch, E.** 2004. Farmers embrace African 'miracle' rice high-yielding 'Nerica' varieties to combat hunger and rural poverty. *Africa Recovery* 17, 10–22. Available online: www.un.org/ecosocdev/geninfo/afrec/vol17no4/174rice.htm.
- **Hartwich, F., Janssen, W. & Tola, J.** 2003. Public-private partnerships for agroindustrial research: Recommendations from an expert consultation. *ISNAR Briefing Paper* 61.
- **Hash, C.T**. 2009. *MAS for downy mildew resistance in pearl millet for India*. Message 44 of the FAO e-mail conference Learning from the past: Successes and failures with agricultural biotechnologies, in developing countries over the last 20 years. Available online: www.fao.org/biotech/logs/c16/170609.htm.
- **HarvestPlus**. 2007. *Medium-term plan: 2008-2010*. Washington, DC, IFPRI. Available online: www.harvestplus.org.
- **Hazell, P., Poulton, C., Wiggins, S. & Dorward, A.** 2007. *The future of small farms for poverty reduction and growth.* 2020 Discussion Paper, 42. Available online: http://www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/vp42.pdf.
- **Hedden, P. & Kamiya, Y.** 1999. Gibberellin biosynthesis: Enzymes, genes and their regulation. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 48, 431*–460.
- **Henikoff, S., Till, B.J. & Comai, L.** 2004. TILLING. Traditional meets functional genomics. *Plant Physiol.* 135, 630–636.
- **Herring, R.J.** 2006. Why did 'operation cremate Monsanto' fail? Science and class in India's great terminator technology hoax. *Critical Asian Studies*, 38, 467–493.
- **Herring, R.J**. 2007. Stealth seeds: Biosafety, bioproperty, biopolitics, *Journal, of Development Studies*, 43, 130-157
- **Herring, R.J**. 2008. Whose numbers count? Probing discrepant evidence on transgenic cotton in the Warangal district of India. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches* 2, 145–159.
- **Herring, R.J**. 2009. Persistent narratives: Why is the "failure of Bt cotton in India" story still with us? *AgBioForum* 12, 14–22.
- **Hirschi, K.** 2008. Nutritional improvements in plants: time to bite on biofortified foods. *Trends, in Plant Science* 13, 459–463.
- **Hodson, D.P., Singh, R.P. & Dixon, J.M**. 2008. An initial assessment of the potential impact of stem rust (raceUG99) on wheat producing regions of Africa and Asia using GIS. CIMMYT report. Available online: www.cimmyt.org/gis/pdf/UG99postH.pdf.
- **Hunter, D. & Taylor, N.** 2007. *Tarogen, taro genetic resources: conservation and utilisation*. Available online: www.spc.int/tarogen/.
- **IAASTD**. 2008. *Global report. International Assessment of Agricultural Science and Technology for Development*. Washington, DC. Available online: www.agassessment.org/.
- **IAASTD**. 2009. Synthesis report. International Assessment, of Agricultural Science and Technology for Development. Washington, DC. Available online: www.agassessment.org/.

- **Ihemere, U., Arias-Garzón, D., Lawrence, S. & Sayre, R.** 2006. Genetic modification of cassava for enhanced starch production. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 4, 453–465.
- **IRRI**. 2008. *Nutritionally enhanced rice germplasm developed by 2009*. IRRI Annual Report, Los Baños, Philippines. Available online: http://beta.irri.org/images/stories/programs/Program 4 output 1.pdf
- **ISAAA**. 2006. Fact sheet on approved Bt cotton hybrids in India. International Service for the Acquisition of Agricultural Biotechnology Applications. Available online: www.isaaa.org/Kc/Publications/pdfs/documents/Factsheet Cotton India.pdf
- **Jalani, B.S., Basiron, Y. Darus, A., Chan, K.W. & Rajanaidu, N.** 2002. Prospects of elevating national oil palm productivity: A Malaysian perspective. *Oil Palm Industry Economic Journal* 2, 1–9.
- **Jama, B. & Pizarro, G.** 2008. Agriculture in Africa: Strategies to improve and sustain smallholder production systems. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1136, 218–232.
- **James, C.** 2008. *Global status of commercialized biotech/GM crops: 2008.* ISAAA Brief No 39. Available online: www.isaaa.org/resources/publications/briefs/39/default.html
- **Jauhar, P.** 2003. Cytogenetics and crop improvement: Chromosome engineering. *In* B. Thomas, D.J. Murphy & B.G. Murray, eds. *Encyclopedia Appl. Plant Sci.* pp 167–179. Oxford, UK, Elsevier/Academic Press.
- **Jauhar, P.** 2007. Modern biotechnology as an integral supplement to conventional plant breeding: The prospects and challenges. *Crop Sci.* 46, 1841–1859.
- **Jena, K.K. & Mackill, D.J**. 2008. Molecular markers and their use in marker-assisted selection in rice. *Crop Sci* 48, 1266–1276.
- **Johnson, N., Lilja, N., Ashby, J.A. & Garcia, J. A.** 2004. The practice of participatory research in natural resource management research. *Natural Resources Forum* 28: 189–200.
- **Jones, M.P.** 1998a. Basic breeding strategies for high yielding rice varieties at WARDA. *Japanese Journal, of Crop Science* 67, extra issue 2.
- **Jones, M.P.** 1998b. Food security and major technological challenges: the case, of rice, in sub-Saharan Africa. *Japanese Journal of Crop Science* 67, extra issue 2.
- **Jones, M.P.**, **Dingkuhn, M.**, **Aluko, G.K. & Semon, M.** 1997a. Interspecific O. sativa L. x. O. glaberrima Steud. Progenies in upland rice improvement. *Euphytica* 92, 237–246.
- **Jones, M.P., Dingkuhn, M., Johnson, D.E. & Fagade, S.O**. 1997b. *Interspecific hybridization: progress and prospect*. Proc workshop Africa/Asia joint research, interspecific hybridization between the African and Asian species, Oryza sativa, L. × O. glaberrima Stued. M.'bé, Bouaké, Côte d'Ivoire, 16–18 December 1996. WARDA, Côte d'Ivoire.
- **Kaplan, K**. 2009. Collectively Facing an Ugly Rust. Agricultural Research Magazine 57, 22–23.
- **Karp, A.** 2002. The new genetic era: Will it help us in managing genetic diversity? *In* J.M.M. Engels, V. Ramanatha Rao, A.H.D. Brown & M.T. Jackson, eds. *Managing Plant Genetic Diversity* pp 43–56. Rome, IPGRI.
- **Kasha, K.J., Hu, T.C., Oro, R., Simion, E. & Shim, Y.S**. 2001. Nuclear fusion leads, to chromosome doubling during mannitol pretreatment of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*, L.) microspores. *J. Exp. Bot.* 52, 1227–1238.
- **Khoo, H.E., Ismail, A., Mohd-Esa, N. & Idris, S.** 2008. Carotenoid content of underutilized tropical fruits. *Plant Foods Hum Nutr* 63, 170–175.
- Kiers, E.T., Leaky R.R.B., Izac, A-M., Heinemann, J.A., Rosenthal, E., Nathan, D., Jiggins, J. 2008. Agriculture at a crossroads. *Science* 320, 320–321.

- **Kijima, Y., Sserunkuuma, D. & Otsuka, K.** 2006. How revolutionary is the 'Nerica Revolution'? Evidence from Uganda. *Developing Economies* 44, 252–267.
- **Kikkert, J.R., Vidal, J.R. & Reisch, B.I**. 2005. Stable transformation of plant cells by particle bombardment/biolistics. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 286, 61–78.
- **Kikulwe, E., Wesseler, J., & Falck-Zepeda, J.** 2008. *Introducing a genetically modified banana in Uganda: Social benefits, costs, and consumer perceptions.* IFPRI Discussion Paper 767. Available online: www.ifpri.org/pubs/dp/ifpridp00767.asp
- **King, R.P. & Byerlee, D.** 1978. Factor intensities and locational linkages of rural consumption patterns in Sierra Leone. *Amer., J. Agric. Econ.* 60, 197–206.
- **Knoll, J. & Ejeta, G.** 2008. Marker-assisted selection for early-season cold tolerance in sorghum: QTL validation across populations and environments. *TAG* 116, 541–553.
- **Knoll, J., Gunaratna, N. & Ejeta, G.** 2008. QTL analysis of early-season cold tolerance in sorghum. *Theor Appl Genetics* 116, 577–587.
- **Kodym, A. & Afza, R.** 2003. Physical and chemical mutagenesis. *In E.* Grotewold, ed. *Plant Functional Genomics* pp 189–203. New York, Springer.
- **Koebner R.M.D. & Summers, R.W**. 2003. 21st century wheat breeding: plot selection or plate detection. *Trends Biotechnol* 21, 59–63.
- **Kohler, J., Hernández, J.A., Caravaca, F. & Roldán, A.** 2008. Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi modify alleviation biochemical mechanisms in water-stressed plants. *Functional Plant Biology* 35, 141–151.
- **Korth, K.L**. 2008. Genes and traits of interest for transgenic plants. *In* C.N. Stewart, ed. *Plant Biotechnology and Genetics*. Hoboken, NJ, Wiley.
- **Kovach, M.J. & McCouch, S.R**. 2008. Leveraging natural diversity: back through the bottleneck. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 11, 193–200.
- **Kuchel, H., Ye, G., Fox, R. & Jeffries, S.** 2005. Genetic and economic analysis of a targeted marker-assisted wheat breeding strategy. *Mol Breeding* 16, 67–78.
- **Langridge, P., Paltridge, N., & Fincher, G.** 2006. Functional genomics of abiotic stress tolerance in cereals. *Briefings in Functional Genomics and Proteomics* 4, 343–354.
- **Lee, L.S.** 1988. Citrus polyploidy origins and potential for cultivar improvement. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 39, 735–747.
- Lee T.T.T., Wang M.M.C., Hou R.C.W., Chen, L.J., Su, R.C., Wang, C.S. & Tzen J.T.C. 2003. Enhanced methionine and cysteine levels in transgenic rice seeds by the accumulation of sesame 2S albumin. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 67, 1699–1705.
- **Lev-Yadun, S., Abbo, S. & Doebley, J.** 2002. Wheat, rye, and barley, on the cob? *Nature Biotechnol.* 20, 337–338.
- **Lilja, N. & Dalton, T.** 1997. Developing African public goods: rice varietal selection, in Côte d'Ivoire. Discussion paper presented at American Agricultural Economics Meeting, 1997, Salt Lake City, Utah.
- **Limao, N. & Venables, A.J**. 2001. Infrastructure, geographical disadvantage, and transport costs. *World Bank Econ. Rev.* 15, 451–479.
- **Lipton, M.** 2005. *Can small farms survive, prosper, or be the key channel to cut mass poverty?* FAO Symposium on Agricultural Commercialisation and the Small Farmer, Rome, 4–5 May 2005. Available online: ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/009/ag072e/ag072e00.pdf
- **Lipton, M.** 2006. Can small farms survive, prosper, or be the key channel to cut mass poverty? *Electronic J. Agric. Devel. Econ.* 3, 58–85.

- **Low, J., Walker, T. & Hijmans, R.** 2001. *The potential impact of orange-fleshed sweetpotatoes on vitamin A intake in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Paper presented at a regional workshop on foodbased approaches to human nutritional deficiencies: The VITAA Project vitamin A and orange-fleshed sweetpotatoes in Sub-Saharan Africa, 9–11 May 2001, Nairobi.
- Maluszynski, M., Kasha, K.J., Forster, B.P., Szarejko, I., Eds. 2003. *Doubled haploid production in crop plants: A. manual.* New York, Springer.
- Maluszynski, M., Szarejko, I. & Maluszynska, J. 2003. Mutation techniques. *In* B. Thomas, D.J. Murphy & B. Murray, eds. *Encyclopedia of Applied Plant Sciences* pp 186–201. Oxford, UK, Elsevier Academic Press.
- Marillonnet, S., Thoeringer, C., Kandzia, R., Klimyuk, V. & Gleba, Y. 2005. Systemic *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* mediated transfection of viral replicons for efficient transient expression in plants. *Nature Biotechnol.* 23, 718–723.
- Masle, J., Gilmore, S.R. & Farquhar, G.D. 2005. The ERECTA gene regulates plant transpiration efficiency in Arabidopsis. *Nature* 436, 866–870.
- Mayer, J.E., Pfeiffer, W.H. & Beyer, P. 2008. Biofortified crops to alleviate micronutrient malnutrition. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 11, 166–170.
- **Mbogoh, S.G., Wambugu, F.M. & Wakhusama, S.** 2003. *Applications: some lessons from the pilot tissue culture (tc) banana production promotion project in Kenya, 1997-2002.*Proceedings of the 25th International Conference of Agricultural Economists. IAAE. 1084–1094.
- McCallum, C.M., Comai, L., Greene, E.A., Henikoff, S. 2000a. Targeted screening for induced mutations. *Nature Biotechnol.* 18, 455–7.
- McCallum, C.M., Comai, L., Greene, E.A. & Henikoff, S. 2000b. Targeting induced local lesions, IN genomes (TILLING) for plant functional genomics. *Plant Physiol.* 123, 439–442.
- Mergoum, M., Pfeiffer, W.H., Peña, R.J., Ammar, K. & Rajaram, S. 2005. Triticale crop improvement: The CIMMYT program. *In* M. Mergoum & H. Gómez-Macpherson, eds. *Triticale improvement and production*. Plant Production and Protection Paper No 179. Rome, FAO.
- **Mittler, R.** 2005. Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. *Trends Plant Sci.* 11, 15–19.
- **Moore, G., Devos, K.M., Wang, Z. & Gale, M.D**. 1995. Cereal genome evolution. Grasses, line, up and form a circle. *Curr. Biol.* 5, 737–739.
- **Moose, S.P. & Mumm, R.H**. 2008. Molecular plant breeding as the foundation for 21st century crop improvement. *Plant Physiology* 147, 969–977.
- **Morris, M.L. & Bellon, M.R**. 2004. Participatory plant breeding research: Opportunities and challenges for the international crop improvement system. Euphytica 136, 21–35.
- **Morse, S., Bennett, R. & Ismael, Y.** 2005. Comparing the performance of official and unofficial genetically modified cotton in India. *AgBioForum* 8, 1–6.
- Moslim, R., Wahid, M.B., Kamarudin, N., Ahmad, S.R. & Hamid, N.H. 2006. Research into the commercialization of Metarhizium anisopliae (Hyphomycetes) for biocontrol of the Rhinoceros Beetle, Oryctes rhinoceros (Scarabaeidae) in Oil Palm. Journal of Oil Palm Research special issue April 2006, 37–49.
- **Motamayor, J.C. & Lanaud, C.** 2002. Molecular analysis of the origin and domestication of *Theobroma cacao*, L. *In J.M.M.* Engels, V. Ramanatha Rao, A.H.D. Brown & M.T. Jackson, eds. *Managing Plant Genetic Diversity* pp 77–88. Rome, IPGRI.

- **Munns, R.** 2002. Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 25 239–250.
- **Munns, R.** 2005. Genes and salt tolerance: bringing them together. *New Phytologist* 167, 645–663.
- Munns, R. & Tester, M. 2008. Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 59, 651–681.
- **Murphy, D.J**. 2002. Novel oils from plants genes, dreams and realities. *Phytochemistry Reviews* 1, 67–77.
- **Murphy, D.J.** 2006. Molecular breeding strategies for the modification of lipid composition. *In Vitro Cell. Devel. Biol.-Plant*, 42, 89–99.
- **Murphy, D.J**. 2007a. *Plant breeding and biotechnology: Societal context and the future of agriculture*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- **Murphy, D.J**. 2007b. Future prospects for oil palm in the 21st century: Biological and related challenges. *Eur., J. Lipid Sci. Technol.* 109, 296–306.
- **Murphy, D.J**. 2007c. *People, plants, and genes: The story of crops and humanity*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- **Mutandwa, E.** 2008. Performance of tissue-cultured sweet potatoes among smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe. *AgBioForum* 11(1), 48–57.
- Naik, P.S. & Karihaloo, J.L. 2007. *Micropropagation for production of quality potato seed in Asia Pacific*. New Delhi, Asia-Pacific Consortium in Agricultural Biotechnology.
- Nellemann, C., MacDevette, M., Manders, T., Eickhout, B., Svihus, B., Prins, A.G. & Kaltenborn, B.P., eds. 2009. *The environmental food crisis The environment's role in averting future food crises*. A UNEP rapid response assessment. United Nations Environment Programme, GRID-Arendal. Available online: www.grida.no/publications/rr/food-crisis/ebook.aspx
- **Nelson, M. & Maredia, M.K.** 2007. International agricultural research as a source of environmental impacts: Challenges and possibilities. *Journal of Environmental Assessment Policy and Management* 9,103–119.
- **Nestel, P., Bouis, H.E., Meenakshi, J.V. & Pfeiffer, W.H**. 2006. Biofortification of staple food crops. *J. Nutrition* 136, 1064–1067.
- **Newell-McGloughlin, M.** 2008. Nutritionally improved agricultural crops. *Plant Physiol*. 147, 939-953
- **Nguthi, F.N**. 2007. Adoption of agricultural innovations by smallholder farmers in the context of *HIV/AIDS: The case of tissue-cultured banana in Kenya*. PhD thesis. Netherlands, University of Wageningen.
- **NIH**. 2009. Genome sequence of new swine flu variant. National Institutes of Health. Available online: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/FLU/SwineFlu.html.
- Nkonya, E., Pender, J., Kaizzi, C., Kato, E. & Mugarura, S. 2005. Policy options for increasing crop productivity and reducing soil nutrient depletion and poverty in Uganda. IFPRI Discussion Paper 134. Available online: www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/eptdp134.pdf
- Nuccio, M.L., Rhodes, D., McNeil, S.D. & Hanson, A.D. 1999. Metabolic engineering for osmotic stress resistance. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 2, 128–134.
- **Obilana, A.B. & Okumu, B.N.** 2005. *INT/00/922 Africa-Asia Joint Research: Interspecific Hybridization between African and Asian rice species*. Evaluation Study Report prepared for UNDP, SU/SSC and WARDA. Cotonou, Benin, WARDA.

- **Odame, H.** 1999. *Biotechnology and smallholders. Institutional rigidity and change in agriculture*. Paper prepared for the Regional Workshop on Biotechnology Assessment: Regimes and Experiences organized by the African Centre for Technology Studies. ACTS. Nairobi, September 27–29, 1999.
- **Odame, H.** 2002. Smallholder access to biotechnology: Case of Rhizobium inocula in Kenya. Economic & Political Weekly, 37, 2748–55.
- **OECD**. 2009. The Bioeconomy to 2030: Designing a policy agenda. International Futures Programme. Available online: http://www.oecd.org/futures/bioeconomy/2030
- Paine, J.A., Shipton, C.A., Chaggar, S., Howells, R.M., Kennedy, M.J., Vernon, G., Wright, S.Y., Hinchliffe, E., Adams, J.L., Silverstone, A.L. & Drake, R. 2005. Improving the nutritional value of Golden Rice through increased pro-vitamin A content. *Nature Biotechnol.* 23, 482–487.
- **Panchal, G. & Bridge, P.D**. 2005. Following basal stem rot in young oil palm plantings. *Mycopathologia* 159, 123–127.
- **Paterson, R.** 2007. Ganoderma disease, of oil palm A white rot perspective necessary for integrated control *Crop Protection* 26, 1369–1376.
- Peacock, C., Jowett, A., Dorward, A., Poulton, C. & Urey, I. 2004. Reaching the poor: A call to action. Investment in smallholder agriculture in sub-Saharan Africa. Project Report. FARM-Africa; Harvest Help. Centre for Development and Poverty Reduction, London, Imperial College. Available online: http://eprints.soas.ac.uk/5141/
- **Peacock, J. & Chaudhury, A.** 2002. The impact of gene technologies on the use of genetic resources. *In* J.M.M. Engels, V. Ramanatha Rao, A.H.D. Brown & M.T. Jackson, eds. *Managing Plant Genetic Diversity* pp 33-42. Rome, IPGRI.
- **Pender, J.** 2007. Agricultural technology choices for poor farmers in less-favored areas of south and east Asia. IFPRI Discussion Paper 709, International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Peralta, H., Mora, Y., Salazar, E., Encarnación, S., Palacios, S. & Mora1, J. 2004. Engineering the nifH promoter region and abolishing poly-β-hydroxybutyrate accumulation in *Rhizobium etli e*nhance nitrogen fixation in symbiosis with *Phaseolus vulgaris*. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. 70 (6): 3272–3281.
- **Peralta, H.** 2009. *Biofertilizer common bean Mexico*. Message 50 of the FAO e-mail conference on Learning from the past: Successes and failures with agricultural biotechnologies in developing countries over the last 20 years. Available at: www.fao.org/biotech/logs/c16/180609.htm
- **Pereira, N.** 2008. Is gene modification a panacea for the world hunger? *Current Sci.* 95, 11–12.
- **Perrin, R.K. & Fulginiti, L.E**. 2008. Pricing and welfare impacts of new crop traits: The role of IPRs and Coase's conjecture revisited. *AgBioForum* 11, 134–144. Available online: www.agbioforum.org
- **Popelka, J.C., Terryn, N. & Higgins T.J.V**. 2004. Gene technology for grain legumes: can it contribute to the food challenge in developing countries. *Plant Sci.* 167, 195–206.
- **Puente-Rodríguez, D.** 2007. Redesigning the production of the Bacillus thuringiensis biopesticide within the context of subsistence agriculture in Andhra Pradesh, India. *Asian Biotechnology and Development Review* 9, 57–83.
- **Puente-Rodríguez, D.** 2008. The wiphala genomics: The deployment of molecular markers in small-scale potato crop systems in the Bolivian Andes. *The European Journal of Development Research* 20, 377–398.
- **Qaim, M.** 1999. A Socioeconomic outlook on tissue culture technology in Kenyan banana production. *Biotechnology and Development Monitor* 40, 18–22.

- **Qaim, M.** 2003. Bt cotton in India: Field trial results and economic projections. *World Devel. 31*, 2115–2127.
- **Qaim, M. &, de Janvry, A.** 2003. Genetically modified crops, corporate pricing strategies, and farmers' adoption: The case of Bt cotton in Argentina. *American, J. Agric. Econ.* 85, 814–28.
- **Qaim, M. & Traxler, G.** 2005. Roundup ready soybeans in Argentina: Farm level and aggregate welfare effects. *Agric. Econ.* 32, 73–86.
- **Qaim, M., Subramanian, A., Naik, G., & Zilberman, D.** 2006. Adoption of Bt cotton and impact variability: Insights from India. *Review of Agricultural Economics* 28, 48–58.
- Qaim, M. & Zilberman, D. 2003. Yield effects of genetically modified crops in developing countries. *Science* 299, 900–902.
- **Raghavan, P.S. & Parida, A.K**. 2006. The role of biotechnology in the conservation, sustainable use and genetic enhancement of bioresources in fragile ecosystems. *In J. Ruane & A. Sonnino eds. The role of biotechnology in exploring and protecting agricultural genetic resources*. Rome, FAO. Available online: www.fao.org/docrep/009/a0399e/a0399e00.htm
- **Rao, C.K**. 2004. One swallow does not make the summer Bt cotton in India. *Foundation for Biotechnology Awareness and Education*. Bangalore, India.
- Ramessar, K., Capell, T., Twyman, R.M., Quemada, H., Christou, P. 2009. Calling the tunes on transgenic crops: the case for regulatory harmony. *Mol. Breeding* (2009) 23, 99–112.
- **Raney, T.** 2006. Economic impact of transgenic crops in developing countries. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 17, 1–5.
- Reader, J. 2009. The untold history of the potato. London, Vintage.
- **Ribaut, J-M. & Betrán, J.** 1999. Single large-scale marker-assisted selection (SLS-MAS). *Mol. Breed.* 5, 531–541.
- **Ribaut, J-M., Edmeades, G., Perotti, E. & Hoisington D**. 2000. QTL analyses, MAS results, and perspectives for drought-tolerance improvement in tropical maize. *Molecular approaches for the genetic improvement of cereals for stable production in water-limited environments* pp 131–136. Mexico, CIMMYT.
- **Rigor, A.** 2009. Experiences from Philippines rice. Message 42 of the FAO e-mail conference on Learning from the past: Successes and failures with agricultural biotechnologies in developing countries over the last 20 years. www.fao.org/biotech/logs/c16/170609.htm
- **Rivera, W., Qamar, M. & Crowder, L.** 2001. Agriculture and rural extension worldwide: Options for institutional reform. Rome, FAO.
- **Rola, A.C. & Chupungco, A.R.** 1996. *Socioeconomic evaluation and policy analysis of the commercialization of the rapid composting technology Phase II.* Unpublished document, Philippine Council for Agriculture, Forestry and Natural Resources Research and Development (PCARRD). Los Baños, University of the Philippines.
- Rozema, J. & Flowers, T. 2008. Crops for a salinized world. Science 322, 1478–1479.
- **Ruane, J. & Sonnino, A.** 2006. The role of biotechnology in exploring and protecting agricultural genetic resources. Rome, FAO. Available at: www.fao.org/docrep/009/a0399e/a0399e00.htm
- Ruane, J., Sonnino, A., Steduto, P. & Deane, C. 2008. Coping with water scarcity: What role for biotechnologies? Rome, FAO.
- **Ruttan, V.W**. 1999. Biotechnology and agriculture: a skeptical perspective. *AgBioForum* 2, 54–60.
- **SABP**. 2007. Bt cotton hybrids for release by GEAC May–July 2007. *SABP Newsletter* 3. South Asia Biosafety Program.

- **Sakamoto, T. & Matsuoka, M.** 2008. Identifying and exploiting grain yield genes in rice. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 11, 209–214.
- **Sala, F. & Labra, M.** 2003. Somaclonal variation. *In* B. Thomas, D.J. Murphy & B. Murray, eds. *Encyclopedia of Applied Plant Sciences* pp 1417–1422. Oxford, UK, Elsevier Academic Press.
- **Sambanthamurthi, R., Singh, R., Kadir, A., Abdullah, M. & Kushari, A.** 2009. Opportunities for oil palm via breeding and biotechnology. *In* S.M. Jain & P.M. Priyadarshan, eds. *Breeding Plantation Tree Crops: Tropical Species*. New York, Springer.
- **Sang, S.** 2009. Genes and mutations underlying domestication transitions in grasses. *Plant Physiol.* 149, 63–70.
- **Sarla, N. & Mallikarjuna Swamy, B.P.** 2005. *Oryza glaberrima*: A source for the improvement of *Oryza sativa*. *Current Science* 89, 955–963.
- Sasaki, A., Ashikari, M., Ueguchi-Tanaka, M., Itoh, H., Nishimura, A., Swapan, D., Ishiyama, K., Saito, T., Kobayashi, M., Khush, G.S., Kitano, H. & Matsuoka, M. 2002. Green revolution: A mutant gibberellin-synthesis gene in rice. *Nature* 416, 701–702.
- **Scoones, I.** 2005. *Science, agriculture and the politics of policy. The case of biotechnology in India.* Hyderabad, Orient Longman.
- **Scoones, I. & Thompson, J.** 2009. Farmer first revisited: Innovation for agricultural research and development. UK, Practical Action Publishing.
- **Shah, D.M., Rommens, C.M.T. & Beachy, R.N**. 1995. Resistance to diseases and insects in transgenic plants: progress and applications to agriculture. *Trends Biotechnol.* 13, 362–368.
- **Shah, E.** 2005. Local and global elites join hands: Development and diffusion of Bt cotton technology in Gujarat. *Economic and Political Weekly* 40, 4629–39.
- **Shah, E.** 2008. What makes crop biotechnology find its roots? The technological culture of Bt cotton in Gujarat, India. *The European Journal of Development Research* 20, 432–47.
- Shaharoona, B., Naveed, M., Arshad, M. & Zahir, Z.A. 2008. Fertilizer-dependent efficiency of pseudomonads for improving growth, yield, and nutrient use efficiency of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 79, 147–155.
- **Shankar, B. & Thirtle, C.** 2005. Pesticide productivity and transgenic cotton technology: The South African smallholder case. *Journa of Agricultural Economics* 56, 97–116.
- **Sharma, M.** 2001. India. *In* G.J. Persley & L.R. MacIntyre, eds. *Agricultural biotechnology: Country case studies*. Wallingford, CABI.
- **Sharma, M., Charak, K.S. & Ramanaiah, T.V**. 2003. Agricultural biotechnology research in India: Status and policies. *Curr. Sci.* 84, 297–302.
- Shepherd, D.N., Mangwende, T., Martin, D.P., Bezuidenhout, M., Kloppers, F.J., Carolissen, C.H., Monjane, A.L., Rybicki, E.P. & Thomson, J.A. 2007. Maize streak virus-resistant transgenic maize: a first for Africa. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 5, 759–767.
- **Sinclair, T.R., Purcell, L.C., Sneller, C.H**. 2004. Crop transformation and the challenge to increase yield potential. *Trends in Plant science* 9, 2: 70-75.
- **Singh, K.B., Ocampo, B. & Robertson, L.D**. 1998. Diversity for abiotic and biotic stress resistance in the wild annual Cicer species. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* 45, 9–17.
- **Singh, R.B**. 1995. Agricultural biotechnology in the Asia-Pacific region. *Agricultural biotechnology in the developing world*. FAO. Available at: www.fao.org/docrep/V4845E/V4845E07.htm.
- **Singh, R.J**. 2007. Oilseed crops. Genetic resources, chromosome engineering, and crop improvement. Boca Raton, Florida, CRC Press.

- **Skamnioti, P. & Gurr, S.J.** 2009. Against the grain: safeguarding rice from rice blast disease. *Trends, in Biotechnology* 27, 141–150.
- **Slater, A., Scott, N.W. & Fowler, M.R**. 2008. *Plant biotechnology*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Smale, M., Edmeades, S., & De Groote, H., eds. 2006. Genetic resource policies, promising crop biotechnologies for smallholder farmers in East Africa: Bananas and maize. Briefs 19-26.
- **Smale, M., Zambrano, P. & Cartel, M.** 2006. Bales and balance: A review of the methods used to assess the economic impact of Bt cotton on farmers in developing countries. *AgBioForum* 9, 195–212.
- Smale, M., Zambrano, P., Falck-Zepeda, J. & Gruère, G. 2006. Parables: Applied economics literature about the impact of genetically engineered crop varieties in developing economies. EPTD Discussion Paper 158. Washington, DC, International Food Policy Research Institute.
- **Smale, M. & Tushemereirwe, W.K**. 2007. An economic assessment of banana genetic improvement and innovation in the Lake Victoria Region of Uganda and Tanzania. IFPRI Research Report 155.
- Smale, M., Zambrano, P., Gruère, G., Falck-Zepeda, J., Matuschke, I., Horna, D., Nagarajan, L., Yerramareddy, I. & Jones, H. 2009. Measuring the economic impacts of transgenic crops in developing agriculture during the first decade: Approaches, findings, and future directions. *IFPRI Food Policy Review* 10, Washington, DC.
- **Smith, S.** 2008. Intellectual property protection for plant varieties in the 20th century. *Crop Sci.* 48, 1277–1290.
- Smith J.S.C., Hussain, T., Jones, E.S., Graham, G., Podlich, D., Wall, S. & Williams, M. 2008. Use of doubled haploids in maize breeding: implications for intellectual property protection and genetic diversity in hybrid crops. *Mol. Breeding* 22, 51–5.
- **Soepena, H., Purba, R.Y. & Pawirosukarto, S.** 2000. A control strategy for basal stem rot (*Ganoderma*) on oil palm. *In J. Flood, P.D. Bridge & M. Holderness, eds. Ganoderma Diseases of Perennial Crops* pp 83–88. Wallingford, UK, CABI Publishing.
- **Solution Exchange**. 2007. *Consolidated reply: Impact of Bt cotton Experiences*. Available at www.solutionexchange-un.net.in/food/cr/cr-se-food-mf27040701.doc
- **Somado, E.A., Guei, R.G. & Keya, S.O.**, eds. 2008. NERICA®: the New Rice for Africa –a Compendium. Cotonou, Benin, WARDA. Available at: www.warda.org/publications/nerica-comp/Nerica-Compedium.pdf
- Sonnino, A., Carena, M.J., Guimarães, E.P., Baumung, R., Pilling, D. & Rischowsky, B. 2007. An assessment, of the use of molecular markers in developing countries. In E.P. Guimarães, J. Ruane, B. Scherf, A. Sonnino, eds. Marker-Assisted Selection (MAS) in Crops, Livestock, Forestry and Fish: Current Status and the Way Forward. Rome, FAO. Available at www.fao.org/docrep/010/a1120e/a1120e00.htm
- Sonnino, A., Dhlamini, Z., Santucci, F.M. & Warren, P. 2009. Socio-economic impacts of non-transgenic biotechnologies in developing countries. The case of plant micropropagation in Africa. Rome, FAO. Available at www.fao.org/docrep/011/i0340e/i0340e00.htm
- **Sonnino, A. Iwanaga, M. & Henestroza A**. 1988. Chromosome number doubling of 2x potato lines with diverse genetic background through tissue culture. *Potato Research*, 31: 627–631.
- **Spielman, D.J., Hartwich, F. & von Grebmer, K.** 2007. *Sharing science, building bridges, and enhancing impact, public-private partnerships in the CGIAR.* IFPRI Discussion Paper 708. Available online: www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/ifpridp00708.pdf.

- **Stafford, W.** 2009. *Marker assisted selection (MAS). Key issues for Africa*. The African Centre for Biosafety. Available at: www.biosafetyafrica.org.za/images/stories/dmdocuments/MAS-Booklet.pdf
- Steele, K.A., Singh, D.N., Kumar, R., Prasad, S.C., Billore, M., Virk, D.S., Shashidhar, H.E. & Witcombe, J.R. 2004. Marker-assisted selection of four root QTL and aroma to improve Kalinga III: Evaluation of pyramid lines and advanced bulks from backcrossing. *Indian National Conference on Increasing Rice Production under Water Limited Environment*, BAU, Ranchi. Available online: http://www.cazs.bangor.ac.uk/ccstudio/Library/publications/Presentations/Steele BAU.pdf.
- Steele, K.A., Virk, D.S., Prasad, S.C., Kumar, P., Singh, D.N., Gangwar, J.S. & Witcombe, J.R. 2002. Combining PPB and marker-assisted selection: strategies and experiences with rice. Extended Abstract for: The Quality of Science in Participatory Plant Breeding Workshop, at IPGRI, Rome, Italy, September 30–October 4, 2002. Available online: www.cazs.bangor.ac.uk/ccstudio/AboutUs/VLSearch_page3.php?id=236
- **Stein, A.J. & Rodríguez-Cerezo, E.** 2009. The global pipeline of new GM crops: implications of asynchronous approval for international trade. JRC Scientific and Technical Report. Available online: http://ipts.jrc.ec.europa.eu/publications/pub.cfm?id=2420.
- Stokstad, E. 2007. Deadly wheat fungus threatens world's breadbaskets. Science 315, 1786–1787.
- **Stomph, T.J., Jiang, W. & Struik, P.C**. 2009. Zinc biofortification of cereals: rice differs from wheat and barley. *Trends, in Plant Science* 14, 123–124.
- **Stone, G.D**. 2007. Agricultural deskilling and the spread of genetically modified cotton in Warangal. *Current Anthropology* 48, 67–103.
- Sundaram, R.M., Vishnupriya, M.R., Laha, G.S., Rani, N.S., Rao, P.S., Balachandran, S.M., Reddy, G.A., Sarma, N.P., Sonti, R.V. 2009. Introduction of bacterial blight resistance into Triguna a high yielding, mid-early duration rice variety. *Biotechnol*, *J*. 4(3): 400–7.
- **Sundram, S., Abdullah, F., Ahmad Z.A.M. & Yusuf, U.K.** 2008. Efficacy of single and mixed treatments of Trichoderma harzianum as biocontrol agents of ganoderma basal stem rot in oil palm. *Journal of Oil Palm Research* 20, 470–483.
- Tanurdzic, M., Vaughn, M.W., Jiang, H., Lee, T.J., Slotkin, R.K., Sosinski, B., Thompson, W.F., Doerge, R.W. & Martienssen, R.A. 2008. Epigenomic consequences of immortalized plant cell suspension culture. *PLoS Biology* 6(12): e302.
- **Tarczynski, M.C., Jensen, R.G. & Bonhert, H.J**. 1992. Expression of a bacterial *mtlD* gene in transgenic tobacco leads to production and accumulation of mannitol. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89, 2600–2604.
- **Thirtle, C., Beyers, L., Ismael, Y. & Piesse, J.** 2003. Can GM-technologies help the poor? The impact of Bt cotton in Makhatini Flats, KwaZulu-Natal. *World Development* 31, 717–732.
- **Thomas, B., Murphy, D.J. & Murray, B.G.**, eds. 2003. *Encyclopedia Appl. Plant Sci.*, pp 1341–1431. Oxford, Elsevier/Academic Press.
- **Thompson, J. & Scoones, I.** 2009. Addressing the dynamics of agri-food systems: an emerging agenda for social science research. *Environmental Science and Policy* 12, 386–397.
- **Toomey, G.** 1999. *Farmers as researchers: The rise of participatory plant breeding.* IDRC Project No 950019. Ottawa, Canada, International Development Research Centre.
- **Trigo, E.J. & Cap, E.J.** 2006. Ten years of genetically modified crops in Argentine agriculture *ArgenBio*. Available at http://www.inta.gov.ar/ies/docs/otrosdoc/resyabst/ten_years.htm
- **Tripp, R**. 2001. Can biotechnology reach the poor? The adequacy of information and seed delivery. *Food Policy* 26, 249–264.

- **Tripp, R., Louwaars, N. & Eaton, D.** 2007. Plant variety protection in developing countries. A report from the field. *Food Policy* 32, 354–371.
- **Tschirley, D. & Benfica, R.** 2001. Smallholder agriculture, wage labour and rural poverty alleviation in land-abundant areas of Africa: evidence from Mozambique. *Journal of Modern African Studies* 39, 333–358.
- **Tumwegamire, S., Kapinga, R., Zhang, D., Crissman, C. & Agili, S.** 2004. Opportunities for promoting orange-fleshed sweetpotato among food based approach to combat vitamin A deficiency in sub-Saharan Africa. *African Crop Sci. J.* 12, 241–253.
- **USDA**. 2005. Indian cotton production continues its upward climb. *Commodity Intelligence Report.*, USDA-Foreign Agricultural Service. Available online: www.fas.usda.gov/pecad/highlights/2005/10/india 18oct2005/india 18oct2005.pdf.
- **USDA**. 2008. Controls over importation of transgenic plants and animals. *United States Department of Agriculture Report*. Available online: www.usda.gov/oig/webdocs/50601-17-TE.pdf
- Uyen, N.V., Ho, T.V., Tung, P.X., Vander Zaag, P. & Walker, T.S. 1996. Economic impact of the rapid multiplication of high-yielding, late-blight-resistant varieties in Dalat, Vietnam. In T.S. Walker & C.C. Crissman, eds. Case studies of the economic impact of CIP-related technologies. Lima, International Potato Center.
- van Emden, H. 2002. Mechanisms of resistance: Antibiosis, antixenosis, tolerance, nutrition. *In* D. Pimerntel, ed. *Encyclopedia of Pest Management* 483–6.
- van der Valk, H. 2007. Review of the efficacy of Metarhizium anisopliae var acridum against the desert locust. Report to FAO, July 2007, Rome FAO. Available at: www.fao.org/ag/locusts/common/ecg/1295/en/TS34e.pdf.
- **Varshney, R.K., Graner, A. & Sorrells, M.E**. 2005. Genomics-assisted breeding for crop improvement. *Trends Plant Sci.* 10, 621–630.
- **Varshney, R.K & Tuberosa, R., eds**. 2007a. Genomics-assisted crop improvement. *Vol. 1 Genomics Approaches and Platforms*. Berlin, Springer,
- **Varshney, R.K. & Tuberosa, R., eds**. 2007b. Genomics-assisted crop improvement. *Vol. 2 Genomics Applications in Crops*. Berlin, Springer.
- **Vermeulen, S. & Goad, N.** 2006. *Towards better practice in smallholder palm oil production*. London, International Institute for Environment and Development. www.iied.org/pubs/pdfs/13533IIED.pdf
- **Vernooy, R.** 2003. *Seeds that give: Participatory plant breeding*. Ottawa, Canada, International Development Research Centre.
- **Vinocur, B. & Altman, A.** 2005. Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: achievements and limitations. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 16, 123–132.
- Virk, D.S., Singh, D.N., Prasad, S.C., Gangwar, J.S. & Witcombe, J.R. 2003. Collaborative and consultative participatory plant breeding of rice for the rainfed uplands of eastern India. *Euphytica* 132, 95–108.
- **Wambugu, F.** 2004. Food, nutrition and economic empowerment: The Case for scaling up the tissue culture banana project to the rest of Africa. Paper presented at the NEPAD/IGAD regional conference Agricultural Successes in the Greater Horn of Africa held in Nairobi, Kenya, November 22–25, 2004.
- Wambugu, F., Karembu, M., Njugunaand, M. & Wanyangu, S.W. 2000. Biotechnology to benefit small-scale banana producers in Kenya. *Annual Progress Report*. Nairobi, Kenya Agricultural Research Institute.

- Wang, T.L., Domoney, C., Hedley, C.L., Casey, R. & Grusak, M.A. 2003. Can we improve the nutritional quality of legume seeds? *Plant Physiol*. 131, 886–891.
- Wang, W., Vinocur, B. & Altman, A. 2003. Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: towards genetic engineering for stress tolerance. *Planta* 218, 1–14.
- **Weeden, N.F**. 2007. Genetic changes accompanying the domestication of *Pisum sativum*: Is there a common genetic basis to the 'domestication syndrome' for legumes? *Ann. Bot.* 2007 100, 1017–1025.
- William, H.M., Morris, M., Warburton, M. & Hoisington, D.A. 2007. Technical, economic and policy considerations on marker-assisted selection in crops: lessons from the experience at an international agricultural research centre. *In* E.P. Guimarães, J. Ruane, B. Scherf & A. Sonnino, eds. *Marker-Assisted Selection (MAS) in Crops, Livestock, Forestry and Fish: Current Status and the Way Forward*. Rome, FAO.
- **Witcombe, J.R., Joshi, A. & Goyal, S.N.** 2003. Participatory plant breeding, in maize: A case study from Gujarat, India. *Euphytica* 130, 413–422.
- **Wong, G., Tan, C.C. & Soh, A.C**. 1997. Large scale propagation of oil palm clones experiences to date. *Acta Horticulturae* 447, 649–658.
- **World Bank**. 2007. *World development report 2008: Agriculture for development*. World Bank Publications. Available at: go.worldbank.org/LBJZD6HWZ0.
- **World Food Prize**. 2009. 2009 Laureate Gebisa Ejeta. Available online: www.worldfoodprize.org/press room/2009/june/ejeta.htm.
- **Xu, Y. & Crouch, J.H**. 2008. Marker-assisted selection in plant breeding: From publications to practice. *Crop Sci.* 48, 391–407.
- **Yamaguchi, T. & Blumwald, E.** 2005. Developing salt-tolerant crop plants: challenges and opportunities. *Trends Plant Sci.* 10, 615–620.
- **Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. & Shinozaki, K.** 2001. Improving plant drought, salt and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. *Novartis Foundation Symposium* 236, 176–186.
- Yamanaka, M. 2008. A nail in the coffin for DNA sequence patents. Nature Biotech. 26, 1085
- Yang, J., Kloepper, J.W. & Ryu, C.M. 2009. Rhizosphere bacteria help plants tolerate abiotic stress. *Trends in Plant Science* 14, 1–4.
- Ye, X., Al-Babili, S., Kloti, A., Zhang, J., Lucca, P., Beyer, P. & Potrykus, I. 2000. Engineering the provitamin A (β-carotene) biosynthetic pathway into (carotenoid-free) rice endosperm. *Science* 287, 303–305.
- **Zamir, D.** 2001. Improving plant breeding with exotic genetic libraries. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 2, 983–989.
- Zhai, W., Li, X., Tian, W., Zhou, Y., Pan, X., Cao, S., Zhao, Y., Zhao, B., Zhang, Q. & Zhu, L. 2000. Introduction of a blight-resistance gene, *Xa21*, into five Chinese rice varieties through an *Agrobacterium*-mediated system. *Sci. China, Series, C.* 43, 361–368.
- **Zhang, H., Kim, M.S., Sun, Y., Dowd, S.E., Shi, H. & Paré, P.W**. 2008. Soil bacteria confer plant salt tolerance by tissue-specific regulation of the sodium transporter HKT1. *Molecular Plant Microbe Interactions* 21, 737–744.
- **Zhang, H.X., Hodson, J.N., Williams, J.P. & Blumwald, E.** 2001. Engineering salt-tolerant Brassica plants: characterization of yield and seed oil quality in transgenic plants with increased vacuolar sodium accumulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98, 12832–12836